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rnaEMN
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Corporate Information
naER
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors of Yashili International Holdings Ltd (the
“Company” or “Yashili”), I am pleased to present the annual report of
the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 December 2013 to all shareholders.

In August 2013, China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (a company
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the *“Stock
Exchange”), stock code: 2319) (“Mengniu Group”) completed the offer
for Yashili Group and formed an alliance of strong partners, with an aim
of establishing Yashili as a more international milk powder corporation
through the integration of resources and the sharing of complementary
strengths. It was my great pleasure to join the big family of Yashili and to
be trusted by the board of the Company (the “Board”) to serve as the
chairman of the Board. | would like to express my sincere gratitude to the
Zhang's family and every hardworking member of the Yashili Group who
formed a professional team focusing on infant milk powder and enabled
Yashili to conquer and overcome the trials and hardships in the past three
decades while developing and expanding continuously and built up the
strong brand recognition and market reputation for the Company and
established the leading position and competitive advantages of Yashili in
the domestic milk powder industry.

2013 is a year of ups and downs and ongoing disturbances for China’s
milk powder industry, it was also a year which the Chinese Government
put more focus on the industry, tightened the administration and
implemented more stringent policies and standards on the industry. The
“Opinions on Further Strengthening the Quality and Safety of Infant Milk
Formula Products” and the “The License Examination Rules of Infant Milk
Formula Products (2013 Version)” were issued successively during the
year. The National Development and Reform Commission has carried out
the anti-monopoly investigation on the milk powder industry and
enterprises. Certain milk powder enterprises were fined heavy penalties
for the violation of anti-monopoly law and the behavior of restricting
competition, with some milk powder brands suffering drop in prices. New
Zealand suffered the most serious drought in 70 years, resulting in the
sudden surge in supply price in the international dairy product markets.
Fonterra Group, a New Zealand milk powder supplier, was involved in
two milk powder incidents. These events buffeted the milk powder
industry and many milk powder enterprises were influenced and hard hit.
As such, the operating results and financial information of our Group in
the first half and second half of the year fluctuated significantly while the
overall performance was barely satisfactory.

Letter to Shareholders
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Letter to Shareholders
HERERNE

Based on the changes in the industry, our Group has adjusted the
strategies to actively deal with the changes, while major follow-ups and
continuous enhancement were made in areas such as expanding the
market channels, enhancing the brand reputation, strengthening the
research and development of products and strictly controlling product
quality. We sell and promote our products through a strong and
comprehensive sales and marketing network and achieve detailed
management with the assistance of EMP information platforms, which
significantly increased the speed and effectiveness in aspects like fees,
budgets, performances, channels and storage, elevated the management
standard and service quality of distributors as well as accelerating product
circulation and market expansion. We adhere to our belief in the “synergies
of the advanced health care technology and the concept of true love”
and start using “Genuine New Zealand, Love from Yashili” as the new
brand promotion slogan; the new brand elements of “high quality” and
“100% imported from New Zealand's milk source” were introduced and
more efforts were made in ensuring high-quality milk sources,
professional manufacturing and professional services. Our Group adopts
the concept of “apply research and development as well as advanced
researches by generation” as its guideline and carries out classification
and re-planning on various series of products, as well as adjusting product
structure and optimizing product formulas to enhance products’
competitiveness. Regarding product quality as the corporate lifeline, our
Group endeavors to build up a comprehensive quality control system for
its entire value chain from purchase to retail and strives for continuous
improvement. We also uphold overall quality management on every step
and the whole process from milk sources to final products by conducting
inspection at different levels and testing each batch of product in order to
ensure product safety.

Our Group minimizes the impact of the milk powder incident and the
policy changes through the above effective initiatives, which maintains
the annual operating results and financial information of the Group at a
relatively stable level. Result highlights are:

o The operating income was RMB3,890.0 million, an increase of 6.4%
as compared with that in 2012

o The operating profit was RMB481.7 million, a decrease of 13.9% as
compared with that in 2012
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. Profit attributable to shareholders was RMB437.6 million, a
decrease of 6.6% as compared with that in 2012

o Basic earnings per share was RMB12.3 cents, a decrease of 7.5% as
compared with that in 2012

o Net cash generated from operating activities was RMB140.9 million,
a decrease of 81.7% as compared with that in 2012

In 2014, it is anticipated that the international economy will recover
gradually and the domestic economy will continue to develop, which
offers enormous room for growth for the infant milk powder market. The
introduction of the policy of “two children for single-child parent”’ by the
Chinese Government is contributory to the increase in birth rate. The
more stringent industrial standards enable milk powder enterprises to
enhance their quality management. The strict administration of the
industry facilitates the purification of the market environment and the
standardization of competition. The disposable income per capita of
urban residents increased sustainably. The Consumer Confidence Index
has gradually rebounded in fluctuation, while the market demand of
high-end products has become increasingly prominent. All these provide
an ideal market environment and development space for the sustainable
growth of our Group.

In the year of 2014, our Group will seize the opportunities and overcome
future challenges. With the spirit of second venture, we will continue to
leverage on our strong position in second- and third-tier cities and
continue to penetrate the first-tier cities by utilizing the strength of
resources. Our Group will continue to focus on key tasks spanning from
expanding marketing channels, strengthening the brand construction,
increasing the level of research and development, controlling product
quality strictly, promoting corporate culture, and carrying forward
overseas projects to strengthening the performance evaluation
management, so as to lay a solid foundation for our Group’s five-year
plan and the long-term strategy of “Seeking sustainable development,
creating a hundred-year brand”.

Letter to Shareholders
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Letter to Shareholders
HERERNE

Looking forward, we will draw on our resources and strengths and
leverage the greater platform and qualification of Mengniu Group and
COFCO, as well as expanding in a more pragmatic, sound and thorough
way in order to achieve better operating results and market performance.
We aim at fulfilling the operating goals and strategic plans of the Group,
S0 as to reward our customers, the society and the investors who support
and care about our Group.

Sun Yiping
Chairman

24 March 2014
Hong Kong

RERR APUBKETESHNERME
B EPRFEENPREEBESNHFE
TR RBRHE - BEE - DR
B ZNH0 NENRENESEERNE
FHRHBZEER BREFEECESERKEE
ME ROBEFP  TSUAKBTREESR
ERETINERKZES !

‘P

B
2014F38248
B8



Selected Financial Data
Tﬂk%ﬂ’ﬂﬁﬂﬁ%%@%

Percentage

Year ended 31 December 2013 2012 change
HZEZ12B31BIEFE % &)
(All amounts in RMB million (PR4FRIBUBEIN » FREEEE
unless otherwise stated) LAAREBEB IR
Key results FTBEE
Turnover =] 3,890.0 3,655.1 +6.4%
Gross profit FE 2,080.1 1,961.7 +6.0%
Operating profit [ S=Prayl 481.7 559.4 -13.9%
Profit attributable to equity holders RAGIRERB A

of the Company & 165 Vs 1N 437.6 468.5 —-6.6%
Net operating cash flow (Note 1) KSR MSIFER (MIEE1) 140.9 772.0 -81.7%
Basic earnings per share SRERRR

(RMB cents) (Note 2) (AR D) (FFzE2) 12.3 13.3 -7.5%
Diluted earnings per share SRRE S RN

(RMB cents) (ARIED) 12.2 13.2 -7.6%
Net asset value per share BRPFEEME

(RMB) (Note 3) (AR TT) (F5E3) 0.87 1.16 -25.0%
Proposed final dividend EERERE 131.3 400.3
Dividend payout ratio REN IR = 30.0% 85.4%
Key performance ratios FTEHEHR
Profitability ratios Mt =
Gross profit margin =k 53.5% 53.7%
Operating profit margin £ S R 2R 12.4% 15.3% .
Net profit margin pezgiilpess 11.3% 12.9%
Margin of profit attributable RIERB ARG

to equity holders Vi ) 2 11.2% 12.8%
Return to net asset FEEORK 14.1% 11.5%
Net profit to total asset (Note 10) FERNERE EXR (BFE10) 9.7% 8.4%
Asset ratios BEHZE
Current ratio (Note 4) mEnt = (fy514) 1.8 2.8
Inventory turnover days (Note 5) FEE&EXH (FEES) 179 141
Trade receivable turnover days B 7 EUTR B &K

(Note 6) (fF5¥6) 3 3
Trade payable turnover days B2ENREE X

(Note 7) (FF3E7) 70 89
Debt to equity ratio (Note 8) SEHER L= (F5E8) 45.2% 36.5%
Gearing ratio (Note 9) BESR/RHE(M5E9) 4.5% 5.9%
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Selected Financial Data
P 3 00 87 75 8UR

Notes:

Cash inflow generated from operating activities for the year less cash outflow
generated from operating activities for the year.

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company for the year divided by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue before dilution for the year.

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company for the year divided by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue after dilution for the year.

Total current assets at year end divided by total current liabilities at year end.

Inventory balances at year end divided by cost of sales for the year and multiplied
by 365 days.

Balances of trade and bills receivables at year end divided by turnover for the year
and multiplied by 365 days.

Balances of trade and bills payables at year end divided by cost of sales for the
year and multiplied by 365 days.

Total liabilities at year end divided by equity attributable to total equity holders of
the Company at year end.

Total interest-bearing bank loans at year end divided by total assets at year end.

Profit for the year divided by total assets at year end.
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Management'’s Discussion and Analysis

Industry Review

In 2013, the world’s economy continued its downward trend and was
recovering slowly under the stimulation of policies. The economy is
predominately at a phase of “weak growth”, of which, the recovery of
the U.S. economy was relatively stable and the economy of the Eurozone
has reached the bottom and rebounded. The economy is gradually
moving away from the recessing phase and the financial market is
stabilizing. However, fundamentally, the situation of the coexistence of “low
growth, high unemployment rate, high deficit, high liabilities” in
developed countries has not improved, which resulted in insufficient
growth momentum and the prolonged rates of growth under the
potential levels. Compared with the developed countries, in 2013, the
growth rates of emerging economies and developing countries continued
to slow down and the structural economic adjustments in major emerging
economies were difficult to be implemented. Coupled with the decrease
in capital inflow, the financial market experienced significant volatility and
the economic growth rate was far below previous levels. Thus, the overall
economy in developing countries was gradually weakening.

In 2013, against the backdrop of the extremely complicated domestic and
overseas environment, the PRC Government adhered to its fundamental
approach of making progress while maintaining stability. Specifically,
various tasks were accomplished in a solid way in accordance with the
thinking of “stabilizing macro policy, loosening micro policy and
supporting social policy”. The focus on economic and social development
is achieving growth and improvements amidst stability, which set a good
foundation for the development. According to the preliminary accounting
statistics announced by the National Bureau of Statistics of China, the
annual Gross Domestic Product (the “GDP”) reached RMB56.8845 trillion,
representing an increase of 7.7% as compared to the previous year,
calculated by comparable prices. The annual total retail sales of social
consumer goods reached RMB23.4380 trillion, representing a nominal
growth of 13.1% from last year (real growth of 11.5% after excluding
price factors). Among which, retail sales of consumer goods in urban
areas amounted to RMB20.2462 trillion, representing a growth of 12.9%
as compared to the previous year. Retail sales of consumer goods in rural
areas amounted to RMB3.1918 trillion, which increased by 14.6%. The
annual consumer price increased by 2.6% as compared to last year, in
which the urban areas rose by 2.6% and the rural areas went up by 2.8%.
The annual total income per capita of urban residents was RMB29,547,
among which the disposable income per capita of urban residents was
RMB26,955, representing a nominal growth of 9.7% from last year (real
growth of 7.0% after excluding price factors). The annual net income per
capita of rural residents was RMB8,896, representing a nominal growth
of 12.4% from last year (real growth of 9.3% after excluding price
factors).
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Management's Discussion and Analysis
E12 [ 57 5h 2 A ifr

In 2013, the PRC Government imposed stricter regulation and control on
the paediatric milk powder industry. In June 2013, nine ministries and
commissions of the PRC government (including China Food and Drug
Administration) jointly issued the “Opinions on Further Strengthening the
Quality and Safety of Paediatric Milk Formula Products” and introduced
the policy of “Implementing the sales of paediatric milk powder products
in concession counters and corners, the trial selling of paediatric milk
powder products in concession counter in pharmacies”. In June 2013,
China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (“Mengniu”) and the Company
jointly announced that China Mengniu International Company Limited
("Mengniu International”) was to make general offers to all shareholders
of the Company, and obtained irrevocable undertakings from the
controlling shareholders who undertook to accept the offer in respect of
their approximately 75.3% equity interest in the Company in aggregate.
In August 2013, Mengniu International completed the offer for the
Company and accomplished the largest merger and acquisition in the
Chinese dairy industry to date. This acquisition is consistent with the PRC
Government’s policies of encouraging and supporting the merger and
reorganization of paediatric milk powder enterprises, increasing the
concentration of the industry and advocating the standardized, diversified
and modernized development of the industry. In August 2013, the
National Development and Reform Commission announced that several
milk powder enterprises were penalized for the violation of anti-monopoly
law and conducts related to restricting competition, which was the most
serious anti-monopoly penalty in the history of China. During that period,
certain milk powder enterprises cut the price for their products. In
September 2013, the China Dairy Industry Association organized “New
Domestic Paediatric Milk Powder Products Presentation” in Beijing in
which new paediatric milk powder products were promoted to the society
and consumers. The Company’s Ambery series was successfully selected,
which was one of the first batch of recommended brands of the PRC
Government. In October 2013, the Company was chosen as the first
batch of milk powder brands to be sold in the PRC Government’s milk
powder pharmacies, which means that the quality of the Company’s milk
powder was recognized by the PRC Government’'s authoritative
departments and has met the strict control requirements of the
procurement of pharmacies and drug selling. In December 2013, the
China Food and Drug Administration formulated the “The License
Examination Rules of Paediatric Milk Formula Products (2013 Version)’ (the
“New Rules”) and prepared for the renewal assessment and re-evaluation
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Management's Discussion and Analysis

of expired production licenses of paediatric milk powder products. The
New Rules emphasized on making new regulation and introducing stricter
requirements on nine aspects, which included the implementation of
stringent control over raw and supplemental materials of paediatric milk
powder manufacturing enterprises, management of product formulae,
production process and control of the production process. This series of
policies and initiatives contributed to the strengthening of the enterprise’s
own production management and control over technologies and quality,
as well as eliminating the non-competitive small and medium sized
enterprises, purifying the order of the dairy processing industry and
regulating the competition in the dairy industry.

In 2013, the supply price increased sharply in the international market of
dairy products. New Zealand suffered from the most serious drought in
70 years, which affected the productivity of milk in various regions. The
prices of raw milk powder, particularly whole milk powder and skimmed
milk powder, once again hit record highs. As a result, dairy processing
companies which purchase raw materials in China are facing huge cost
pressure. The frequent exposure of non-quality incidents of
internationally-renowned milk powder suppliers adversely affected the
overall domestic milk powder industry and the consumption confidence
of consumers, which in turn affected the market results of some import-
oriented enterprises of Chinese dairy products.

The year of 2013 was the traditional year of snake in China. According to
the preliminary accounting statistics announced by the National Bureau of
Statistics of China, the number of birth was 16.40 million and the birth
rate was 12.08%, which decreased slightly as compared with the
previous year. According to the statistics from Nielsen, the sales amount
of the China’s paediatric formula milk powder industry (including
maternal and child channel) increased by 6.6% in 2013 (as compared to
15.1% of last year), which shows that the trend of rapid growth has
slowed down.
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Corporate Profile

Established in 1983, we mainly focus on the production and sales of
paediatric milk formula products and nutrition food since 1998. In 2002,
we launched the Scient brand paediatric milk formula. Our headquarters
is situated in Chaozhou, Guangdong province, with plants in Guangdong,
Shanxi and Heilongjiang, etc. Our plants in New Zealand and Zhengzhou
are currently under preparation and construction. In 2013, Mengniu and
its subsidiaries (the “Mengniu Group”) achieved the strategic
collaboration with the Group by means of a general offer in order to
develop the Group as a more international milk powder enterprise
through resource integration and sharing of complementary strengths of
both parties.

We are a leading player in China’s paediatric milk formula industry, and
also have a leading position in the soymilk powder market in China. Our
business model integrates high brand recognition, imported premium
dairy raw materials and proprietary formula, and the unwavering
commitment to establish a high standard quality supervision and quality
assurance system. For aspects such as supply, production and distribution
channels, quality control measures are improved continuously in the
pursuit of becoming a first-class enterprise in the research and production
of paediatric milk formula. The Group strictly follows the national
standard to formulate a comprehensive quality assurance plan, which is
fully implemented on the corporate level, and strives to provide the
consumers with safe and premium products.

We have two well recognized brands, under which various paediatric milk
products targeting different consumer segments are sold. We also sell
four types of nutrition food, namely soymilk powder and paediatric rice
flour under Yashily brand, cereal under Zhengwei brand as well as milk
powder for adults and teenagers under Youyi brand.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis

Business Highlights

Leveraging on the product series under well recognized brands such as
Yashily, Scient, Zhengwei and Youyi, we strive to develop trustworthy
nutrition products for consumers, with a view to facilitate the healthy
growth of infants and young children nationwide and satisfy the nutrition
needs of adults. Our business model integrates key factors including
imported premium dairy raw materials, proprietary milk formula,
advanced production system and professional marketing team with
thorough knowledge on local consumer market, thereby providing all
consumers with products of assurance.

1. Introduction by Products
e  Paediatric milk formula products

We mainly develop paediatric milk formula products to satisfy
the health and nutrition needs of infants and young children
during daily feeding. Such products can serve as a major
source of nutrition for infants and young children
supplementary to breast milk. All of our branded paediatric
milk formula products are mainly produced from imported
premium raw materials. We are devoted to developing the
milk formula with the most ideal nutrition mix to closely cater
to the needs of infants and young children during different
stages of their growth and development. The Group has
established different paediatric milk formula product lines
aiming at target customers of different consumption levels.
The Group launched Super o -Golden Stage series originally
imported milk powder, paediatric milk formula serial products
in Golden Ambery brand under Yashily and Merla brand
under Scient, which possess quality nutrition and target at
consumers in high-end market. The Group’s core products,
Yashily «-Golden series and Scient Golden series, mainly
focus on middle to high-end consumer groups, while Yashily’s
Newwitt series and Scient's Ordinary Pack Series mainly focus
on middle-end consumer groups. Yashily's New Formula
series mainly focus on low to middle-end consumer groups.
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e Nutrition food

We also sell four types of nutrition food, namely milk powder
for adults and teenagers under Youyi brand, soymilk powder,
rice flour and cereal under Yashily brand and cereal series
under Zhengwei brand. These products include products with
different nutritional combinations for consumers with special
needs and products suitable for ordinary people. In 2013, we
launched several new high-end products, such as hi-calcium
nutritious milk cereal, walnuts nuts cereal and hi-calcium
cereals for middle-aged and elderly people.

Marketing and Channel Management

The Group has an efficient and comprehensive sales network which
covers all regions within Mainland China. Through more than 1,900
regional distributors, we own more than 105,000 retail outlets. In
2013, the Group attained a relatively huge breakthrough in the
exploration and expansion of channels. A significant achievement in
the exploration of the maternal channel was made and our milk
powder products are currently available in over 28,000 stores in
aggregate, which effectively increased our market share in such
channel and becoming the new growth driver. In respect of first-
and second-tier cities, we continuously increased our products’
penetration rate, and we also strengthened channel exploration in
second-and third-tier cities as well as rural areas, and accordingly
achieved robust growth, consolidated and maintained the leading
advantage and position of our products in the market.

In order to better serve the market, the Group achieves
professionalized operation, promotes detailed management and
focuses on markets with service segments, so as to provide more
tailored services and manage a more professional operation. In the
aspect of customer communication and customer service, in 2013,
the Company cooperated with top experts in baby nursing and
organized multiple events related to baby nursing. We have held
more than 20 events under “Medical Salon on Chinese Maternal
and Child Health” across the country with the participation of over
10 thousands maternal, child medical and nursery personnel.
Besides, more than 1,700 consumer education activities with over
67,000 participants were organized to promote and spread the
knowledge on eugenic birth, raising and educating children and
infants, as well as increasing our interaction with consumers, so as
to consolidate the consumer segments and ensure the stable
contribution of sales.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis

In the aspect of system management, the Group has implemented
stringent sales management system and effective incentive system
as well as continuously optimizing our distributors, retail terminals
and business staff in order to fully motivate them. The aim is to
ensure that the distribution policy and sales strategies can be
consistently enforced in a timely manner so as to increase the
overall revenue and market share of the Group. The EMP
information platform allows the Group to realize meticulous
management, and achieve efficient and prompt responses in
aspects such as expenditures, budget control, performance
indicative management, channel distribution, sales statistics and
inventory management. Further, the EMP information platform
allows the standard of management and service quality of
distributors to be enhanced and product circulation and marketing
process to be accelerated.

Strict Quality Control

We are dedicated to creating and continuously improving a
comprehensive system of quality control spanning across the entire
value chain from procurement to retail sales. As dairy material is the
key ingredient in paediatric milk formula, we have carefully selected
reputable suppliers located outside China such as Fonterra Limited
and Synlait Milk Limited of New Zealand, to secure reliable and
high-quality raw materials for the Group. Even for daily inspection,
the Group’s headquarters as well as all subsidiaries spend a
tremendous amount every year for comprehensively introducing
various advanced inspection equipment including High Performance
Liquid Chromatography and Atomic Absorption Spectrophotometer.
The Company implements strict inspection on its own for every
sampled batch. The number of samples for each batch of products
is no less than 5 and 64 kinds of inspection are carried out for each
batch of milk powder. With inspections at different levels, safety
could be ensured and quality production of products is conducted
in accordance with international standards.
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We insist that the quality management of all products from milk
sources to final products shall strictly follow the five principles
below: (1) procure premium imported dairy raw materials and
impose strict acceptance inspection standards of raw materials; (2)
adopt comprehensive and reasonable nutritious and safe formula
and use international advanced production facilities for production; (3)
impose stringent procedure for quality management, strict
inspection system, and use advanced and excellent inspection
equipment; (4) strictly enforce the scientific management of the
whole supply chain from raw materials to production and from
inspection to distribution; and (5) continuously attract outstanding
talents to conduct production management in a highly efficient
manner.

In August 2010, the Group was the first to establish the Food
Quality and Safety Committee (the “Committee”), which is formed
by various experts worldwide and reports to the Board directly. The
Committee is a regulatory body on food safety, comprising six top
and authoritative experts covering academic fields such as food
researches, dairy industry researches, food supervision, micro-
organism and physical and chemical researches as well as paediatric
nutrition from the United States, New Zealand, Australia, China and
Hong Kong. The Committee introduced an industry-leading
operation model, offered strategic guidance on relevant standards
and procedures of the Group, provided industry information related
to food safety and quality control, and assessed the quality control
system of the Group. As such, it can be ensured that the Group’s
quality and safety management structure is in line with the top
standards around the world. The Committee could also conduct
independent investigation on the Group’s quality and safety
structure at any time.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis

During 2013, the Committee reviewed the operation of milk
powder workshops and laboratories, and offered professional
advices on the Group's production management, quality control
and direction of product research and development. In addition, the
Committee also strived to guide the Group on participating in more
trainings in respect of international food safety standards and
excellent operation regulations to ensure that the Group’s food
safety rules are in tandem with international standards. The
Committee will help the Group to participate in food safety
programs and activities organized by Asia-Pacific Economic
Cooperation continuously and actively with a view to enhance its
international vision and level of food safety control.

In May 2013, the Group successfully passed the regulatory
assessments of management systems, including, amongst others,
ISO9001, 1SO14001, OHSAS19001, HACCP and GMP.

In November 2013, the central laboratory centre of the Group
passed the CNAS renewal field examination of the China National
Accreditation Service for Conformity Assessment, of which our
capability to inspect 137 items has received recognition.

During 2013, the Group participated in the “monthly random
examination scheme” conducted by the Administration Centre of
Quality Supervision, Inspection and Quarantine on Dairy Products of
the PRC as commissioned by the China Dairy Industry Association,
the results revealed that the quality of paediatric milk powder
formula products of the Group was stable and reliable, which
complied with the requirements under the prevailing compulsory
national standards of China.
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Strengthen the Brand Building

With respect to brand building, on the basis of the belief in the
“synergies of the advanced technology in health care together with
true love”, the Group continuously increased the investment and
promotion of premium milk sources, professional production and
services, as well as making efforts to enhance brand reputation and
loyalty. Given the successful launch of the high-end products based
on the premium milk sources from New Zealand, we would adjust
our brand promoting strategies to focus on promoting such series
of high-end products through online and offline means. At the
same time, we re-produced new advertisement which continued to
place our focus on promotion of the premium and pure imported
milk sources. Through multi-dimensional and cross-coverage, the
commercials were broadcasted on CCTV, satellite television
channels as well as popular provincial and local channels, and
displayed on internet and printed media. As a result, the recognition
and reputation of our brand have been enhanced significantly.

After organizing interactive activities through synchronized online
and offline efforts under the name of “online interactive activities
plus national parent-child roadshow” for the third consecutive year,
“Experience excellent milk sources with a trip in New Zealand”, a
series of large-scale interactive and integrated brand promotion and
marketing events held during 2013, were even more popular. Over
16 million people directly participated in our online game while
more than 10,000 offline activities which covered nearly 100 first-,
second- and third-tier cities in China were held. The interactive
activities also integrated with the e-commerce platform
simultaneously and achieved impressive result in several aspects
including permeating and disseminating our brand, and enhancing
the capacity of product distribution. Leveraging on this innovative
event, we also won awards including the “Best Annual Marketing
Innovation Award”.
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The annual investment in new media conformed to the change in
young mothers’ habit of media exposure and we shared our
consumers’ experience trip in New Zealand through Weibo and
WeChat. By means of online interactive community such as Weibo
and WeChat, the Group was able to show our care to the
customers instantly. In consideration of the continuous development
of online videos, the Group also produced the “The Grow Up
Journey of My Baby”, a parenting video series, jointly with igiyi.
com, a leading video website. We have also jointly carried out
principal brand sponsorship activities with Youku for the famous TV
drama “We get married”. The Group has launched several micro
movies, which enabled the Group to get closer with the new
generation of young parents.

In the process of the Group’s development, the Group also gained
acclaim and recognition from a number of social organizations and
authoritative institutions. The Group was awarded the “National
Key and Leading Agricultural Enterprises” for its development
model to strengthen its standardized production infrastructure
which emphasizes on accelerating the economic transformation,
advancing technology and catering market demand. It was also the
only paediatric milk powder manufacturer being awarded the “MIND
AWARD Marketing Award”. In addition, the Group once again won
the "Top 500 Most Valuable Brands in China”.

Improvement in Research and Development
Level

Regarding the paediatric milk powder, the Group has completed
the development of the originally imported Super o -Golden Stage
paediatric milk powder formula, and fruit and vegetable paediatric
milk formula series for infants. Among which, the originally
imported Super o -Golden Stage paediatric milk powder formula
was successfully launched, and the fruit and vegetable paediatric
milk formula for infants will be promoted and sold in stages
depending on market demand. We have replaced the milk fat by
vegetable oil and OPO fat, as a result, the composition of fatty acid
is more akin to the content of maternal milk. The Group has
standardized the nutrients standards of nutrients suppliers, which
guarantees the unification and stability of product indicators. We
have adopted the value marks on the packages of products.
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For the paediatric rice flour, we have completed the research and
development of the brand new high-protein series of nutritious
paediatric rice flour. The content of quality milk protein of the
whole rice flour series has been enriched, which can, as a
supplementary food, satisfy the nutritional needs of infants and
young children. The paediatic rice flour has successfully commenced
production and is made for sale. The Group has accomplished 11
upgrades of nutritional rice flour and has successfully commenced
production and the upgraded nutritional rice flour is now launched
into the market for sale.

In respect of the milk powder for adults, we have completed the
research and development in developing new raw materials,
experimenting the preservation of products and formulating
formulae as well as finalizing the main indicators and demands of
products. The Group has developed milk powder for middle-aged
and elderly people which features plant sterol and main function of
improving the conditions of cardio-cerebral blood vessel, the milk
powder for students which includes AA and DHA for brain
development and the high-calcium and high-iron milk powder that
highlights the concept of premium calcium, to better meet the
needs of consumers and improve the overall quality of milk powder
for adults under Yashily brand.

As the competition in the markets for soymilk powder and brewed
cereal products are intense, the Group considerably enriched the
flavours of its soymilk powder through the improvement in
production process and formula, and commenced full production of
soymilk powder with new flavours. We also developed a cane
suger-free soymilk powder targeting at middle-aged and elderly
people. For cereal, we have developed and launched high-end
products like hi-calcium nutritious milk cereal, walnuts and nuts
cereal and hi-calcium cereal for middle-aged and elderly people.
Meanwhile, a product series of cereal gift box was also launched
into the market, expanding the product profile of the Group and
strengthening its competitive edge in products under category of
reconstituted food products.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis

Business Prospects

Influences of Policies

Under the stimulation of the economic easing policies of various
countries, it is hopeful that the global economy will further improve
in 2014 and the recovery pace of the overall economy will
accelerate. According to the forecast by the International Monetary
Fund (IMF), the world economy will grow by 3.6% in 2014, which
is 0.7% higher than the growth rate in 2013, IMF is of the opinion
that the growth rate is “a relatively low medium-term growth
trajectory”. In 2014, the developed countries are hopeful of
continuing their positive economic development, and the recovery
of global economy will be more concentrated in developed
economies. The fading recession of the European economy will
improve the confidence of global market and provide more
momentum to the global economy. The stable recovery of the U.S.
economy is also the most crucial factor in determining the prospects
of global economy. According to the composite leading indicators
of the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development
(OECD), the composite leading indicators of the 34 members of
that organization in October 2013 were the highest since June
2011, signifying that the economic prospects of the developed
economies will improve further. In the year of 2014, the pace of
economic growth of emerging economies and developing countries
will accelerate. However, it will be hard for the major emerging
economies to resume the relatively fast pace of growth in previous
years. Consequently, the difference in the economic growth rates
between the developed and developing countries will be further
narrowed.
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In recent years, the Chinese regulatory institutions have
implemented a series of policies and systems regarding the market
of pediatric milk power one after another, aiming at establishing
and improving the national standards for safety of dairy products,
eliminating sub-standard small- and medium-sized enterprises, and
encouraging enterprises in the industry to undergo merger,
consolidation and integration. Large-scale dairy enterprises will
enjoy competitive strength in terms of the number of brands as a
corollary of industrial modernization promoted by the PRC
Government. The high standards and rigorous requirements of the
paediatric milk powder industry, together with the strict
enforcement and supervision by the regulatory institutions in China,
guarantee better operation order and quality control of products of
the industry. Under the new national standards and the supervisory
measures of the industry, the production and competing
environment of the domestic paediatric milk powder industry will
be improved progressively while consumer confidence index will
gradually rebound.

Industry Trend

China will continue to maintain a steady growth in GDP and the
disposable income per capita will increase as well. The Consumer
Confidence Index will stay at relatively high level. Due to the
increasing demand in the high-end market, the growth of the high-
end paediatric milk powder will surpass the overall growth level of
the entire dairy products category, making the high-end series
products the key drivers of the Group’s profitability and brand
image.

In 2014, based on the changes in the policy of “two children for
single-child parent”, it is anticipated that birth rate in China will be
higher and will remain stable in the coming few years. With the
acceleration of industrialization and urbanization in China, the
urban market has gradually become a mechanism to allocate labour
resources and this has made the large-scale migration of people
between cities become more obvious. It is a basic responsibility of
large domestic milk powder enterprises, such as the Group, to feed
children left behind in more than 40,000 towns across the country.

In 2013, the transaction amount of online shopping of milk powder
was over RMB10 billion and it is expected that online shopping in
China will continue to surge rapidly in 2014, far higher than the
growth rate of the physical consumption market. In particular, the
transaction volume of online shopping in second- and third-tier
cities even increased more as compared to that in first-tier cities.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis

The consumption and investment in second- and third-tier cities will
be greatly driven by the urbanization policy implemented by the
PRC Government in 2014. Looking into the future of the pediatric
milk powder sales market, instead of international chain stores,
which no longer enjoy their monopolistic advantage in the
paediatric milk powder market in the future, the maternal and child
stores have become important retail terminals of paediatric milk
powder. The increase in the number of new maternal and child
stores is particularly fast in second- and third-tier cities, providing a
wider sales platform for the Group, which has built a solid sales
foundation in those cities.

Corporate Strategies

In 2014, the Group, in consideration of the influence of policies and
the change of the industry trend, will adopt more proactive and
effective strategies of development, such as devoting to the
efficient exploration of sales channels, intensifying its efforts in
brand building, continuing to enhance the quality control level,
strengthening its research and development capabilities,
strengthening the construction of overseas projects, enhancing the
internal optimization and integration and strengthening the
performance evaluation management. We will also continue to
capture more market shares and increase our overall profitability in
order to develop into a stronger and bigger enterprise. Our major
initiatives will be as follow:

— Maintain efficient expansion of sales channels
Being the leading enterprise of domestic milk powder, the
Group has strong control and management of terminals as
well as prominent advantages in channels. Due to the faster
growth in the maternal and child channel, our share further
increased and this enabled us to maintain the competitive
advantages in second- and third-tier cities. We will actively
deepen the operating outlets in second-tier cities so as to
increase the market coverage rate of the products. Leveraging
on our strong product branding, we will increase our
development efforts in the KA system and maternal and child
channel of second-tier cities. While increasing the efforts in
the market coverage of retail outlets, we will also consolidate
and boost up the sales of single store.
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In 2014, the Group will continue to strengthen the
management of distributors and policy enforcement. We will
monitor and control the procurement, sale and inventory of
products in the channels with the application of the system
software. Moreover, due to the real-time connection between
our professional sales team and extensive sales guidance
system, we would provide more precise services and
management to the distributors so as to ensure that our
products can be quickly promoted, distributed and circulated.
We will continue to deepen the innovation of the operation
model of channels, which will transform from traditional
extensive model to meticulous management and subsequently
enter into the transformation of innovated managing and
refined operation model of channels. Among our innovative
initiatives, the Group establishes a marketing system of
reward points for members of paediatric milk powder, so as
to build up a large data platform for achieving precise
marketing, in order to interact with members in depth, boost
the Group's reputation amongst fans and promote the
innovated operation model. The Group will enhance the
operation of maternal and child channel and continue to
direct more resources to the maternal and child stores with
high transaction volume in urban areas. We will also expand
the membership stores in maternal and child stores in order
to achieve stringent product management, joint control of the
expenses of channels, refined and controllable investment
and high consumer loyalty.

In the year of 2014, the Group will continue to increase the
core competitiveness of products and solidify and optimize
product structures. On the basis of effectively promoting
middle- and high-end products, we will actively promote the
launch of ultra high-end and high-end products, so as to
provide premium and safe products which fulfill the
requirements of every level to consumers. The Group will
target at the operation of various sub-channels of products
and develop exclusive refined products in maternal and child
channel and electronic commerce. Simultaneously, the Group
will continue to step up the promotion campaign under the
theme of “Adopting pure and premium 100%-imported milk
sources with worldwide reputation, implementing product
certification which is stricter than the national standard”, with
an aim of increasing the confidence of consumers towards
the quality and safety of our products as well as driving the
increase in market sales.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis

In 2014, the Group will continue to enhance the management
level of our internal marketing team and build up
organizational functionality. We will carry out a more
meticulous and accurate team management of the milk
powder business segment, extend the marketing model of
electronic commerce to the level of the Company’s strategic
operation. We will establish an independent sales department
and increase the investment in operation and management of
members. The Group will enhance the participation of state-
level professional parenting and milk powder team. The
joining of worldwide top experts comprehensively increases
the level of professional services of the team in nutrition
department. At the same time, we will establish competitive
incentive and assessment management scheme, and provide
competitive remuneration package in order to boost up the
growth of sales and achieve better performance in the
market.

Enhance brand building

Brand competition hinges on the comprehensive competition
on quality management and influence of brand. To maintain
the continuous increase in sales of existing products, the
Group will continue to explore the core brand values.

In respect of traditional media, we will increase our
investment in promotion by placing advertisements on CCTV,
a major television broadcast platform with quality resources,
and various popular television channels. Beginning with the
premium milk sources, we will launch advertisements to
promote our product series, particularly our Super o -Golden
Stage series.

In respect of on-ground promotion which combines online
and offline activities, we will continue to hold parent-child
activities across the country and optimize the theme and
experience of events as well as increasing the number of
events, so as to enrich the customer experience through face-
to-face communication with the consumers.

In respect of new media, the Group will increase investment
and continue to expand interactive activities by consolidating
our efforts in marketing, development of mobile apps about
breeding, and innovative promotion via online videos to
increase the influence of Yashily brand amongst new-
generation parents. Meanwhile, we will devote ourselves to
conducting informative marketing.
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In respect of promotion of professional image, aiming at
enhancing our professional brand image, we will continue to
strengthen our basic maternal and child support and spread
the concept of eugenics and quality education by various
ways and expansion of multiple channels as well as
advocating healthy and scientific parenting concept.

To enhance a sense of intimacy of our brand, the Group will
continue to select celebrities with healthy images to be our
spokespersons. We will also keep increasing our own
professional organizational capability to implement a
harmonious, consistent and convincing advertising campaign
which involves the promotion and broadcast, formulation,
optimization, execution and assessment of the brand by
means of advertisements, sales promotion, marketing events,
packaging and network media which would help to establish
our brand image. As a result, every promotion and marketing
activities will be connected and united with each other and
this could deepen the target consumers’ impression to our
brand. Through the above measures and strategies, we could
send our brand connotation to the consumers, accumulate
brand assets and enhance brand reputation.

Upgrading the level of quality control

The Group will continue to strengthen the management of
product quality, provide high quality, safe and premium
products to consumers by the four major security systems
which are 100% imported milk, international quality food
safety commission, a state-level parenting specialist team and
the adoption of strict national and international standards.
The Group will continue to carry out strict quality supervision
on all products, which covers inspection on milk sources to
finished products. We also conduct stringent testing on every
steps of the whole supply chain spanning from purchase to
manufacture and to circulation to ensure that the Group’s
products achieve 100% pass rate and to guarantee the
freshness of our products.

FEVREBHD  #HEBNEY
EBEESENXF THZR
HAKMOZRRE  SRELE
BEEER SERRMNEBNER
B RBEHAEFXEIERTER-

REEREBERARRNBE
RERBRNS BNGRMR0ND
RNERTESFXRREEN A
ToRNECESHERE  Hlz -
B~ TWFBEBHBHOY - —
B BSRRNNDHEEESTE
BES HERE - MHEEH-
BE PERESTRUAEBNR
BENFEAZR EE @58
HMEvHMBBIFE X@B—
B o DARZ st BIRBEBEHN
RHRNER  BBRBLEFERNR
BOEBEEBERREN Rig
REREE RITRBREEE-

12Tt B BE#EKF

REBREBNRERDES
BowielRRERRRA100%
HOPR BREE8RRREE
B8 BREBERERE - KA
B 118 B9 B ZR 0 B B IR 2E - R E K
HEESRHASRE  wEMNEE
NE®R EBERSSEMBIEDR
BRI EMGRINERERES
Bl REBHNLEEZRBEEH
FESERV B EZ - BIRA KB
E 100% O 18 iR & Z & 8 B

M REE -



Management's Discussion and Analysis

At the same time, the Group will continue to actively
participate in international activities and projects that are
conductive to the enhancement of product quality and safety.
The Group will raise the level of the Group’s food safety
control in line with international standard. The Group will also
continue to strengthen the cooperation with independent
third-party authorities, supervision and inspection
departments, in order to promote the healthy and orderly
development of the entire China's dairy industry.

Enhancing product research and development
and promotion of new products

With the research and development strategy of “apply
research and development as well as advanced researches by
generation”, in 2014, the Group will continue to strengthen
the investment in product research and development,
consolidate and optimize the product structure, enhance the
production technology and optimize the product formula, in
order to provide Chinese customers with more product series
of higher quality and safety standards.

Regarding the paediatric milk powder, we plan to develop
paediatric milk powder formula with the addition of
hydrolyzed protein and paediatric milk powder formula with
enriched CPP. We will also develop milk powder and
supplements with the addition of probiotics, so as to enrich
the product types and meet the demands of consumers of
different consumption levels.

In respect of paediatric rice flour, in order to enrich the
product types, we will carry out in-depth development of
supplementary food ingredients which could meet the needs
of paediatric supplementary food. The Group will develop
nutritional fruits and vegetables rice flour with multiple
nutrients and the nutritional rice flour with whey protein.

For the milk powder for adults, the focuses of development of
milk powder products for middle-aged and elderly people are
multi-nutrients high-calcium milk powder for middle-aged
and elderly people, premium high-protein milk powder for
middle-aged and elderly people and the milk powder with the
addition of fruit powder for middle-aged and elderly people.
The Group will develop milk powder with the addition of fruit
powder for children which is rich in nutrients and forms a
continuous product line with the infant milk powder formula
with fruit powder.
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In the aspect of cereal, the Group will develop new products
with high market potential and exploit multiple new products
which are healthy and nutritious. We will also upgrade and
continuously improve the formula of cereal in accordance
with the ongoing changes of market demands.

Strengthening overseas construction projects
In 2014, while adhering to the policy of importing premium
dairy raw materials, the Group will also strengthen the
preparation and construction process and progress of the
New Zealand factory project. The Group will continue to
consolidate and expand the competitive advantages over
other manufacturers of paediatric milk formula in China,
ceaselessly integrate international resources to reinforce the
product quality and safety, and strive to develop the Group
into an internationalized, professionalized and standardized
international enterprise.

Enhancing internal optimization and
integration

In 2014, banking on the strong support and higher platform
from Mengniu Group and COFCO, the Group will actively
commence the tasks relating to resources optimization and
consolidation of advantages in order to fully leverage
synergistic effects and obtain the largest support from
Mengniu Group in respect of brands, resources, management
and technology. We will focus on the follow-up work and
reinforcement of the asset reorganization of the plant in
Zhengzhou, discuss and formulate long-term strategic plans,
innovate the pattern of cooperation and share the resources
brought by channels as well as upgrading and optimizing the
organizational management. We aim at further strengthening
the Group’s brand influence, channel penetration, market
competitiveness and execution of management, so as to
encourage faster and stronger development of the enterprise.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis

— Strengthening the performance evaluation

management

In 2014, the Group will continue to strengthen the
implementation and management of internal target budget,
with effective incentives to raise the achievement rate of the
budget. The Group will also continue to foster detailed
management on internal organizations to strengthen the
formulation and implementation of the team’s Key
Performance Indicators (KPI). In order to meet the Group's
management indicators and achieve the Group’s sales targets,
the indicator of process management will be linked directly to
the salaries and bonuses of the executive team members to
boost morale of the team and improve the execution ability.

Management system

In 2013, there were profound changes in the external market
environment, while the internal shareholding structure had a
fundamental change. The Group actively responded and promptly
adjusted in order to reform and improve the corporate governance
mechanism. In respect of our operation, the Group enhanced
accountability and delegation processes in order to shorten the
decision-making process. We formulated a specific incentive system
which was performance-oriented and enhanced our control, so as
to prevent risks and further improve the operation management
system which matches responsibility with power and benefit with
control. For the financial aspect, the Group deepened its budget
management and extended its control to basic business units, while
at the same time enhancing the rigidity of budgets to promote the
enhancement of business execution. In respect of human resources,
aiming at responding to the key demand of business development
promptly, coordinating with the Company’s implementation of
reforms actively, fully supporting the fulfillment of annual operation
goals as well as building up the foundation of management
platform for future development at the same time, the Group
promoted the implementation of the business partner model and
established a clearer operation chain, with services provided in the
front office (local human resources team), coordination
implemented in the middle office (operating human resources
team) and control carried out in the back office (functional human
resources team).
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Public Relations and Crisis Management

With the maintenance of an active and effective means of promotion, we
disseminate relevant information to external parties in a public and
transparent manner. We also maintain good communication with all
promotion departments and authorities to update the latest company
information on a timely basis, as well as taking an active role in
participating in various social welfare and charitable events.

We have internally established a set of complete risk management system
and response mechanism, and addressed complaints from consumers and
issues concerned by the media via our risk management centre in a timely
and accurate manner. Meanwhile, we are highly concerned about
potential problems reflected by the market, and provide good service to
consumers in advance to prevent the occurrence of risks. We have
established a news centre to pay serious attention to the trend and news
of the industry as well as the issues raised by the media, in order to make
timely respond to any incidents of the industry. We eliminated negative
impacts and maintained a well-recognized reputation in the industry
through the effective communication with and dissemination of
information to the public and media.

Human Resources

As at 31 December 2013, the Group has a total of 6,126 full-time
employees. The total employee cost for the year was approximately
RMB393.1 million (2012: RMB313.7 million). The increment in total
employee cost was mainly due to the increase in head count, average
salary and expenses on social insurance.

We place high concern on the motivation of staff, and have established
and maintained a performance review system based on staff's
performance and competence and remuneration incentive system, which
matches employee’s income positively with personal effectiveness. We
provide guidance on staff’s career development and improvement in
capabilities, together with basic salary and basic incentives such as
performance-based bonus, welfare and benefits as well as long-term
incentive of share option schemes, to attract and retain more outstanding
talents.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis

The Group upholds the concept of “talents are the most invaluable asset
of the Company” and advocates to rebuild the Company’s culture with
the core values of “passion, responsibility, innovation, win-win” on the
Company’s 30th anniversary, boost the morale of all the Company’s staff
and build for the future.

In response to the strategic and business development of the Company,
the Group has established the talents reserve and development plan on
key posts in this year, while sustaining to build the pools of talents with
the assistance of the practical operation of the platform of Yashili
Business School and the internal and external human resources
integration. In the meantime, we will introduce international talents
actively so as to lay the foundation for the international operation of the
Group.

The Group has put significant efforts in the advancement of the system
and policy of human resources management in order to establish a
human resources management system which accommodate to the
collective human resources control of the whole Group. We also promote
the systematic establishment in different levels and categories of
marketing, manufacturing and functions.

Looking forward to the year of 2014, the Group will promote the model
of Human Resources Business Partners (HRBP) on the basis of the existing
human resources system in order to prepare comprehensive human
resources budget and planning. We will base on the performance
management of results and capabilities, optimization of salary and
bonuses, the long-term equity incentive plan which is in line with the five-
year strategic plans and the key projects of the promotion of the Yashili
Business School to further support our strategic and business
development.
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Corporate Governance and Investor
Relations

The Group considers that the effective communication with investors and
prospective investors is the essential element for enhancing investor
relations and allowing investors to understand the business performance
and strategies of the Group. The Group maintains good communication
and exchanges with investors through various channels and means such
as on-site receptions, telephone conferences and non-trade roadshows,
etc.

To foster effective communication, the Group has set up a website
(www.yashili.hk) available for public perusal, which contains the latest
information on our financial information, practices on corporate
governance and other data.

Corporate Citizen and Social
Responsibilities

As a leading national enterprise in the industry, the Group is feeding back
to the society while it is growing stronger and stronger. We donate
money and materials, participate in disaster relief and rebuild, poverty
alleviation and other charitable activities each year. During the year, the
Group donated money and materials to the disaster zone in Ya'an,
Sichuan through Chaozhou Charity Federation (83124 =#2<) and China
Foundation for Poverty Alleviation; we made donation to the charity on
“Poverty Alleviation Day in Guangdong”. On “National Assistance to Poor
and Handicapped Day”, we donated materials to the recipients through
Chaozhou lide Charity (¥3)N&#=#@MS); in the project named “120
Maternal and Infant Health”, we donated money and materials to China
Foundation for Poverty Alleviation; we donated materials to Chaonan and
Chaoyang through Chaozhou Charity Federation (83|26 =42S) in “8.16
Flood Relief Operation”. We perform our social responsibilities actively by
practical actions to promote humanity and show our love.

In “Guangdong Poverty Alleviation Day & Guangzhou Charity Day” in
2013, Scient (China) made donation to give the underprivileged warm
and support.

In 2013, the Group donated money and materials with a total value of
over RMB7.4 million to charitable initiatives.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis

Financial Review

Turnover
For the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group's revenue amounted
to RMB3,890.0 million (2012: RMB3,655.1 million), representing a 6.4%
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BZE2013F128318LEFE - REH W
NEAREE3,890.0887T 2012F 1 AR

increase compared to the preceding year. 36551887 BEFIERG6.4% -
Revenue breakdown by brand and product category &R EERERIE] D ZWA
2013 2012 Percentage
RMB million RMB million change
AREBBEBTT ARBBEIT = 8 Lt f
Yashily paediatric milk T8 4h R E S Ui
formula products 2,660.7 2,478.3 7.4%
Scient paediatric milk B R 4 52 02 5 W3 p
formula products 660.5 653.4 1.1%
Nutrition products SER® 546.2 489.4 11.6%
Others Hith 22.6 34.0 -33.5%
Total a5 3,890.0 3,655.1 6.4%

In the middle of 2013, the National Development and Reform
Commission of the PRC conducted an anti-monopoly investigation on
milk powder enterprises, which resulted in price reduction of some of the
milk powder enterprises and in turn more intensive market competition;
and in August 2013, Fonterra Limited, one of the main suppliers of the
Group, was involved in the clostridium botulinum incident. Although the
Group has never used the defective WPC produced by Fonterra Limited,
the result of the second half of the year was nevertheless affected. Under
the double hit, the Group responded actively and adopted various
measures on expansion of market channels, improvement of the brand,
adjustment and optimization of product structure and other aspects to
minimize the impact of the milk powder incident and policy, hence the
annual result is relatively stable.

For the year ended 31 December 2013, sales revenue from our Yashily
paediatric milk formula products amounted to RMB2,660.7 million (2012:
RMB2,478.3 million), representing an increase of 7.4% from last year.
Sales revenue from our Scient paediatric milk formula products amounted
to RMB660.5 million (2012: RMB653.4 million), representing an increase
of 1.1% from last year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2013, sales revenue from our nutrition
products amounted to RMB546.2 million (2012: RMB489.4 million),
representing an increase of 11.6% from last year, which was mainly due
to the growth in sales revenue from cereal and milk powder for adults
driven by the growth in market demand.

Revenue from other products decreased from RMB34.0 million in 2012 to
RMB22.6 million in 2013, mainly due to the decrease in the sales of
surplus raw materials.

Revenue by city tiers
— Yashily paediatric milk formula
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2013 2012

RMB million RMB million

ARRBEBIT ABREB3I=SIT

First-tier cities!” — Y 273.6 313.6
Second-tier cities? i 1,032.8 1,108.9
Third-tier cities and others®  =#R i R Eh® 1,354.3 1,055.8
Total st 2,660.7 2,478.3

— Scient paediatric milk formula

Percentage
change
Santr

-12.8%
-6.9%
28.3%

7.4%

bio R 28 4) 52 B0 75 95 1)

2013 2012
RMB million RMB million
AREBEBT AREB3BEIT
First-tier cities” — R mY 70.0 66.0
Second-tier cities? i@ 415.2 437.1
Third-tier cities and others®  =#Ripirh & Eth® 175.3 150.3
Total mst 660.5 653.4
Notes: B

(1) Includes direct-controlled municipalities, provincial capital cities and capital cities
of autonomous regions such as Beijing, Shanghai, Guangzhou, Chongging,
Nanchang and Shijiazhuang.

(2) Includes prefecture-level cities such as Dongguan, Nanyang, Jiujiang, Nanyang
and Foshan.

(3) Includes county-level cities such as linjiang, Yunmeng, Bozhou, Kunshan and
Luohe.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis

The above sales are classified based on the tier of the cities where the
distributors are registered. In 2013, the Group has further expanded its
distribution channel downward. Some of the third-tier and other markets
originally covered by distributors in first and second-tier cities are
operated by local distributors. The consumers in first and second-tier cities
are more sensitive to the milk powder incident, thus the impact on Yashily
paediatric milk formula, which mainly used milk source from New
Zealand, in first and second-tier cities was relatively direct with
performance declining in 2013 comparing to 2012. However, with brand
advantage and word-of-mouth gained through long-term efforts in the
third-tier cities and other cities, Yashily and Scient brands were able to
maintain a double digit growth in the third-tier cities and cities of other
tiers.

Gross profit

For the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group recorded gross profit
of RMB2,080.1 million (2012: RMB1,961.7 million), representing an
increase of 6.0% from last year, and gross profit margin was 53.5% (2012:
53.7%). As New Zealand experienced the most serious drought in 70
years at the beginning of 2013, the price of raw milk powder increased
significantly, putting the gross profit of the Group under pressure. With
the optimized product structure, the Group was able to raise the
proportion of high-end product with high gross profit to offset the impact
of the increase in raw powder cost on gross profit, thus the gross profit
margin was basically the same as 2012.

Selling and distribution expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group has incurred selling
and distribution expenses of RMB1,393.8 million (2012: RMB1,222.7
million), representing an increase of 14% from last year, which was
mainly due to the increase in salary, social security fees, expenses in sales
promoters and promotion expenses. In the first half of 2013, the Group
was dedicated to expanding new stores, hence the expenditure on sales
promoters increased accordingly. In addition, as competitors cut prices
due to the anti-monopoly investigation and the milk powder incident, the
Group paid more effort on retail promotion in the second half of 2013,
thus the retail promotion expenses increased.

Administrative expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2013, administrative expenses
amounted to RMB219.2 million (2012: RMB202.1 million), representing
an increase of 8.5% from last year, which was mainly due to the increase
in staff cost and taxes expenses as well as the increase of audit appraisal
fees and consultancy expenses generated by the acquisition in 2013.
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Income tax expense

For the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group has made provision on
income tax expense in the amount of RMB137.4 million (2012: RMB175.9
million), and the effective income tax rate was 23.8% (2012: 27.2%). The
reduction of income tax expense was mainly due to the loss of equity
transfer generated in the process of reorganization among the internal
subsidiaries of the Group being deducted for income tax purpose on a
pre-tax basis.

Inventory

As at 31 December 2013, the Group's inventory balance amounted to
RMB886.2 million (31 December 2012: RMB652.9 million). Given that the
prices of international milk sources are continuously rising, the Group
adopted strategic procurement to add raw materials reserve with raw
materials balance increased by RMB187.4 million.

Other investments

As at 31 December 2013, other investments represent wealth
management product with capital preservation and anticipated yields
ranging from 5.1% to0 5.8%.

Contingent liabilities
As at 31 December 2013, the Group did not have any material contingent
liabilities (31 December 2012: nil).

Capital commitment

As at 31 December 2013, total capital commitment of the Group
amounted to RMB994.0 million (31 December 2012: RMB824.3 million),
which mainly attributed to the construction of the factory in New
Zealand.

Profit attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company

The profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Group amounted to
RMB437.6 million, a 6.6% decrease compared to the preceding year. As
the gross profit margin of this year is similar to the previous year, the
decrease was due to the increase in proportion of selling and distribution
expenses and the rise in interest expense on borrowings.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis

Provision for doubtful debts

As at 31 December 2013, we had provision for doubtful debts of RMB1.3
million (2012: RMBO0.9 million). The provision was for individually impaired
receivables relating to customers that were in default or delinquency of
payments. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over such amounts. The Group regularly reviewed aging
of receivables and considered making provision based on a number of
factors such as whether the debtors encounter significant financial
difficulties, the probability that the debtor will file for bankruptcy or be
subject to financial reorganization, and the possibility of default or
delinquent payments.

Provision for impairment and disposal losses of
inventories

As at 31 December 2013, we had provisions for impairment of inventories
of RMBO million (2012: RMBO.1 million). In addition, we also recorded
losses on disposal of inventory of RMBO.3 million (2012: RMB2.1 million),
which were primarily due to the disposal of deteriorated inventory and
disposal of unused packaging materials.

Pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2013, bank deposits, bills receivables and certain
property, plant and equipment with aggregate value of approximately
RMB271.0 million (31 December 2012: RMB417.0 million) were pledged
by the Group to secure certain borrowings and issuance of letter of credit.
Details are set out in the relevant notes to the annual financial statements.

Liquidity and capital resources

As the Company was successfully listed on Hong Kong Stock Exchange in
the second half of 2010, the liquidity of the Group was enhanced. The
net proceeds from listing was RMB1,965.8 million (after the deduction of
exchange loss due to the exchange of some of the proceeds from listing
and related expenses).
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Operating activities

For the year ended 31 December 2013, our operation generated
RMB140.9 million (2012: net cash of RMB772.0 million). The reduction of
net operation cash inflow was mainly attributed to the increase in
inventory balance by RMB244.6 million in accordance with our strategic
procurement. In addition, the Group and some of the raw materials
suppliers entered into agreements regarding the shortening of the credit
period in exchange for the discount of purchase price. The payables
turnover day was shortened from 89 days in 2012 to 70 days, which also
led to the decrease in the Group’s net operation cash inflow in 2013.

Investing activities

For the year ended 31 December 2013, net cash used in investing
activities amounted to RMB168.3 million. Expenses for investing activities
were mainly used in the construction of facilities and plants of New
Zealand plant and Zhengzhou plant.

Financing activities

For the year ended 31 December 2013, net cash outflow used in
financing activities amounted to RMB1,444.5 million, which was mainly
used for distribution of dividends.

Loans and borrowings

As at 31 December 2013, the Group’s loans and borrowings amounted
to RMB201.5 million (31 December 2012: RMB330.9 million). The
annualised interest rate for borrowings is from libor+0.7% to
libor+0.85%, which are secured by deposit or wealth management
products with vyields from 4.125% to 5.5% per annum. As at 31
December 2013, the Group’s gearing ratio, which is calculated by total
interest-bearing bank loan at year end divided by total assets at year end,
was 4.5% (31 December 2012: 5.9%).
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Management's Discussion and Analysis

Application of net IPO Proceeds

The net proceeds from listing were approximately RMB1,965.8 million,
after deduction of related expenses. We have utilised such net proceeds
in the manner consistent with that mentioned in the Company’s
prospectus dated 30 October 2010 under the section headed “Future
Plans and Use of Proceeds”. As such, the net proceeds utilised up to 31
December 2013 was as follows:
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Item

Expansion of production capacity
for paediatric milk formula and
nutritional food products

Acquisition of integrated dairy
companies engaged in the
production of raw milk and raw
milk powder and establishment
of vertically-integrated
production facilities overseas

Promotional activities in television
networks and popular baby
nursing forums as well as major
magazines, newspapers and
other printed media

Enhancement on our research and
development capabilities

Total

Available for Utilised in the
utilisation as at year ended Unutilised as at
the end of 31 December 31 December
2012 2013 2013
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Corporate Governance Report

Corporate Governance Practices

The Group is dedicated to ensure high standards of corporate governance
with an emphasis on a diligent Board, sound internal control, and
increasing transparency and accountability to shareholders. The Board
acknowledges that good corporate governance practices and procedures
are beneficial to the Group and its shareholders.

Save as disclosed below, the Board is of the view that the Company has
applied the principles as set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code"”) throughout the year ended 31 December 2013 contained in
Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing
Rules”).

In respect of code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the Company does
not have any officer with the title of “Chief Executive Officer”. The
Chairman of the Board is Ms. Sun Yiping who is primarily responsible for
the overall corporate strategic planning and business development of the
Group. Daily management is shared among the executive directors and
senior management.

In respect of code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code, the independent non-
executive directors and non-executive directors should attend general
meetings of the Company. Mr. Yu Shimao, and Mr. Samuel King On
Wong attended the annual general meeting held on 6 June 2013. The
remaining independent non-executive directors and non-executive
directors were absent from that annual general meeting due to other
business engagements.

The Company is committed to enhancing its corporate governance
practices appropriate to the conduct and the growth of its business and
to reviewing such practices from time to time to ensure that they comply
with statutory and professional standards and align with the latest
development. In view of the amendments to code provision A.5.6 of the
CG Code in respect of board diversity, which took effect on 1 September
2013, the Board has drafted the board diversity policy, including the
measurable objectives and progress on achieving those objectives. Such
draft Board Diversity Policy was approved by the Board meeting on 24
March 2014.
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The Board of Directors

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible and has general powers for the management
and conduct of the Group’s business, strategic decisions and
performance. The Board has delegated to the senior management the
authority and responsibility for the day-to-day management and
operation of the Group. In addition, the Board has established board
committees and has delegated to these board committees various
responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of reference.

All directors carry out duties in good faith, in compliance with applicable
laws and regulations, and in the interests of the Company and the
shareholders at all times.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its directors and
senior management arising out of corporate activities.

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises 9 members, consisting of 3 non-executive
directors, 3 executive directors and 3 independent non-executive
directors.

The Board comprises the following directors (the “Directors”):

Existing non-executive directors
Ms. Sun Yiping (Chairman)

(appointed on 24 July 2013)
Mr. Ding Sheng (appointed on 24 July 2013)
Mr. Wu Jingshui (appointed on 24 July 2013)

Existing executive directors
Mr. Li Dongming (Vice President)
(appointed as executive director on 24 July 2013
and vice president on 17 September 2013)
Mr. Zhang Lidian (appointed on 3 June 2010)
Mr. Zhang Yanpeng (appointed on 2 June 2011)

Existing independent non-executive directors
Mr. Cheng Shoutai (appointed on 15 November 2013)
Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben (appointed on 15 November 2013)
Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway

(appointed on 27 November 2013)
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Former non-executive directors
Mr. Chang Herman Hsiu-Guo (resigned on 13 August 2013)
Mr. Zhang Chi (resigned on 13 August 2013)

Former executive directors

Mr. Zhang Libo (resigned on 13 August 2013)
Mr. Zhang Likun (resigned on 13 August 2013)
Mr. Zhang Liming (resigned on 13 August 2013)

Former independent non-executive directors
Mr. Chen Yongquan (passed away on 15 October 2013)

Mr. Liu Jinting (resigned on 15 November 2013)

Mr. Samuel King On Wong (resigned on 15 November 2013)
Mr. Yu Shimao (resigned on 15 November 2013)

The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules
from time to time. The independent non-executive directors are expressly
identified in all corporate communications pursuant to the Listing Rules.

The biographical information including relationships among the members
of the Board are set out under “Directors and Management Biographies”
on pages 61 to 67 of this Annual Report.

All Directors, including the non-executive directors and the independent
non-executive directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its
efficient and effective functioning. Through active participation at board
meetings, taking the lead in managing issues involving potential conflict
of interest and serving on board committees, all non-executive directors
make various contributions to the effective direction of the Company.
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Independent non-executive directors

During the year ended 31 December 2013, one independent non-
executive director passed away, three independent non-executive
directors resigned and three independent non-executive directors were
appointed. Mr. Chen Yongquan (a member of remuneration committee
and nomination committee), passed away on 15 October 2013. Mr. Yu
Shimao (chairman of remuneration committee and a member of each of
audit committee and nomination committee), Mr. Samuel Kong On Wong
(chairman of audit committee and a member of remuneration committee)
and Mr. Liu Jinting resigned as independent non-executive directors on
15 November 2013. Mr. Cheng Shoutai (a member of each of
remuneration committee and nomination committee) and Mr. Mok Wai
Bun Ben (chairman of remuneration committee, a member of each of
audit committee and nomination committee) were appointed as
independent non-executive directors on 15 November 2013.

Upon the appointment of Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway, as an independent
non-executive director, the chairman of audit committee as well as a
member of remuneration committee of the Company on 27 November
2013, the Company has complied with the requirements of the Listing
Rules relating to the number and qualification of independent non-
executive directors and members of audit committee under Rules 3.10,
3.10A and 3.21. In addition, the Company has also met requirement of
the remuneration committee under Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
independent non-executive director of his independence in accordance
with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company considers all independent non-executive directors are
independent.

The Chairman

At present, the Company does not have any officer with the title of “Chief
Executive Officer”. The Chairman of the Board, Ms. Sun Yiping (and Mr.
Zhang Lidian who ceased to be Chairman of the Board on 24 July 2013),
is primarily responsible for the overall corporate strategic planning and
business development of the Group. Daily management is shared among
the executive directors and senior management.

The Company will continue to review the effectiveness of the Group’s
corporate governance structure and consider whether any changes,
including the appointment of a Chief Executive Officer and the separation
of the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, are necessary.
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Non-executive directors

Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code stipulates that non-executive
directors shall be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election,
whereas code provision A.4.2 states that all directors appointed to fill a
casual vacancy shall be subject to election by shareholders at the first
general meeting after appointment and that every director, including
those appointed for a specific term, shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, Mr. Chang Herman Hsiu-Guo
and Mr. Zhang Chi (a member of audit committee) resigned as non-
executive directors on 13 August 2013. Ms. Sun Yiping (Chairman of the
Board and nomination committee, and a member of remuneration
committee), Mr. Ding Sheng and Mr. Wu Jingshui (a member of audit
committee) were appointed as non-executive directors on 24 July 2013.

Each of the current non-executive directors of the Company is appointed
for a specific term of three years and is subject to retirement by rotation
once every three years.

Induction and Continuous Professional
Development of Directors

Every newly appointed director will receive formal, comprehensive and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure
appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the
Company and full awareness of director’s responsibilities and obligations
under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements. Such
induction shall be supplemented by visits to the Company’s key plant sites
and meetings with senior management of the Company.

Each of the Directors is required to from time to time familiar with his/her
responsibilities as a director of the Company and with the conduct,
business activities and development of the Company. They are continually
updated on the statutory and regulatory regime and the business
environment to facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities. Continuing
briefing and professional development for directors will be arranged
where necessary.
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Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure
that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.
Internally-facilitated briefings for directors will be arranged and reading
materials on relevant topics will be issued to directors where appropriate.
All directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the
Company’s expenses.

During the year 2013, the Company organized two training sessions
conducted by qualified lawyers for all directors on the confidentiality
duty and preventive measures with respect to insider trading and
connected transaction as well as the ongoing responsibilities of the issuer
and its directors. The following Directors attended seminar(s) and training
session(s) arranged by professional institution.

Non-executive directors
Ms. Sun Yiping

Mr. Ding Sheng

Mr. Wu Jingshui

Executive directors
Mr. Li Dongming

Mr. Zhang Lidian

Mr. Zhang Yanpeng

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Cheng Shoutai

Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben

Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway

In addition, relevant reading materials including seminar handouts have
been provided to the directors for their reference and study.
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Board Meetings

Board Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting are normally
made available to directors in advance. Notice of regular board meetings
is served to all directors at least 14 days before the meeting. For other
board and committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all directors at least 3 days before each board
meeting or committee meeting to keep directors apprised of the latest
development and financial position of the Company and to enable them
to make informed decisions. The Board and each director also have
separate and independent access to the senior management where
necessary.

The senior management normally will attend regular board meetings and
where necessary, other board and committee meetings, to advise on
business development, financial and accounting matters, statutory and
regulatory compliance, corporate governance and other major aspects of
the Company.

The Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association contains
provisions requiring directors to abstain from voting and not to be
counted in the quorum at the meetings for approving transactions in
which such directors or any of their associates have a material interest.

The company secretary is responsible for taking and keeping minutes of
all board meetings and committee meetings. Draft minutes are normally
circulated to directors for comment within a reasonable time after each
meeting and final versions are open for director’s inspection.
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Directors’ Attendance Records

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Board held 16 board
meetings and held another board meeting during the period from 1
January 2014 to the date of this report. During the year ended 31
December 2013, the attendance records of each director at the board

and committee meetings are set out below:

Name of Director

Ms. Sun Yiping™

Mr. Ding Sheng"”

Mr. Wu Jingshui®”

Mr. Chang Herman
Hsiu-Guo®

Mr. Zhang Chi?

Mr. Li Dongming"

Mr. Zhang Lidian

Mr. Zhang Yanpeng

Mr. Zhang Likun®

Mr. Zhang Liming®?

Mr. Zhang Libo®

Mr. Cheng Shoutai®

Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben®

Mr. Lee Kong Wai
Conway®

Mr. Yu Shimao®

Mr. Chen Yongquan®

Mr. Samuel King On
Wong"

Mr. Liu Jinting®

Notes:

(1)

2)

3)

@)

(5)

(6)

)

Appointed on 24 July 2013.
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Resigned on 13 August 2013.

Passed away on 15 October 2013.

Resigned on 15 November 2013.

Appointed on 15 November 2013.

Appointed on 27 November 2013.
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Number of Attendance in person/Number of Meeting(s)

Board
E=1]

6/16
6/16
5/16
12/16

12/16
6/16
16/16
15/16
8/16
8/16
12/16
0/16
2/16
2/16

14/16
12/16
13/16

13/16

The annual general meeting was held on 6 June 2013.

Audit
Committee
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Apart from regular board meetings, the Chairman also held a meeting
with the non-executive directors (including independent non-executive
directors) without the presence of the executive directors in the year
2013.

Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Board has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules as the Group’s code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions. All directors of the Company have confirmed that
throughout the year ended 31 December 2013, they have complied with
the Model Code.

The Company has established written guidelines on no less exacting terms
than the Model Code (the “Employees Written Guidelines”) for securities
transactions by employees who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished inside information of the Company.

No incident of non-compliance with the Employee Written Guidelines by
the employees was noted by the Company.

Delegation by the Board

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters of the Company,
including approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies
and budgets, internal control and risk management systems, material
transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of interest),
financial information, appointment of directors and other significant
financial and operational matters.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to the senior management. The delegated
functions and responsibilities are periodically reviewed.

All directors have full and timely access to all relevant information as well
as the advice and services of the company secretary, with a view to
ensuring that board procedures and all applicable laws and regulations
are followed. Each director is normally able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s
expenses, upon making request to the Board.
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The Board has established three committees, namely, the nomination
committee, the remuneration committee and the audit committee, for
overseeing particular aspects of the Company’'s affairs. All board
committees of the Company are established with defined written terms
of reference which are posted on the websites of the Company
(www.yashili.hk) and the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and are
available to shareholders upon request.

Remuneration of Directors and Senior
Management

The Company has established a formal and transparent procedure for
formulating policies on remuneration of directors and senior management
of the Group. Details of the remuneration of each of the directors of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2013 are set out in Note 9 to
the consolidated financial statements.

The details of the individual with highest emoluments are set out in Note
9 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee was established on 8 October 2010. It
currently comprises one non-executive director namely Ms. Sun Yiping,
one executive director namely Mr. Zhang Lidian and three independent
non-executive directors namely Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben (Chairman), Mr.
Cheng Shoutai and Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway.

The roles and functions of the remuneration committee are set out in its
terms of reference. Its primary duties are to evaluate and make
recommendation to the Board on the overall remuneration policy and
structure relating to all directors and senior management of the Group.

hMES

RS ER2010F10888 MU HMEE
CIREGANERR —SHFANTESHPT
T —8HTEBRMNBTER =318
UNTES DARRE®R&AE (ER)
BT ARTENRFBEITE -

‘III]IJ
08

O B 2 09 B RS R B8R BN H B i@ &0 (@)
SN - HIZRERMBNEEERES
ShEeEBEMNERFIMBRNBERB
FEFEROESSIFLER -



The remuneration committee has reviewed the remuneration policy and
structure of the Company, and the remuneration packages as well as the
annual bonuses of the executive directors and the senior management
during the year ended 31 December 2013. In addition, the remuneration
committee reviewed the service contracts of the new directors, Ms. Sun
Yiping, Mr. Ding Sheng, Mr. Wu Jingshui and Mr. Li Dongming who were
appointed on 24 July 2013, Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben and Mr. Cheng
Shoutai who were appointed on 15 November 2013 as well as Mr. Lee
Kong Wai Conway who was appointed on 27 November 2013.

The remuneration committee held three meetings during the year ended
31 December 2013.

Nomination Committee

The Company established a nomination committee on 8 October 2010.
The committee comprises three members, Ms. Sun Yiping (Chairman),
Mr. Cheng Shoutai and Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben, the majority of them are
independent non-executive directors.

The principal duties of the nomination committee include reviewing the
composition of the Board, developing and formulating relevant
procedures for the nomination and appointment of directors, making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and succession
planning of directors, and assessing the independence of independent
non-executive directors.

In relation to the selection of candidates for directorship of the Company,
the nomination committee makes reference to the business experience,
skills, professional knowledge, personal integrity and time commitments
of such individuals, the Company’s needs and other relevant statutory
requirements and regulations.

In the year 2013, the nomination committee reviewed the structure, size
and composition of the Board and the independence of the independent
non-executive directors and considered the qualifications of retiring
directors standing for election at the annual general meeting and
recommended the appointment of Ms. Sun Yiping, Mr. Ding Sheng and
Mr. Wu Jingshui as non-executive directors of the Company, the
appointment of Mr. Li Dongming as executive director of the Company
and the appointment of Mr. Cheng Shoutai, Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben and
Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway as independent non-executive directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the nomination committee
held one meeting.
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Audit Committee

The audit committee was established on 8 October 2010 with written
terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The
committee comprises two independent non-executive directors, namely
Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway (Chairman) and Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben and
one non-executive director, namely Mr. Wu Jingshui (including one
independent non-executive director who possesses the appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise).

The primary duties of the audit committee are mainly to make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment and removal of
external auditor; review the financial statements, provide material advice
in respect of financial reporting and oversee internal control procedures
of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the audit committee held
three meetings, and reviewed the Group’s interim and annual results and
interim and annual reports, significant issues on the financial reporting
and compliance procedures, internal control and risk management
systems, scope of work and appointment of external auditors, connected
transactions and arrangements for employees to raise concerns about
possible improprieties and re-appointment of the external auditor.

The audit committee also met the external auditors twice without the
presence of the executive directors.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the code
provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

The Board reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies and
practices, training and continuous professional development of directors
and senior management, the Company’'s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance with
the Model Code and Employees Written Guidelines, and the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate
Governance Report.
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Accountability and Audit

Directors’ responsibilities for financial reporting in
respect of financial statements

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2013.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports,
announcements relating to disclosure of insider information and other
disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other statutory and
regulatory requirements.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed
assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which are put to the
Board for approval.

The Board is not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

Internal Control

The Board is responsible for maintaining an adequate internal control
system to safeguard shareholders’ investments and the Company’s assets
and reviewing the effectiveness of such system on an annual basis.

During the year under review, the Board, through the audit committee,
conducted a review of the effectiveness of the internal control system of
the Company, including financial, operational, compliance and risk
management aspects of the Group including adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of all staff of the Group’s accounting and
financial reporting function, and their training programmes and budget
of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function.

External Auditor and Auditors’
Remuneration

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about its reporting
responsibilities for the financial statements is set out in the “Independent
Auditor’s Report” on pages 90 to 91 of this Annual Report.
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During the year ended 31 December 2013, the remuneration paid to the
Company'’s former auditor, KPMG, Certified Public Accountants, and the
existing auditor of the Company, Ernst & Young, Certified Public
Accountants are set out below:-

Category of services AR #5 48 Al
Annual audit service FE SR
Interim review services P HRE5 R AR 7%
Other services Hth AR ¥%

REE2013F 128318 LEFE > AR a2
NI R E St GEf 2
580 RN S IR T B D Lk BN B F5
B (G2 5tem) IERBNEI0 T « -

Fee paid/payable
e EIaEm
RMB'000

AR FIT

2,880.0
680.0
1,180.0

Joint Company Secretaries

Mr. Wu Xiaonan and Ms. Ho Siu Pik are the joint company secretaries of
the Company. Mr. Wu reported to the Chairman of the Board and Ms.
Ho's primary contact at the Company was Mr. Wu.

Mr. Wu Xiaonan has resigned as a joint company secretary of the
Company with effect from 25 March 2014. As Ms. Ho is a director of the
Corporate Services Department of Tricor Services Limited and is not an
employee of the Company, accordingly, the Company is endeavouring to
identify a suitable candidate to fill the role of the other joint company
secretary left vacant by Mr. Wu Xiaonan'’s resignation. During the interim
period prior to the appointment of a new joint company secretary, Ms.
Ho will contact Mr. Li Dongming, an executive director of the Company
when necessary.

Communication with Shareholders and
Investor Relations

The Company considers that effective communication with shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding of
the Group's business performance and strategies. The Company also
recognizes the importance of transparency and timely disclosure of
corporate information, which will enable shareholders and investors to
make the best investment decisions.
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The general meetings of the Company provide a platform for
communication between the Board and the shareholders. The Chairman
of the Board as well as chairmen of the nomination committee,
remuneration committee and audit committee or, in their absence, other
members of the respective committees, are available to answer
shareholders’ questions at general meetings.

The Company has not made any changes to its Memorandum and
Articles of Association in the year 2013. The Company’s Memorandum
and Articles of Association is available on the websites of the Company
(www.yashili.hk) and the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk).

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
(www.yashili.hk), where up-to-date information and updates on the
Company’s financial information, corporate governance practices and
other information are available for public access.

Shareholders’ Rights

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution is
proposed for each separate substantial issue at general meetings,
including the election of directors.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted on by poll
pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each general
meeting.

The procedures for shareholders of the Company to propose a person for
election as a director of the Company are available on the Company’s
website (www.yashili.hk).
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Procedures for shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting and putting forward
proposal at general meeting

Article 58 of the Company’s Articles of Association provides that any one
or more members of the Company holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at
all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to
be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within 2 months after
the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the
Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting forward enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company,
shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company. The Company
will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above to
the Company:

Address:
ok SEMBENMNEH 1SN ERL _E161E1614F
(For the attention of Mr. Li Dongming, executive director)
(MPITESERALE)

FaxE & : +852 —-2845 1231

Email 88 # : ir@yashili.com

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as
the case may be) to the above address apart from the registered office of
the Company and provide their full name, contact details and
identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’ information
may be disclosed as required by law.
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Directors and Management Biographies

During the year under review, the Board consists of nine directors, of
whom three are non-executive directors, three are executive directors and
three are independent non-executive directors.

Non-executive directors

Ms. Sun Yiping

Age 47, was appointed as a non-executive director, the Chairman of the
Board of the Company, the chairman of the Nomination Committee and
a member of the Remuneration Committee on 24 July 2013. Ms. Sun has
acquired about 20 years of extensive management experience in sales
and marketing of branded food, processing of food and oil, and real
estate in addition to which she has over 10 years of extensive
management experience in the international fast-moving consumer goods
industry. Prior to joining China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (the
“Mengniu Dairy”) (Stock Code: 2319) as vice president of the group and
an executive director in April 2012, Ms. Sun was the deputy general
manager of COFCO Property (Group) Co., Ltd.. Ms. Sun also concurrently
became the general manager of Zhanjiang COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages
Ltd. in 2005. In 2002, she became the general manager of Hainan Coca-
Cola Beverages Co., Ltd. and in 1997, she was the deputy general
manager of Swire Guangdong Coca-Cola Limited. Ms. Sun joined COFCO
Corporation (“COFCO") in 1993 and was involved in the management of
COFCO's investment in Coca-Cola bottling business. Ms. Sun graduated
from China Agricultural University (formerly known as Beijing Agricultural
Engineering University) in 1993 with a Bachelor's degree with
specialisation in food engineering and a Master's degree with
specialisation in agricultural products processing engineering. Ms. Sun
also holds an Executive Master of Business Administration degree from
the Olin School of Business of the University of Washington in the United
States.

Mr. Ding Sheng

Aged 46, was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company on
24 July 2013. Mr. Ding joined Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group)
Co., Ltd. (“Inner Mongolia Mengniu”) in 2003. He served as a vice
president and the general manager of yogurt division of Inner Mongolia
Mengniu and has extensive management experience in the dairy industry.
Mr. Ding was elected as a “Labour Model (Advanced Staff) of Inner
Mongolia Autonomous Region” in 2010. Mr. Ding currently serves as a
member of the Chinese Institute of Food Science and Technology and the
vice chairman of the lactic acid bacteria branch of the Chinese Institute of
Food Science and Technology. Mr. Ding graduated from Inner Mongolia
Light Industry Institute majoring in dairy products techniques and is a
senior engineer. During his work, Mr. Ding pursued studies in Inner
Mongolia University and Nankai University majoring in economics and
management and business administration.
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Mr. Wu Jingshui

Age 48, was appointed as a non-executive director and a member of the
Audit Committee of the Company on 24 July 2013. Mr. Wu served as the
executive director and chief financial officer of Mengniu Dairy since
March 2010, and was the vice president of Inner Mongolia Mengniu
(responsible for financial works). Before being appointed as the vice
president (finance) of Inner Mongolia Mengniu in April 2008, Mr. Wu
served as the financial general manager of liquid milk division and the
chief financial officer of Inner Mongolia Mengniu, and has extensive
experience in financial management. In 2010, Mr. Wu was honoured as a
“Labour Model (Advanced Staff) of Hohhot”. Mr. Wu graduated from
Inner Mongolia Light Industry Institute majoring in industrial enterprise
financial accounting and holds a Master’'s degree from Inner Mongolia
Agricultural University and a Master of Business Administration degree
from China Europe International Business School and a senior accountant
qualification.

Executive directors

Mr. Zhang Lidian

Aged 49, was appointed as an executive director and a member of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company on 3 June 2010 and he is one
of the co-founders of our Group. Mr. Zhang has over 20 years of
experience in food and dairy industry and is primarily responsible for the
overall corporate strategic planning and business development of our
Group. He has also been serving as the president of Guangdong Yashili
Group Company Limited (“Yashili (Guangdong)”) since March 1998, as a
director of Shanxi Yashili Dairy Co., Ltd. (“Yashili (Shanxi)”) since its
incorporation in March 2006 and as a director of Scient (Guangzhou)
Baby Nourishment Co., Ltd. (“Scient (Guangzhou)”) since March 2002.
From June 1990 to January 2003, Mr. Zhang was the deputy general
manager at Guangdong Yashili Food Co., Ltd (“Yashili Food"”). Currently,
Mr. Zhang is holding a number of positions with various organizations.
He serves as a representative of the eleventh National People’s Congress (58
+—BEREBAKARK), a member of the China Committee of the
International Dairy Federation, vice chairman of the China Dairy Industry
Association (PEHIFA BT ERBEILER), executive president of the
Guangdong Chamber of Commerce of Private Enterprises (BR&ERER
EBIWMTZR), honorary chairman of the Chaozhou Chamber of
Commerce in Guangdong Province (BER&EBPNHTBHZEESR). Mr.
Zhang has also received a number of awards, including the National Labor
Medal (ZBlA—535&)22 &) and the award of National Model Worker in
Light Industry (B0 T X175 BNKE). Mr. Zhang received a master
degree of Business Management from Sun Yat-sen University (hJKER)
in March 2007. Mr. Zhang is an uncle of Mr. Zhang Yanpeng, our
director.
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Directors and Management Biographies

Mr. Li Dongming

Aged 44, was appointed as an executive director and Vice President of
the Company on 24 July 2013 and 17 September 2013 respectively. On
25 March 2014, Mr. Li was also appointed as the authorized
representative of the Company. Mr. Li has been engaged in investment
and related work for over 20 years with extensive experiences in merger
and acquisition, restructuring, consolidation and strategic management.
Mr. Li joined COFCO in January 2006 and has worked as the deputy
general manager of COFCO Cereal Way Food Co., Ltd., and as the
director of Mengniu Investment Cooperation Centre. He is currently the
head of the M&A Division of the Strategic Department of COFCO
Corporation, where he is responsible for the merger and acquisition,
restructuring, transformation and listing works. Mr. Li had worked as the
general manager of the Fund Department of Hainan Hong Kong and
Macao International Trust and Investment Corporation, the chief
economist of Yingda International Trust and Investment Corporation, the
deputy general manager of the Investment Banking Department of
Industrial Securities Co., Ltd., and the executive deputy general manager
of Ningxia Islamic International Trust and Investment Corporation. Mr. Li
holds a Bachelor’s degree in financial engineering from Hunan University
and a Master’s degree in economics from Central China Normal
University.

Mr. Zhang Yanpeng

Aged 37, an executive director of the Company and deputy general
manager of Scient (Guangzhou), is mainly responsible for the
management of various departments of Scient (Guangzhou), including
general office, finance department, procurement department, plants,
quality control department, research and development department as
well as storage and delivery department. In January 2003, Mr. Zhang
acted as the special assistant to the marketing head of Yashili (Guangdong).
From June 2003 to July 2004, Mr. Zhang was the sales manager of
eastern Guangdong of Yashili (Guangdong). From August 2004 till now,
Mr. Zhang acts as the deputy general manager of Scient (Guangzhou).
Mr. Zhang graduated from Sichuan Education Institute (73|24 & £k57) in
1999, majoring in marketing and was awarded the Bachelor's degree in
economics. In 2001, Mr. Zhang studied overseas in the Auckland Business
School in New Zealand. Mr. Zhang graduated from the University of
Electronics and Technology (BFM#AZ8) in 2010 with a Master's
degree in engineering. Mr. Zhang is nephew of Mr. Zhang Lidian, a
director of the Company.
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Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben

Aged 65, was appointed as an independent non-executive director, the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee, and a member of each of the
Nomination Committee and the Audit Committee of the Company on 15
November 2013. Mr. Mok was appointed as an executive director of Max
Sun Enterprises Ltd. in Hong Kong since 2013 and served as a senior
consultant for COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited in 2012. Mr. Mok
had served as a general manager of Beijing Coca-Cola Beverage Co., Ltd.
from 2002 to 2011. From 1993 to 2001, he was a general manager of
Hangzhou BC Foods Company Limited and Nanjing BC Food Company
Limited. Mr. Mok also served at Swire Beverages Limited and was
responsible for overseeing the general manager of bottling plant of Swire
Beverages Limited in China. Mr. Mok was awarded a Bachelor's degree of
Economics from McGill University, Canada in 1975.

Mr. Cheng Shoutai

Aged 46, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the
Company on 15 November 2013. Mr. Cheng is also a member of each of
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee. Mr.
Cheng is the chief partner and director of Tahota Law Firm, a law firm
based in China. Mr. Cheng is a qualified lawyer of the People’s Republic
of China. He also serves as a director of the All China Lawyers Association,
an arbitrator of the China International Economic and Trade Arbitration
Commission (CIETAC) and a member of the All-China Youth Federation
and the Sino-Global Legal Alliance, respectively. Mr. Cheng is currently a
visiting professor of Southwest University of Political Science and Law. Mr.
Cheng holds a Doctorate's degree in civil and commercial law from
Southwestern University of Finance and Economics.

Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway

Aged 59, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the
Company on 27 November 2013. Mr. Lee is also the chairman of the
Audit Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee. Mr.
Lee has over 30 years of experience in public accounting and auditing,
corporate finance, merger and acquisition and initial public offerings. Mr.
Lee served at Ernst & Young from September 1980 to September 2009.
Mr. Lee was a partner of Ernst & Young and held key leadership positions
in the development of Ernst & Young in China. Mr. Lee is a member of
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in Australia, the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Macau Society of Certified Practising Accountants
respectively. Since 2007, Mr. Lee has been a member of Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference of Hunan Province.
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Mr. Lee is an independent non-executive director of China Modern Dairy
Holdings Ltd. (stock code: 1117), West China Cement Limited (stock
code: 2233), Chaowei Power Holdings Limited (stock code: 951), GOME
Electrical Appliances Holding Limited (stock code: 493), Tibet 5100 Water
Resources Holdings Ltd. (stock code: 1115) and NVC Lighting Holding
Limited (stock code: 2222) (the above companies are all listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange), and CITIC Securities Company
Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 6030) as
well as the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600030)). Mr. Lee was
an independent non-executive director of China Taiping Insurance
Holdings Company Limited (@ company listed on the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 966) from October 2009 to August 2013. Mr. Lee was an
independent non-executive director of Sino Vanadium Inc. (a company
listed on the TSX Venture Exchange, stock code: SVX) from September
2009 to December 2011.

Mr. Lee graduated from Kingston University (formerly known as Kingston
Polytechnic) in London with a Bachelor’'s degree in Arts in July 1980 and
further obtained his postgraduate diploma in business from Curtin
University of Technology in Australia in February 1988.

Senior management

Mr. Xie Xunpeng

Aged 42, was appointed as vice-president of the Company on 7 January
2014. Prior to this, Mr. Xie was the general manager of sales & marketing
of Yashili (Guangdong) and was primarily responsible for sales and
marketing of the whole Group. Mr. Xie has been the general manager of
sales & marketing of Yashili (Guangdong) since 2008. From 2006 to
2007, he was our deputy general manager of sales & marketing. From
2003 to 2005, he was our provincial manager in charge of sales in Shanxi
province. From 1999 to 2002, he was our regional manager in charge of
sales in Shanxi, Hunan and Hubei provinces. From 1993 to 1998, he was
a sales person of Yashili (Guangdong), then was promoted to and then
progressed to be a provincial manager.
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Mr. Wu Xiaonan (resigned with effect from

25 March 2014)

Aged 40, joined our Group in February 2008. He is now the general
manager of the Investment Center, the legal director and joint company
secretary. He has over 10 years of experience in legal practice. Prior to
joining our Group, Mr. Wu was an attorney and a deputy director at
Guangdong Boneng Law Firm from 2007 to 2008. From 2000 to 2006,
he was an attorney then a partner at Guangdong Xinjie Law Firm. Mr.
Wu graduated from the China University of Political Science and Law (b
BUBUAKER) with a college diploma in law in July 1996. He has also
completed undergraduate study in law at Sichuan University ((5)]|K22) in
December 2005.

Ms. Pan Jingzhi

Aged 38, is the special assistant to the president of Yashili (Guangdong),
the president of the worker union of Yashili (Guangdong) and the deputy
general manager of Scient (Guangzhou). She has been the special
assistant to the president of Yashili (Guangdong) since the end of 2004
and she is responsible for planning, general administration and internal
coordination among the Group. She has also been the deputy manager
of Scient (Guangzhou) since 2007. From 2001 to 2004, she was the
manager of the operation management department. From 2001 to mid
2003, she was a manager of the general administration department.
From 1996 to 2001, she was a manager of the general administration
department. Ms. Pan graduated from Shantou University (/98K Z8) with
a college diploma in law in 1996. She also completed a undergraduate
course of law at Sichuan University (78)1|X22) in 2005.

Ms. Wen Jieping

Aged 37, is the chief financial officer of our Company. Ms. Wen joined
the Group in May 2011 and is primarily responsible for the internal
financial controlling and overseas investment projects. Prior to this, Ms.
Wen was the department head and a senior manager of the audit
department of KPMG (Guangzhou office). She graduated from
Guangdong University of Foreign Studies with a combined bachelor
degree in International Commerce English and Accounting in 2001. Ms.
Wen is a member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. Chen Xiaohong

Aged 39, is the general manager of external affairs of Yashili (Guangdong)
and is primarily responsible for liaison with authorities and agencies. He
has been the manager of external affairs of Yashili (Guangdong) since
May 1997. He has also been the supervisor of the Supervisory Board of
Yashili (Guangdong) since March 2008. Mr. Chen graduated from
Hanshan Normal University (821Bh#022fw) with a college diploma in
finance in June 1996.

REEAE(EHT 5201453
H258#E £ %)

4057 » 1R2008F 2B MARES  Bal R
REPNRER EHRE BEAIM
- RELHBBI0FERBHLH R0
ATRSE @A R 5 & 52007 F £ 20084F K
BRI R B A TRERMREEST-.
R 20004F E20065F - RIEERBREER
B BIANEED BERROBA - REER
199657 ARERPBBERS  RE%ER
REOR e R EMR2005F 125K 0]
RBRAERRM R -

BRFEULL

38 BRERBLIN@ISHENIE ERHE
TRTSERARKER (BN 88K -
BLTB2004FKIE—BERRERM TR
MERANE TEaEREENHRE - —
PRIT B CAKR RZBHR I o 1 82007 F I (E
MR (EM) 8 &I - ;)R2001 5 ZE20045F -
REBEKSIEIPKIB - N20015F £2003
Fh o BE—RITBIPER - N1996F £
2001 F B R —MITHIBLB - BEL LN
1996 F EHENWBAKE  NEERKRKEX
R RINR2005F RO I KEE R ERE
TERAE ©

mRFL L

3V RALSERWHERE - BTN
20MFSHNARER  T2E88NETH
BRIENZINGERB LI - £l 2A1 - R
TRESBHERSHENSFH A (EMD M)
EHEBPIEE - SR HE - RN 20015
REERNBRINBINEKRE FEBHKRBR
RBNBHEFXRLETEN - BRL TR
hEEMeEsthhess -

BRNIR S &

395 MERMELRINERE
FFERPIR IR S BB 48 LF - BRCES
1997 F 58 —BERERKE TR IR -
RB2008F38 kM —BERERME LN E
SHES - RFEER196F6FREENE
EhEE R NSEMBRIXR -

25



Directors and Management Biographies

Mr. Tong Chengfu

Aged 47, is the general manager of Research and Development Centre of
Yashili (Guangdong) and is primarily responsible for research and
development. Mr. Tong has been the general controller of R&D at Yashili
(Guangdong) since 2007. From 2005 to 2006, he was the manager of
external cooperation department. From 2000 to 2005, he was the chief
engineer and a factory manager of the milk powder plant. From 1995 to
2000, he was a section head of manufacturing at Heilongjiang Weiquan
Dairy Co., Ltd. From 1988 to 1995, he was the development manager at
Heilongjiang Dairy Factory. He is a member of the Technical Expert
Committee of the Technology Innovation Strategy Union of Dairy Industry
(FLEEERMAI SIS E8II2S). He graduated from the Northeast
Agricultary University (5RIV2E205%) with a college diploma in processing
of livestock and agricultural products in 1988.

Mr. Li Mengchun

Aged 41, is the general manager of quality control of Yashili (Guangdong)
and is primarily responsible for quality control. Mr. Li has been the general
manager of quality control at Yashili (Guangdong) since June 2004. From
June 2003 to June 2004, Mr. Li was the production manager, the logistics
manager, the project manager and the technology manager at Xiamen
HEK Group. From April 1996 to February 1999, he was the manager of
quality control at Ting Hisin Co., Ltd. Mr. Li graduated from the Xiangtan
University (1838 K£2) with a bachelor’s degree in chemical engineering in
June 1994.

Mr. Liu Xiaopeng

Aged 41, has served as the general manager of sales department of
Yashili (Guangdong) since January 2014 and is primarily responsible for
sales and marketing of the milk powder business and brewed food
business of the Group. Mr. Liu joined Yashili in July 2010 and had been
the deputy general manager of milk powder business department. Mr. Liu
graduated from Shaanxi Financial University with a Diploma of
undergraduate course in July 1996.

Ms. Ho Siu Pik

Aged 50, was appointed as the joint company secretary of the Company
on 20 June 2012. Ms. Ho is a director of Corporate Services Division of
Tricor Services Limited and a fellow member of both The Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators and The Hong Kong Institute of
Chartered Secretaries. Ms. Ho has over 20 years of experience in the
company secretarial area. She is currently the joint company secretary of
SITC International Holdings Company Limited and China Molybdenum
Co., Ltd. and the company secretary of Sun Art Retail Group Limited and
China Polymetallic Mining Limited, all of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange.
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The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2013.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements. There were no significant changes in
the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year under review.

Financial Statements

The profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2013 and the
state of the Company’s and the Group’s affairs as at that date are set out
in the consolidated financial statements on pages 92 to 206 of this
annual report.

Final Dividends

The Board recommended a final dividend of RMB3.69 cents per share for
the year ended 31 December 2013 to the shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members on 13 June 2014, subject to approval
by the shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting to be
held on 5 June 2014.

The total dividends for the year ended 31 December 2013, which
represent the proposed final dividend, amounted to approximately
RMB131.3 million and represented approximately 30.0% of the profit of
the Company for the year. The payment of the proposed final dividend
will be in cash.
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Such proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2013
represented a payout ratio of 30.0%. In the opinion of the Directors, such
distribution is in compliance with the Articles of Association adopted by
the Company on 8 October 2010, which states that dividend may be
declared and paid out of the profits of the Company, realised or
unrealised, or from any reserve set aside from profits which the Directors
determine is no longer needed. With the sanction of an ordinary
resolution dividend may also be declared and paid out of share premium
account or any other fund or account which can be authorised for this
purpose in accordance with the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands, subject to the
provisions of the Memorandum of Association or Articles of Association
and provided that immediately following the distribution or paying
dividend the Company will be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business.

Reserves

Details of movements in reserves of the Group during the year under
review are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

Distributable Reserves of the Company

As at 31 December 2013, the Company’'s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Law, Chapter
22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands,
amounted to approximately RMB2,173.3 million, which may be
distributed provided that immediately following the date on which the
dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position
to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

Charitable Donations

Donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
approximately RMB7.4 million.

Report of the Directors
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Property, Plant and Equipment

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group held property,
plant and equipment of approximately RMB1,195.5 million. Movements
in property, plant and equipment of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2013 are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Share Capital

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2013 are set out in note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Directors

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2013 and as of the
date of this annual report were:

Non-executive directors:
Mr. Zhang Chi (resigned on 13 August 2013)
Mr. Chang Herman Hsiu-Guo (resigned on 13 August 2013)
Ms. Sun Yiping (Chairman) (appointed on
24 July 2013)
Mr. Ding Sheng (appointed on 24 July 2013)
Mr. Wu Jingshui (appointed on 24 July 2013)

Executive directors:

Mr. Zhang Lidian (resigned as Chairman on 24 July 2013
but remained as executive director)

Mr. Zhang Yanpeng

Mr. Zhang Likun (resigned on 13 August 2013)

Mr. Zhang Liming (resigned on 13 August 2013)

Mr. Zhang Libo (resigned on 13 August 2013)

Mr. Li Dongming (appointed on 24 July 2013)

Independent non-executive directors:

Mr. Chen Yongquan (passed away on 15 October 2013)

Mr. Yu Shimao (resigned on 15 November 2013)

Mr. Samuel King On Wong (resigned on 15 November 2013)
Mr. Liu Jinting (resigned on 15 November 2013)

Mr. Cheng Shoutai (appointed on 15 November 2013)

Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben (appointed on 15 November 2013)

Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway (appointed on 27 November 2013)
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The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from
each of the existing independent non-executive directors in accordance
with Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). The
Company considers that all the independent non-executive directors are
independent in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Article 83 of the Articles of Association adopted by the
Company on 8 October 2010, any Director appointed by the Board to fill
a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting after his/
her appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting, and any
Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall
hold office until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at such meeting.
Accordingly, Ms. Sun Yiping, Mr. Ding Sheng, Mr. Wu Jingshui, Mr. Li
Dongming, Mr. Cheng Shoutai, Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben and Mr. Lee Kong
Way Conway shall retire from office and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

Directors’ and Senior Management'’s
Biographies

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management are set out
on pages 61 to 67 of this annual report.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts

Save as disclosed below, there was no contract of significance to which
the Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries was a party,
and in which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at the end of the year ended 31
December 2013.

Directors’ Service Contracts

Each of the Directors in the Board has entered into a service contract with
the Company for an initial fixed term of three years which will continue
thereafter unless otherwise terminated in accordance with the terms of
the service contract, including by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either party on the other. No Director proposed for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has an unexpired
service contract which is not determined by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

Report of the Directors
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests
and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures

As at 31 December 2013, the Directors and the chief executives of the
Company and their respective associates had the following interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (“SFO")) which have been notified to the Company and the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to Division 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO, including interests and short positions which the Directors and
the chief executives of the Company are taken and deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO, or which are required to be and are
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers contained in the Listing Rules:

(i) Directors’ Interests in the shares of Mengniu
Dairy (being a holding company of the
Company):

Capacity/

Name of director Nature of interest

Eo=R =y B/ EmstE
Sun Yiping Beneficial owner
RPN BRsB A
Ding Sheng Beneficial owner
TE ERnEBA
Wu Jingshui Beneficial owner
R =K BEnmEBA

ESRERTHRASKERM -
HEARMRESFNES KRR

R2013F 128318 KR RIAESKELT
BAEBRREEENHEARARLINRE
B EB(ERREBEAONRNEBHFK
HAG R ([58 25 IR & 1R P11 1) S8XVER) B9
M- MBRERMKRESTPRBIRIREF N
SMRMIBEXVERETNE DA SR AE) K
SEBERMMNERILB (BB RRIES

NEBITHABREEZ NS FRHIZ
SHXMBERBRBEENER AR

AL IHEMNIRIE R 75 KGRI SR 3521 R
FERNEIMONERIOXR  HRE LD
%ﬁ,@Uﬁﬁ%?B’]J:Fﬁ?‘ﬁ)\%%kﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ%
NIRETFRIRAN SRR NREBERME
TEDmIORBU N -

(i) ESNR4FIAF (E'I]/‘.R"EE
/N 7) HIRR Dz xS

Approximate
percentage of the
Number of shares issued share capital
fh 2 22 fT AR 7N
i:dE (=] [TEN=Ralnd
8,425,800 0.46%
3,200,000 0.18%
3,300,000 0.18%



(ii) Directors’ interests in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company:

Capacity/

Name of director Nature of interest

EE8TE 815 EmtE
Zhang Lidian Beneficial owner
St i) 50 BRnEBA

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2013, none of the Directors
or chief executives of the Company had or was deemed to have any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO), which had been recorded in the register maintained
by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or which had been
notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
contained in the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, at no time was the Company, its holding
company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable
the Directors and chief executives of the Company (including their spouse
and children under 18 years of age) to hold any interest or short positions
in the shares or underlying shares in, or debentures of, the Company or
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO).
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(i) ESNALANKRMN KBRS
AR fp i@ :

Approximate

percentage of the

issued share capital

Number of shares of the Company
GARATERT

it (=] BRI B At

344 0.00%

R E XA #HRESZ N R2013F128318 -
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) BIRM - BRIRM KA ES PHEBNIRE
BN NOREES MBS KRHIE3521FF
ENECHMALHENTOUREINE =X
RIE EMABAAEHMN EMmMEETASERETD
BEHRX2NBREFIEHNS R RE B
BRI R IR °
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Share Option Schemes

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 8 October 2010 (the
“Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of giving its employees
an opportunity to have a personal stake in the Company and helping
motivate employees to optimize their performance and efficiency, and
retaining its employees whose contributions are important to the long-
term growth and profitability of the Group. Options to subscribe for an
aggregate of 94,975,662 shares (the “Shares”) were granted to 181
participants, including 2 executive directors and 8 members of the senior
management of the Group. These options represent share options
originally granted by our subsidiary, Yashili (Guangdong), to the grantees
on 1 January 2009 and 1 August 2010 in respect of the shares in the
Company, which were exchanged into the Pre-IPO Share Options (as
defined below) on 8 October 2010.

Options to subscribe for an aggregate of 73,525,056 Shares at an
exercise price of RMBO0.11 per Share and options to subscribe for an
aggregate of 21,450,606 Shares at an exercise price RMB1.84 per Share
have been granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme.

No further options were granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
on or after the 1 November 2010, the date of our Shares first commenced
dealings on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (“Listing Date”). All options
granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (the “Pre-IPO Share
Options”) were vested and will vest and may only be exercised in the
following manner:

o one fifth of the options were vested on 1 January 2011, the date
which is two months after the Listing Date (the "First Vesting
Date”);

o one fifth of the options were vested on the first anniversary of the
First Vesting Date;

o one fifth of the options were vested on the second anniversary of
the First Vesting Date;

o one fifth of the options shall vest on the third anniversary of the
First Vesting Date;

i Az & 51 21

EYNNGERETIE R

A SEMN2010F 108803 % 4 88 AR & 51
SleaxrrmEsaERRSE)D  HE
NEOEIRENKLNIEEBARTS
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BB @R LTNR2009F1818 &
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BERE -

R2010F 1M B1B8 (BIRMBRNEBE R
PREESEB (T LMBH)) &I HIRE
BARLNHABESABERIESERBEMDBER
B-MRFEBRAMESRBRIES SR D
ZEBRETBRAMESBRIED
PEEKSHE  WEJRA NS TRE:

s OhNZ—HNEBREESR20MF1E18
BNEHBHEMEBERLEB8 (5ERE
BD)&RE

« BHZ—NERERKRSBEREESS
BERE

e IhNZ—HNEREENSEREBLS
_BEFERE

e IENZ—HBRESKNSERELS
—BREFRE



o one fifth of the options shall vest on the fourth anniversary of the
First Vesting Date; and

each option granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is
exercisable within 15 days from the date on which such option becomes
vested.

A summary of the grantees who have been granted options under the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is set out below:
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e hPZ—HNEBERESNSEREOD S
NEBFRE &

BRLHEERBRESESIMRENEMN
BREDZBRERBEOHLRS 58RI
TiTfE -

CA T & 5 IR 1% 55 R 1 5 38 & i i AR & 51 &
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Closing market
Balance as at price per share

Grantees or Balance as at Exercised Lapsed 31 December for exercised

class of participants 1 January 2013 during 2013 during 2013 2013 options
HK$

R2013 45 2013 F
1818 R2013% 20134 12H31H BEfTfEBERIiE

RIRAISERERA B4 &R 28 Tie K| BERZE BISKRIME
BT

Directors

£5

Zhang Lidian 9,328,352 3,109,448 6,218,904 — 2.68

SRR 5

Zhang Yanpeng 1,424,697 474,896 949,801 — 2.68

o IfE 5

Other staff 29,329,799 9,624,709 19,705,090 — 2.68

Hith 8T

Other staff 9,671,156 3,060,171 6,610,985 — 2.68

Hh8 T

Total 49,754,004 16,269,224 33,484,780 — 2.68

MRst

Notes: B 5F -

(1) The exercise price for these options is RMBO0.11 per Share and granted on 1
January 2009.

(2) The exercise price for these options is RMB1.84 per Share and granted on 1
August 2010.

(1 WHEERENTEERSRARELIIITR
R2009F18181KE »

2 HESBRENTEERERARBI8ITR
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75

2013 FEFE R

RruEmRERBRAS



76

Yashili International Holdings Ltd  Annual Report 2013

Report of the Directors
EEEWRS

Share Option Scheme

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme on 8 October 2010
for the purpose of motivating eligible participants to optimize their future
contributions to the Group and/or reward them for their past
contributions, attracting and retaining or otherwise maintaining on-going
relationships with such eligible participants who are significant to and/or
whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the performance, growth
or success of the Group.

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other
schemes of the Group shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares
in issue as at the Listing Date, that is, 350,000,000 Shares. No option may
be granted to any participant of the Share Option Scheme such that the
total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted and to be granted to that person in any 12-month period
up to the date of the latest grant exceeds 1% of the Company’s issued
share capital from time to time.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme at any time during a period as determined by the Board
and not exceeding 10 years from the date of the grant. There is no
minimum period for which an option must be held before it can be
exercised. Participants of the Share Option Scheme are required to pay
the Company HK$1.0 upon acceptance of the grant on or before the 28
days after the offer date. The exercise price of the options is determined
by the Board in its absolute discretion and shall not be less than
whichever is the highest of:

(@)  the nominal value of a share;

(b)  the closing price of a share as stated in the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets on the offer date; and

(c)  the average closing price of a share as stated in the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the offer date.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10
years from the Listing Date, after which no further options will be granted
or offered.

f3 B i 51 31
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Details of the share options granted under the Share Option Scheme as at
31 December 2013 are as follows:

Balance as at

Exercise price 1 January Exercised
Date of grant per share 2013 during 2013
R2013%

1818 R2013F

REBH SRiTERE B &% 28 fTie
HK$
BT

29 August 2011 1.50 41,256,736 19,954,866

2011F8H298

On 23 July 2013, Mengniu International made a voluntary general offer
("Option Offer”) to the Company’s option holders for the cancellation of
all the outstanding options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme and the Share Option Scheme (the “Options”). Please refer to
the offer document from Mengniu International relating to, among other
things, the Option Offer dated 23 July 2013 for further details.

As of 13 August 2013, which is the final closing date of the Option Offer,
valid acceptances of the Option Offer have been received in respect of
52,088,266 Options. Following acceptance of the Option Offer, the
relevant Options together with all rights attaching thereto have been
cancelled and renounced, and all Options not exercised have
automatically lapsed.

Accordingly, as at 31 December 2013, there is no outstanding option
granted by the Company.

Arrangement for Directors to Purchase
Shares or Debentures

Save as disclosed in paragraph headed “Share Option Schemes” above,
at no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any
Director of the Company or their respective spouses or minor children, or
were such rights exercised by them, or was the Company, its holding
company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable
the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debt securities (including debentures) of the
Company or any other body corporate.
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RIEBRIESE  EZE2013F128318 1E
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Closing
market price
Balance as at per share for

Lapsed 31 December exercised
during 2013 2013 options
R2013F 217i#

R2013F 12H318 BB AR IER
K| HeRzE BSRWMHE

HK$

BT

21,301,870 — 3.72
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and
Short Positions in Shares and Underlying
Shares

So far as is known to the Director or chief executives of the Company, as

at
or
in

co

31 December 2013, the persons or corporations (other than Directors
chief executives of the Company) who had interest or short positions
the shares and underlying shares of the Company or its associated
rporation(s) which were required to be disclosed to the Company under

the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO
were as follows:

Name

& s

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited"”
PRARFAEEGRAT

China Mengniu International Company Limited
DPEARFEABRERLT?

Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited®
Temasek Capital (Private) Limited®
Seletar Investments Pte Ltd®

Dunearn Investments (Mauritius) Pte Ltd ¥

Notes:

(1

@)

(©)

)

As at 31 December 2013, China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited holds 88.82%
interest in China Mengniu International Company Limited.

As at 31 December 2013, China Mengniu International Company Limited directly
holds the relevant Shares.

As at 31 December 2013, Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited holds 100%
interest in Temasek Capital (Private) Limited. Temasek Capital (Private) Limited
holds 100% interest in Seletar Investments Pte Ltd. Seletar Investments Pte Ltd
holds 100% interest in Dunearn Investments (Mauritius) Pte Ltd.

As at 31 December 2013, Dunearn Investments (Mauritius) Pte Ltd directly holds
the relevant Shares.

Bt

X & 2 RS AR {3 Bz i@ A A {7 69
@i

0
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»
N
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MARNBDEERFETHASMA RN
2013F 128318 KRR S E B EH
HERMDREERDPEEIREESNNBE
B SEXVER B2 233 EBBI IR /B 8 88 7Rk
NOANBRIARE HECLAREZTHFR
HEGHIE336RBEFEENE MRV
WOUEBHALTIOEE (WHFARNBESBHK
FETHAS)WR:

Approximate

Number percentage of

of Shares shareholding

iR EB GRRIEIANB Dt
2,725,612,556 76.58%
2,725,612,556 76.58%
220,225,000 6.19%
220,225,000 6.19%
220,225,000 6.19%
220,225,000 6.19%

B 5%

(1) R2013F128318 " PARFAEERLT
REPERFERERAS0188.82% M ©

(2) MR2013F128318 ' PEARFHEER LS
BEEBEEMRM -

(3) 201341283108 ' Temasek Holdings
(Private) Limited 5 & Temasek Capital (Private)
Limited#9100% & &5 °Temasek Capital (Private)
Limited #5 B Seletar Investments Pte Ltd89100%
& 25 ° Seletar Investments Pte Ltd 5 & Dunearn
Investments (Mauritius) Pte Ltd 89 100 % i & °

(4) R20134%F 12 8318 ° Dunearn Investments
(Mauritius) Pte Ltd B 5 B B RR D ©



Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2013, the Directors of the
Company are not aware of any other person or corporation having an
interest or short position in shares and underlying shares of the Company
or its associated corporation(s) which would require to be recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of
the SFO.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the
Company'’s Listed Securities

Other than the issue of 16,269,224 Shares pursuant to the exercise of
Pre-IPO Share Options and the issue of 19,954,866 Shares pursuant to
the exercise of Share Options as stated above, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31 December 2013.

Connected Transactions

On January 5, 2014, Yashili International Group Limited and Jf 7l G0B&
E£BBPRR LT (Yashili International Group Limited*) (together, the
“Sellers”) entered into an equity transfer agreement to sell 100% of the
equity interests in HETRIEBDNNEZRBRAS (Yashili (Zhengzhou)
Nourishment Co., Ltd.*) (“Yashili (Zhengzhou)”) to China Mengniu
Investment Co. Ltd. (“Mengniu Investment”) and WhiteWave Hong Kong
Ltd. (“WhiteWave") (together, the “Purchasers”) for a consideration of
RMB376.66 million (equivalent to approximately HK$482.90 million) (the
“Transaction”), payable in cash by the Purchasers to the Sellers on the
date of completion of the Transaction.

The principal asset of Yashili (Zhengzhou) is a factory located in Henan
Province, PRC, which is currently under construction and will be principally
engaged in the manufacture, packaging and distribution of nutritious
products. The Purchasers will acquire Yashili (Zhengzhou) through a joint
venture company to be duly incorporated under the laws of the PRC by
the Purchasers which is expected to be held as to 51% by Mengniu
Investment and 49% by WhiteWave (the “Joint Venture Company”).

* For identification purpose
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Mengniu International, a subsidiary of Mengniu Dairy, holds 76.58% of
the shares of the Company and is a substantial shareholder of the
Company. Therefore, Mengniu Dairy is a connected person of Company.
The Joint Venture Company will be an indirect subsidiary of Mengniu
Dairy and an associate of Mengniu Dairy. Accordingly, the Transaction
constitutes a connected transaction of the Company pursuant to Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

Continuing Connected Transactions

Connected Persons

(a) BRI EER, S (Shantou Zhang's Investment
Co., Ltd*) (“Zhang’s Investment (Shantou)”)
The entire equity interest in Zhang's Investment (Shantou) is held in
equal shares by 11 individuals, of which Mr. Zhang Likun, Mr.
Zhang Liming, Mr. Zhang Lidian, Mr. Zhang Libo, Mr. Zhang Lihui
and Ms. She Lifang are the shareholders of Zhang's Investment
(Shantou). Mr. Zhang Lidian is a Director of the Company and is
therefore a connected person of the Company under Rule 14A.11 (1)
of the Listing Rules. In addition, Mr. Zhang Likun, Mr. Zhang Liming,
Mr. Zhang Libo and Mr. Zhang Lihui are brothers of Mr. Zhang
Lidian and Ms. She Lifang is a sister-in-law of Mr. Zhang Lidian.
Given the close relationships among Mr. Zhang Likun, Mr. Zhang
Liming, Mr. Zhang Lidian, Mr. Zhang Libo, Mr. Zhang Lihui and Ms.
She Lifang, the Directors consider it is appropriate to aggregate
their interests in Zhang's Investment (Shantou) in determining
whether they together have a majority control over Zhang's
Investment (Shantou). Since Mr. Zhang Likun, Mr. Zhang Liming,
Mr. Zhang Lidian, Mr. Zhang Libo, Mr. Zhang Lihui and Ms. She
Lifang together can exercise more than 50% of the voting power at
general meetings of Zhang's Investment (Shantou), the Directors
therefore consider it is appropriate to treat Zhang's Investment
(Shantou) as a connected person of the Company under Rules
14A.11(4)(b)(i) and 14A.11(4)(c)ii) of the Listing Rules.

*  For identification purpose
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(b) BRI ERSBEMRL G (Haoweijia Food Co.,

(c)

Ltd.*) (“Haoweijia Food”)

Haoweijia Food is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Zhang's Investment
(Shantou). Since Zhang's Investment (Shantou) is a connected
person of the Company as detailed above, the Directors consider it
is appropriate to treat Haoweijia Food as a connected person of the
Company under Rules 14A.11(4)(b)(ii) and 14A.11(4)c)ii) of the
Listing Rules.

LR IE S EMZER 5a/i (Chaoan County Anbu
Yingjia Paper and Plastic Products Factory*)
(“Yingjia”)

Prior to 11 September 2013, the entire equity interest in Yingjia was
owned by Mr. Zhang Yuanlong, a brother-in-law of Mr. Zhang
Likun. Since 11 September 2013, the entire equity interest in Yingjia
was owned by Ms. Yang Shumin, who is Mr. Zhang Yuanlong's
daughter-in-law. Before the acquisition of the Company by
Mengniu on 13 August 2013, Mr. Zhang Likun was our Director
and therefore he was a connected person of the Company under
Rule 14A.11(1) of the Listing Rules. Since Mr. Zhang Yuanlong can
exercise more than 50% of the voting power at general meetings
of Yingjia, the Directors consider it is appropriate to treat Yingjia as
a connected person of the Company under Rules 14A.11(2) and
14A.11(4)(c)ii) of the Listing Rules before 11 September 2013.
After 11 September 2013, the date on which Mr. Zhang Yuanlong
could no longer exercise more than 50% of the voting power at
general meetings of Yingjia, Yingjia ceased to be a connected
person of the Company.

Continuing Connected Transactions

1.

*

The New Haoweijia Purchase Agreement

Haoweijia Food is a manufacturer of preserved fruit products in
China. On 8 October 2010, & +HIRGEMR/S)I(Shanghai
Yashili Food Co., Ltd*) (“Yashili (Shanghai)”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into the Haoweijia Purchase
Agreement (the “Haoweijia Purchase Agreement”) with Haoweijia
Food, pursuant to which Yashili (Shanghai) will purchase preserved
fruit products from Haoweijia Food from Listing Date to 31
December 2012. As one of the distributors of Haoweijia Food,
Yashili (Shanghai) generates revenue by purchasing such preserved
fruit products from Haoweijia Food and reselling them to third-party
customers. Pursuant to the Haoweijia Purchase Agreement, the
prices at which Yashili (Shanghai) purchases preserved fruit products
from Haoweijia Food are the same as such prices at which Haoweijia
Food sells its preserved fruit products to independent third parties.
The Haoweijia Purchase Agreement expired on 31 December 2012.

For identification purpose

(b)

(c)

SERERS
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On 28 December 2012, Yashili (Shanghai) entered into the New
Haoweijia Purchase Agreement (the “New Haoweijia Purchase
Agreement”) with Haoweijia Food with terms substantially the
same as those in the Haoweijia Purchase Agreement and a contract
duration from 1 January 2013 to 31 December 2015.

For the year ended 31 December 2013, the purchase from
Haoweijia Food under the New Haoweijia Purchase Agreement was
RMB2,132,697, which was less than the cap of RMB6,500,000 as
disclosed in the Company’s announcement (the “Announcement”)
dated 24 March 2014.

The Haoweijia Sales Agreement

On 8 October 2010, LM BEEENEER AT (Chaoan
Bisheng Decoration and Printing Co., Ltd*) (“Bisheng”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the Haoweijia Sales
Agreement (the “Haoweijia Sales Agreement”) with Haoweijia
Food, pursuant to which Bisheng will sell packaging materials to
Haoweijia Food from Listing Date to 31 December 2012, renewable
at the option of Bisheng for a term of three years and subject to
compliance with all applicable requirements under the Listing Rules.
Pursuant to the Haoweijia Sales Agreement, Bisheng shall sell
packaging materials to Haoweijia Food at prices not lower than the
prices at which Bisheng sells packaging materials to independent
third parties. The Haoweijia Sales Agreement expired on 31
December 2012.

On 28 December 2012, Bisheng entered into the New Haoweijia
Sales Agreement (the “New Haoweijia Sales Agreement”) with
Haoweijia Food with terms substantially the same as those in the
Haoweijia Sales Agreement and a contract duration from 1 January
2013 to 31 December 2015.

For the year ended 31 December 2013, the sales to Haoweijia Food
under the New Haoweijia Sales Agreement was RMB 1,812,531,
which was less than the cap of RMB3,000,000 as disclosed in the
Announcement.
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The Yingjia Purchase Agreement

Yingjia is engaged in the manufacture of plastic products in China.
On 8 October 2010, Yashili (Guangdong), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into the Yingjia Purchase
Agreement (the "Yingjia Purchase Agreement”) with Yingjia,
pursuant to which Yashili (Guangdong) will purchase plastic spoons
and plastic covers from Yingjia from Listing Date to 31 December
2012, renewable for a term of three years and subject to
compliance with all applicable requirements under the Listing Rules.
The Group utilizes the plastic spoons and plastic covers purchased
from Yingjia as packaging materials for the milk powder products
of the Group. Pursuant to the Yingjia Purchase Agreement, the
prices at which Yashili (Guangdong) purchases plastic spoons and
plastic covers from Yingjia are the same as such prices at which
Yingjia sells such products to independent third parties. The Yingjia
Purchase Agreement expired on 31 December 2012.

On 3 January 2013, Yashili (Guangdong) entered into the New
Yingjia Purchase Agreement (the “New Yingjia Purchase
Agreement”) with Yingjia with terms substantially the same as
those in the Yingjia Purchase Agreement and a contract duration
from 1 January 2013 to 31 December 2013.

During the period between 1 January 2013 and 11 September
2013, the purchase from Yingjia under the New Yingjia Purchase
Agreement was RMB7,559,632, which was less than the cap of
RMB15,000,000 as disclosed in the Announcement.

After 11 September 2013, the date on which Mr. Zhang Yuanlong
could no longer exercise more than 50% of the voting power at
general meetings of Yingjia, the New Yingjia Purchase Agreement
ceased to constitute a continuing connected transaction of the
Company.
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Other than the continuing connected transactions set out above, in
respect of which the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules have been complied with, no
contract of significance has been entered into between the
Company or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling shareholders
during the year ended 31 December 2013.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have
reviewed these connected transactions and confirmed that such
transactions were:

— entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of
the Group;

— conducted either on normal commercial terms or, if there are
not sufficient comparable transactions to judge whether they
are on normal commercial terms, on terms no less favourable
to the Group than terms available to or from independent
third parties; and

— in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interest of
the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference
to Practice Note 740 "Auditor's Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued
their unqualified letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect
of the continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group in this
annual report in accordance with Rule 14A.38. of the Listing Rules. A
copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Save as disclosed above, no contract of significance has been entered into
between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling
shareholders during the year ended 31 December 2013.

Save as disclosed above, none of the related party transactions as
disclosed in note 35 to the financial statements constitutes a connected
transaction as defined under the Listing Rules.
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Non-Compete Undertakings

The controlling shareholders of the Company has confirmed to the
Company of its compliance with the non-compete undertakings provided
to the Company under the Deed of Non-competition. The independent
non-executive directors of the Company have reviewed the status of
compliance and confirmed that all the undertakings under the Deed of
Non-competition have been complied with by the controlling
shareholders.

Directors’ Interest in Competing Business

None of the Directors is or was interested in any business apart from the
Group's business, that competes or competed or is or was likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business at any
time during the year ended 31 December 2013 and up to and including
the date of this annual report.

Management Contracts

Other than the service contracts disclosed in the paragraph headed
“Directors’ Service Contracts” above, no contracts concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of
the business of the Company were entered into or existed during the year
ended 31 December 2013.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the laws of Cayman Islands where the Company
is incorporated applicable to the Company.

Emolument Policy

The Group’s emolument policies are based on the merit, qualifications

and competence of individual employees and are reviewed by the
Remuneration Committee periodically.
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The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the Remuneration
Committee and are decided by the Board, having regard to the Group’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable market
statistics.

The Company has adopted two share option schemes to motivate and
reward its Directors and eligible employees. Details of the schemes are set
out in the paragraph headed “Share Option Schemes” above and note
31 to the consolidated financial statements.

None of the Directors waived any emoluments during the year ended 31
December 2013.

Retirement Benefits Schemes

The employees of the PRC subsidiaries of the Company are members of
the state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the PRC
government. The PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute certain
percentages of basic salaries of the employees to the retirement benefits
scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the retirement benefits scheme is to make the required
contributions under the scheme. The contributions are charged to the
consolidated income statements as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the state-managed retirement benefits scheme.

The Group has no other material obligation for the payment of pension
benefits beyond the annual contributions described above.

For the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group's total contributions to
the retirement benefits schemes charged in the income statement
amounted to RMB46.6 million. Details of the Group's retirement benefits
scheme and the basis of calculation are set out in note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Major Customers and Suppliers

Aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s largest and five largest
customers were 0.6% and 2.4% of the Group's total sales respectively.

Aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s largest and five largest
suppliers were 18.1% and 42.7% of the Group’s total purchases
respectively.
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At no time during the year ended 31 December 2013 did a Director, his/
her associate(s) or a shareholder, which to the knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital, have an interest in
any of the Group's five largest customers and suppliers.

Closure of Register of Members

()

(i)

For the purpose of determining the identity of
shareholders who are entitled to attend and
vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting
The register of members of the Company will be closed from 3 June
2014 to 5 June 2014, both days inclusive, during which period no
transfer of shares of the Company will be effected. In order to be
eligible to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual general
meeting to be held on 5 June 2014, all duly completed and signed
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at
Rooms 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen'’s
Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30
p.m. on 30 May 2014.

For the purpose of determining the identity of
shareholders who are entitled to the proposed
final dividend

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 12
June 2014 to 13 June 2014, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares of the Company will be effected. In
order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all duly completed
and signed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share
registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited at Rooms 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for
registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on 11 June 2014.

Subject to shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming annual general
meeting to be held on 5 June 2014, the proposed final dividend will be
paid to the shareholders whose names appear on the register of members
of the Company on 13 June 2014.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee had reviewed together with the management and
external auditors the accounting principles and policies adopted by the
Group and the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2013.

Auditor

On 5 December 2013, KPMG tendered its resignation as auditor of the
Company with effect from 5 December 2013. Ernst & Young has been
appointed by the Directors with effect from 5 December 2013 as the new
auditor to fill the casual vacancy arising from the resignation of KPMG
and to hold office until the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

As a result, the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2013 have been audited by Ernst & Young, who will retire and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company. A resolution for its re-
appointment as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual report,
the Company has maintained the prescribed public float of not less than
23.42% of the Company'’s issued shares pursuant to a waiver granted to
the Company by the Stock Exchange for the period from the Listing Date.

Bank Loans and Other Borrowings

Particulars of short-term bank loans of the Group as at 31 December
2013 are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.
Other than such short-term bank loans, the Group had no other bank
loans or borrowings.
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Corporate Governance

The Company’s corporate governance principles and practices are set out
in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 45 to 60 of this annual
report.

Summary Financial Information

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the five financial years ended 31 December 2013 is set out on pages 207

to 208 of this annual report.

On behalf of the Board

Sun Yiping
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2014
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
18 31 1% 84 6 ¥k 5

Ernst & Young

22/F, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue
Central, Hong Kong

EY =x

To the shareholders of Yashili International Holdings Ltd
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yashili
International Holdings Ltd (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together,
the “Group”) set out on pages 92 to 206, which comprise the
consolidated and the Company’s statements of financial position as at 31
December 2013, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 31
December 2013, and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
24 March 2014
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

/:\ A} O AL
SHERE
Year ended 31 December 2013
BHE2013F128318LLFE

2013 2012
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
s 5% AR FIT AR T It
Revenue PN 5 3,889,999 3,655,143
Cost of sales 8 & pY R (1,809,888) (1,693,452)
Gross profit Eifl) 2,080,111 1,961,691
Other income and gains Hfth W A R Uz 5 26,206 37,631
Other net loss Hith 518 528 (806) (392)
Selling and distribution expenses B &S N &K iH B 2 (1,393,790) (1,222,745)
Administrative expenses T (219,162) (202,104)
Other expenses HihFsz 6 (10,848) (14,702)
PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS Syl 481,711 559,379
Finance income SRS U N 7 108,221 89,749
Finance costs 871 75 X 7R 8 (13,215) (2,804)
Net finance income 5 B R UL A 95,006 86,945
PROFIT BEFORE TAX P i A 3 Al 7 576,717 646,324
Income tax expense Py 1§ i B S 10 (137,393) (175,856)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FEEMN 439,324 470,468
Attributable to: BN :
Owners of the Company RN BIREFE A 437,614 468,482
Non-controlling interests FEERRIE 1,710 1,986
439,324 470,468
EARNINGS PER SHARE R SBBEERFHBEA 13 RMB Cents RMB Cents
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY Eis SRR AERHESY A RHES
EQUITY HOLDERS OF
THE COMPANY
Basic HIR 12.3 13.3
Diluted 55 12.2 13.2

Yashili International Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2013

FEAT R BREF E R ROV BN W F w KM
E12RME -

Details of the dividends payable and proposed for the year are disclosed
in note 12 to the financial statements.



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to
profit or loss in subsequent periods:

Exchange differences on translation of financial
statements of overseas subsidiaries

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

FREEM

H fth 2 @ W &
ORARHBENDRE

BafEHMEH WS

BINT REINBRE
TEE8

FEETORZMR

wEMN
RARIREFBEA
FE 2 AR 8

A {H 4= A >%<

SHGENRRE
Year ended 31 December 2013
B|E2013F128318LEFE

2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETIT

439,324 470,468
(13,613) (494)
425,711 469,974
424,001 467,988

1,710 1,986
425,711 469,974
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

O i B S iR i R

31 December 2013
2013128318

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment

Investment properties

Prepaid land lease payments

Intangible assets

Deferred tax assets

Prepayments, deposits and
other receivables

Pledged deposits

Long-term bank deposits

Other non-current assets

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories
Trade and bills receivables

Prepayments, deposits and
other receivables

Other investments

Pledged deposits

Short-term bank deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade payables
Other payables and accruals

Interest-bearing bank loans
Income tax payables

Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

FREMEE
PN~ BB K5k
“EME
FAfY T & FRIR
mSE
FEEMIAE E
YA FRIA ~ ﬁi&
H fth FE UK T
%@ﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ
RERTTER
HihIEmBNEE
FMBEERER
MENE &
ff

& 2 EWR IR
EW R IR
FANS FRIA ~ ﬁi&
H B fE WK T
Hthir &
RPER
RERTTER
ReRREEEN

/}IL§)] E\I*n%’ %

meng &
B2 E R
HL{th f& Y FRIA 0
[ESt& B
StRIBTHBM
[E NPT iSinIa

meaERR

2 2 == \nE
MmN B E PR
P4

i
)
=
=K
i
N

I

s

L

Notes

fy 5t

14
15
16
17
19
22

24
24

20
21

22
23
24

24
24

25
26

27

2013
RMB’000
ARETT

1,195,479
115,816
216,465

6,137
84,575
54,155

150,000
300,000
7,117

2,129,744

886,229

32,068

171,412
444,508

42,311
199,000
611,384

2,386,912

346,469
793,221

154,464
40,838

1,334,992

1,051,920

3,181,664

2012
RMB'000
ARMEF T

743,863
112,004
130,432
3,937
80,015
184,170

306,142
8,285

=

,568,848

652,922

27,658

135,699
200,000
299,609
611,972
2,073,161

4,001,021

412,916
617,845

330,912
89,223

1,450,896

2,550,125

4,118,973



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
B i BT 5 R i &=

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Interest-bearing bank loans
Deferred income

Deferred tax liabilities

Total non-current liabilities

Net assets

EQUITY

Equity attributable to owners
of the Company

Issued capital

Reserves

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

Mr. Zhang Lidian
SRl S 4

Director

gF

FREMBE
STRIRITIBR
IR SEUR

FEMIRESE

FMBEERER

R aEE ARG
e z8
PRITRIR

EE

FE 12 AR i &

IEmREs

Notes

fy 5t

27
28
19

29
30

2013
RMB’000
ARETT

47,084
12,085
12,531

71,700

3,109,964

305,532
2,804,432

3,109,964

3,109,964

Mr. Li Dongming
SROAKE

Director

gF

31 December 2013
2013128318

2012
RMB'000
ARMEF T

18,627
18,000

36,627

4,082,346

302,601
3,776,458

4,079,059
3,287

4,082,346
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

SHERBER

Year ended 31 December 2013
BHE2013F128318LLFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RATRE AE(S
Capital PRC Share Other Non-
Share redemption statutory option capital ~ Translation Contributed  Retained controlling
Capital  premium reserve  reserves reserve reserve reserve surplus  eamings Total interests Total equity
RHOE ©BEEE Hft &R

B RMERE B B RERE B ExGE SAER REEI @it FERED  RLEE
Notes ~ RMBOOO  RMBO00  RMBO0D  RMBOOD  RMBOO0  RMB0O0  RMB'OOD  RMB000  RMBO0D  RMBOOD  RMBOOD  RMB'000
Wit ARETT ARETT ARMTT ARBTT ARETI ARETT ARETT ARETT ARMTT ARETT ARETI ARETT

(note29)  (note 30()  (note 29(v))  (note 30(ii)) (note 31) (note 30(v))  (note 30(i))
(HrEr20)  (WaE3oq))  (isEo)  (BFsE3oqin)  (BsE3n) (Ri3E300v)  (BiFEE30()

As at 1 January 2013 R2013E1818 302,601 1,682,341 818 107,476 15,623 (18,279) (23,643) 1,367,204 644918 4,079,059 3287 4,082,346
Profit for the year FRE - - - - - - - - 437,614 437,614 1,710 439,324
Other comprehensive income Eft2HHE - - - - - - (13,613) - - (13,613) - (13,613)
Total comprehensive income for R EH AL

the year - - - - - - (13,613) - 437,614 424,001 1,710 42511

Dudendsappowdnrepectol  BEERAR 2 |

the previous year - - - - - - - — (402432  (402432) — (402432
Special dividend approved HENSRIRA  12830() — (1,005,371 - - - - - - —  (1,005,371) — (1,005,371
Shares issued for exercise of Ri%IfTiE 30)

share options 2,931 35,188 - - (6,818) - - - - 31,301 - 31,301
Equity-settled share-based payment ~ REZBRAZMN 3

transactions B - - - - 6,409 - - - - 6,409 - 6,409
Transfer of share option reserve upon  REVERZ 1718 3

the cancellation of share options ERiBRGEE - - - - (15,214) - - - 15,214 - - -
Acquisition of non-controlling interest Ut § 35 2 RiE & - - - - - (23,003) - - - (23,003) (@,997)  (28,000)
Appropriation to statutory reserves A E 2 = - - 28,831 - - - - (881 - - -
As at 31 December 2013 R2013%128318 305,532 712,158* 818*  136,307* - (41,282)* (37,256)*  1,367,204*  666,483* 3,109,964 — 3,109,964
As at 1 January 2012 R201251818 301,463 1,680,437 818 74923 10,189 (18.279) (23,149) 1,367,204 409,092 3,802,698 1301 3,803,999
Profit for the year FRE — - - - - - - - 468,482 468,482 1,986 470,468
Other comprehensive income REEORR - - - - - - (494) - - (494) — (494)
Total comprehensive income for R E AL

the year = = = = = - (494) = 468482 467,983 1,986 469,974

Dudendsappowdnrepectol  AEBANR 12

the previous year — — — — — — — —  (200,103) (200,103 —  (200,103)
Shares issued for exercise of Ri% fi{TiE 300)

share options 1,138 1,904 — — (1,499) — — — — 1,543 — 1,543
Equity-settled share-based payment ~ REEFRMA=MN 31

transactions 2% - - - — 6,933 - - - - 6,933 - 6,933
Appropriation to statutory reserves & A % 2 - - - 32,553 - - - - (32,553) = = =
As at 31 December 2012 R20125128318 302,601 1,682,341* 818* 107,476* 15,623* (18,279)* (23643 1,367,204* 644,918* 4,079,059 3287 4,082,346

*  These reserve amounts comprise the consolidated reserves of RMB2,804,432,000 2012:  * SLEREH S &M M2013F MR R G ff R PH
RMB3,776,458,000) in the consolidated statement of financial positions. % & A R 12,804,432,0007T (2012F : A R #
3,776,458,0007T) °



CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation
Net loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Impairment provision/(write off)
for property, plant and equipment
Provision for impairment of trade
and other receivables
Provision/(write back) of inventories

Equity-settled share-based transactions

Interest income

Interest expense

Foreign exchange difference, net
Gains on other investments

Increase in inventories
Decrease/(increase) in trade and
bill receivables
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables
Increase in pledged deposits related to
letters of credit
Increase in trade payables,
other payables and accruals
Decrease in deferred income

Cash generated from operating activities
Income tax paid

Net cash flows from
operating activities

KETFTHMRNERSE

Tise 31 7 3P

AEIEB
ek E
LEME - BMEK
KEHBIBIFER
IESN IS E S
BORE IR R (E88H)
8 7% K B fE U
Byl (B
FERERELS
(#B@)

AR e 78 S AR o 2 1Y
R

il RUTA

M REF=

fE o I8 m )P &R
Hib xR EWR D

FE1EBN
8 2 W AR B UR
FHERL, (1B N0)
R RIR -~ B K EAM
FEU R IR R A (38 10)
FRGHBRESZHN

X PR IRTT =R IB N0
BRRIERMR - B EN
IR0 fEST & ARHIB N

3% 3E UL
RETHMBIIRE
B EHR

KETIMBIREFH

Notes

fy 5t

A f3 = =
SBHIREMNER
Year ended 31 December 2013
B|E2013F128318LEFE

2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFIT AR TFIT
576,717 646,324
85,637 81,811
806 392
(1,092) 6,410
442 66
(142) 142
6,409 8,476
(54,218) (42,587)
13,215 2,804
(10,990) —
(23,569) (47,006)
593,215 656,832
(233,165) (75,333)
(4,794) 26,421
(55,073) 2,953
(4,572) (2)
47,615 300,441
(6,542) (12,042)
336,684 899,270
(195,807) (127,302)
140,877 771,968
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
SHIRERER

Year ended 31 December 2013

BHE2013F128318LLFE

Yashili International Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2013

2013 2012
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Ffit 51 AREFIT A RBEF T

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING KREFTHVERS

ACTIVITIES
Interest received 2R 2 33,488 26,484
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEMHE - BERXME

plant and equipment Fir S K18 5,057 2,809
Proceeds from sales of other investments & E fih h S PSS RRIA 2,763,464 1,396,006
Receipts of other bank deposits Hih iR T EMEIH

at maturity &N 1,207,872 —
Payment of other bank deposits HhR1TERNONR (788,758) (902,500)
Acquisition of property, plant BEME  MERRE

and equipment (255,260) (208,161)
Acquisition of intangible assets BERIEE (4,204) (509)
Deposit for acquisition of land use right 8% & + ith E’]/T:i (11,421) (90,630)
Acquisition of other non-current assets ~ BE S EfthIE e & &= (124,529) (4,014)
Acquisition of other investments BEHEMKESE (2,983,500) (1,369,000)
Deposit for performance bond related Sz {9 B o dih 50 R i

to land use right 18 B8 B0 & {0 1R 58 & (10,533) —
Other effect from investing activities Hith % &5 &) = 4,648
Net cash flows used REFMMAREFEH

in investing activities (168,324) (1,144,867)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING AMEFERERE

ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from loans SRR R 614,562 361,340
Proceeds from share issued for exercise of AR & 17 & Ux & JB’] I8

share option 31,301 —
Receipts of pledged deposits at H 8R 17 16 X8 RA 0

maturity in relation to bank loans 21 1B #6519 7 R UK 495,420 65,638
Payment of pledged deposits in relation B3 88 17 15 71 18 B8 0 #L 49

to bank loans 17 BT R (383,550) (292,789)
Repayments of interest-bearing Bt REM

bank loans (741,777) (61,787)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests U &% 4> 84 A% &R & 73 (28,000) =
Interest paid E i % (4,887) (2,660)
Dividends paid ENER (1,407,803) (200,103)
Dividend of prior year paid to =AY %’S’J\%ZH%?L\)\ETJ

non-controlling shareholder FE RN (19,800) =
Net cash flows used in financing MEEENTAREFER

activities (1,444,534) (130,361)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND Iﬁﬁ&fﬁﬁ%fgm

CASH EQUIVALENTS R 3 (1,471,981) (503,260)
Cash and cash equivalents F1 iﬁﬁ&lﬁﬁ% 24

at beginning of year =% 2,073,161 2,581,563
Effect of exchange rate changes [EREEFEIRE Ké

on cash and cash equivalents RELZBMNTE 10,204 (5,142)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRRERIRES 24

AT END OF YEAR B4 611,384 2,073,161




NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Interests in subsidiaries

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Prepayments, deposits and
other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other payables and accruals

Interest-bearing bank loan
Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS

Net assets

EQUITY
Issued capital
Reserves

Total equity

Mr. Zhang Lidian
SReifll $ 5 4=
Director

25

FATRIR - BE K
H th & WK IR

ReENIBESEM

S ED AR 2= 4@ B
MONE ERRER

meEa’
Hfih f& I FRIBFO
fEstEA
STRIRTTEM
MBBRREA

mEN(&fE) EE

P28

PETRIR
(EXiE]

& 7 4

®}

]

pe
oR

cl

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

NGRS

2013
Notes RMB’000
fy 5t AREFT
18 2,180,626
2,180,626
22
24 2,196
2,196
26
11,088
27 =
11,088
(8.892)
2,171,734
29 305,532
30 1,866,202
2,171,734

Mr. Li Dongming
TRAKE
Director

25

31 December 2013
2013128318

2012
RMB'000
ARMEF T

3,203,523
3,203,523

96,458
348

96,806

9,245
80,912

90,157

6,649
3,210,172

302,601
2,907,571

3,210,172

929
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 17 B 75 ¥ < B 5E

31 December 2013
2013128318

Corporate Information

Yashili International Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 3 June 2010 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law, Chapter
22, (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands. The address of its registered office is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2013 comprise the financial statements of the Company
and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”). The
Group is primarily engaged in the manufacture and sale of dairy
and nourishment products.

On 17 June 2013, an announcement was jointly issued by the
Company, China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (the “Offeror
Parent”) and China Mengniu International Company Limited (the
“Offeror”) in relation to (1) the acquisition of all ordinary shares of
the Company'’s issued share capital; and (2) the cancellation of all
unexercised options of the Company. On 16 July 2013, the
voluntary general offer of the acquisition of the Company’s all
outstanding shares of the Company’s issued share capital and the
cancellation of all unexercised options has been approved and
confirmed in the Special General Meeting of the Offeror Parent
Group, the offer officially completed at 4:00 p.m. on 13 August
2013. The offeror becomes the holding company of the Company,
and the Offeror Parent becomes the ultimate holding shareholder
of the Company.

A=

HLTHERERSRAT (R
R2010F6 3B RBEMEH S L T
BRNREBGIFR=RZEH &6
HNES) EHRESHESEMMIIBE
BRBRLE - HEMM BRI B
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman

Islands °

BHE2013F 128318 LEFENSHY
BHREQIB RS R EMNE LS (K
WIAEEH)NWHFEER - KREHEE
WBRENBEEHRDNEER °

2013F68178 » IRr5) » PETEF
(XBERATTENAZRI) KPH
STHBRERA T2 AL KBS
mrE ARBER (1WKRERLTE
BITRAPHNEBRQFHARNIE
B ARITEBVEARE - 2013F73168 -
WERRBEETRAPHNEIL AR
SEETRMWLEHEE S RITEN
HRENEREEAREZSNEZNA
BREEERFAINRRAS L ESAEPS
0t SR - M2013F88 138 NF (06
ZHAWRBERTR - ZHOAMRBRKRAR
SNZERLT  BENASRIMB
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.1 Basis of Presentation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”), which
comprise standards and interpretations approved by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), and
International Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and Standing
Interpretations Committee interpretations approved by the
International Accounting Standards Committee, and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have
been prepared under the historical cost convention. In addition,
these consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
("RMB") and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except
when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended
31 December 2013. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains control,
and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the
non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and
liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control described in the accounting policy
for subsidiaries below. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

B fFF B 5 ¥ 2R Bff 5

31 December 2013
2013128318

2.1 R

525 55 ¥R 7= TH IR 4% B0 R B 5 3y &5 2
RITERAF RS ER D AKRSER
SR BBV IR BB AR E i & - B PR 75 4R
SEJAQEHEAKRST ERIESS
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N BERSEATESHIEN
BIR S5t ER ((BHRSHER D) RE
BEREESRR - 2FVWHRREIE
RIFRELAANIEF R - I ZF
OHVBREAARBTARED 2
- RAEEEBEIIN FFEHEHAE
ERELNTUH-

BSHEE

SHVBBREERB AR REFLT
REZE2013F 128318 Lt FE N5
KRR FROANTBEREIIEH
B S5t ER - I 37 8 R S 18 6 B &
SHEGRER - TRINEEDWED
HEIMNEENESZEHE2B) e
REERN U EESHBEEZEH
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SRBERBEANRZBECHED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B fFF B #5 ¥k 2 Bff 5

31 December 2013
2013128318

2.1 Basis of Presentation (continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the
assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the
carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the
cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i) the fair
value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or
deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or
loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would
be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities.

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and

Disclosures

The Group has adopted the following new and revised IFRSs for the

first time for the current year’s financial statements.

IFRS 1 Amendments Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time adoption
of International Financial Reporting
Standards — Government Loans

Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures — Offsetting
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

IFRS 7 Amendments

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements
IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements
IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

2.1 5B )

BHE¥XE®)

WREBEAYE —BFLSHOE
B AEEERROZFLAINEE
(OEBE)RaE - () EOFEERIE
25 00 B T 188 2 (i) PO M 28 OS2 8RB R 5t
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BE-(FRBITRENA G BE
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BRI FEHEEESBASED
SENIBR Nt EEBR N ZRE -
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BIFEAE 5T B0 BR 7 5 3 &5 2E R

o 5 15 B B 1 55 ¥ 5 2E R
RSERY 5B 1SR E R IR AN B BX
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and

Disclosures (continued)

IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and

IFRS 12 Amendments

IFRS 13

IAS 1 Amendments

IAS 19 Amendments

IAS 27 (Revised)

IAS 28 (Revised)

IAS 36 Amendments

IFRIC 20

Annual Improvements
2009-2011 Cycle

The adoption of the new and revised IFRSs has had no significant

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and
IFRS 12 — Transition Guidance

Fair Value Measurement

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements — Presentation of
Items of Other Comprehensive Income

Amendments to IAS 19 Employee Benefits

Separate Financial Statements

Investments in Associates and
Joint Ventures

Amendments to IAS 36 Impairment
of Assets — Recoverable Amount
Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets
(early adopted)

Stripping Costs in the Production Phase
of a Surface Mine

Amendments to a number of IFRSs
issued in May 2012

financial effect on these financial statements.
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2.3 Issued but not Yet Effective
International Financial Reporting
Standards

The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial

statements.
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments?
IFRS 9, IFRS 7 and Hedge Accounting and amendments to

IAS 39 Amendments IFRS 9, IFRS 7 and IAS 392

IFRS 10, IFRS 12 Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and
and IAS 27 (Revised) IAS 27 (Revised) — Investment Entities’
Amendments

IFRS14 Requlatory Deferred Accounts®

IAS 19 Amendments  Amendments to IAS 19 Employee
Benefits — Defined Benefit Plans:
Employee Contributions?

IAS 32 Amendments Amendments to IAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation — Offsetting
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities’

IAS 39 Amendments Amendments to IAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement — Novation of Derivatives
and Continuation of Hedge Accounting’

IFRIC 21 Levies'

Annual Improvements  Amendments to number of IFRSs?
2010-2012 Cycle

Annual Improvements ~ Amendments to number of IFRSs’
2011-2013 Cycle
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.3 Issued but not Yet Effective

International Financial Reporting
Standards (Continued)

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2014
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014

No mandatory effective date yet determined but is available
for adoption

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2016

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is as follows:

IFRS 9 issued in November 2009 is the first part of phase 1 of a
comprehensive project to entirely replace IAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. This phase focuses on
the classification and measurement of financial assets. Instead of
classifying financial assets into four categories, an entity shall
classify financial assets as subsequently measured at either
amortised cost or fair value, on the basis of both the entity’s
business model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. This
aims to improve and simplify the approach for the classification and
measurement of financial assets compared with the requirements
of IAS 39.

In November 2010, the IASB issued additions to IFRS 9 to address
financial liabilities (the “Additions”) and incorporated in IFRS 9 the
current derecognition principles of financial instruments of IAS 39.
Most of the Additions were carried forward unchanged from IAS
39, while changes were made to the measurement of financial
liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss using the
fair value option (“FVO"). For these FVO liabilities, the amount of
change in the fair value of a liability that is attributable to changes
in credit risk must be presented in other comprehensive income
("OCI"). The remainder of the change in fair value is presented in
profit or loss, unless presentation of the fair value change in respect
of the liability’s credit risk in OCI would create or enlarge an
accounting mismatch in profit or loss. However, loan commitments
and financial guarantee contracts which have been designated
under the FVO are scoped out of the Additions.
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2.3 Issued but not Yet Effective

International Financial Reporting
Standards (Continued)

IAS 39 is aimed to be replaced by IFRS 9 in its entirety. Before this
entire replacement, the guidance in IAS 39 on impairment of
financial assets continues to apply. The previous mandatory
effective date of IFRS 9 was removed by the IASB in December 2013
and a mandatory effective date will be determined after the entire
replacement of IAS 39 is completed. However, the standard is
available for application now. The Group will quantify the effect in
conjunction with other phases, when the final standard including all
phases is issued.

Amendments to IFRS 10 include a definition of an investment entity
and provide an exception to the consolidation requirement for
entities that meet the definition of an investment entity. Investment
entities are required to account for subsidiaries at fair value through
profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9 rather than consolidate
them. Consequential amendments were made to IFRS 12 and IAS
27 (Revised). The amendments to IFRS 12 also set out the disclosure
requirements for investment entities. The Group expects that these
amendments will not have any impact on the Group as the
Company is not an investment entity as defined in IFRS 10.

The IAS 32 Amendments clarify the meaning of “currently has a
legally enforceable right to set off” for offsetting financial assets
and financial liabilities. The amendments also clarify the application
of the offsetting criteria in IAS 32 to settlement systems (such as
central clearing house systems) which apply gross settlement
mechanisms that are not simultaneous. The amendments are not
expected to have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group upon adoption on 1 January 2014.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the
Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that
give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority
of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s statement
of profit or loss to the extent of dividends received and receivable.
The Company’s investments in subsidiaries that are not classified as
held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 are stated at cost less any
impairment losses.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date
fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by
the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether
to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value
and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial
instrument and within the scope of IAS 39 is measured at fair value
with changes in fair value either recognised in profit or loss or as a
change to other comprehensive income. If the contingent
consideration is not within the scope of IAS 39, it is measured in
accordance with the appropriate IFRS. Contingent consideration
that is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (ontinued)
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable
net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-
generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of
the Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill
disposed of in these circumstances is measured based on the
relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its derivative financial instruments at fair value
at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the
liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or
liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the
most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The
fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the asset or
liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits
by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to
another market participant that would use the asset in its highest
and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorized within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level T — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
deferred tax assets and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of
the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

B fFF B 5 ¥ 2R Bff 5

31 December 2013
2013128318

24 TREFHBRBE =

nitfEEE @

HE3BR— WNERHABB2H L
ABENEEEANE.
Mt FETBRNHIRER
MBEERTRREAAE
g o

EEMBEERNBELRUETH R
TKELETERR SBREEESEHS
BRENEHFEDR - (REKEK
ERHMABHFREBNLOABES
EBEEAFE)RREESERBR L
BE i

FEeRNEERNE
SENRBTBIRBE HAERET
SEFERBUAN(F&  BEMSHR
EENEREEMRIN  RSTEEN
g EENITRCOEER/IE
NEENREELELNUNTHEEBR
ERNnBEREEMNRNRSSE @ WH
BREEEE EHEETRELERX
HBURNHEMEEXNSEERNIRE
mMA - RO REZE EPTE Y
REELSBMNER LEE - '
MEBREREERBDBEBREIJW
CQeREEAR - EHEEREBEK
f 5t 7R JRIR & M 8 JH 3% i A 7 IR =37
BEREBE - FAHRATRRRRTE
AHZHEBEGENRZEER ERAR
HstE - RERIRELEHBBSEDR
TPRBESENE —HOZTBRA
FOBR -

111

2013 FFE R

RriEMRERBRAS



112

Yashili International Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2013

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 1 B ¥5 ¥ R Bif 5

31 December 2013
2013128318

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If
such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A
previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to
an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of
profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@ the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

Related parties continued)
(b) (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a); and

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over
the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress,
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses. When an item of property, plant and equipment
is classified as held for sale or when it is part of a disposal group
classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated and is accounted for
in accordance with IFRS 5. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant
parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets
with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The estimated useful lives of
property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Plant and buildings 13-47 years
Machinery and equipment 5-10 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
Office equipment and others 5 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial
year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the statement
of profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the relevant asset.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Construction in progress represents property, plant and equipment
under construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of
construction and capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed
funds during the period of construction. Construction in progress is
reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in buildings held to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for use in the
production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of business. Such
properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses.

Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual value.
Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the estimated useful lives of investment properties. The
estimated useful lives range from 27.5 to 50 years. Depreciation
methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at each
reporting date.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year
of the retirement or disposal.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value as at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset
may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation
method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed
at least at each financial year end.

Office software

Office software is stated at cost less any impairment losses and is
amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of
5 years.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or loss as
incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate the
technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will
be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability
to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future economic
benefits, the availability of resources to complete the project and
the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the
development. Product development expenditure which does not
meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any impairment
losses and are amortised using the straight line basis over the
commercial lives of the underlying products, commencing from the
date when the products are put into commercial production.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of
assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating leases.
Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under
operating leases are included in non-current assets, and rentals
receivable under the operating leases are credited to the statement
of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.
Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating
leases are charged to the statement of profit or loss on the straight-
line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially
stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line basis
over the lease terms.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables and
available-for-sale financial investments, or as derivatives designated
as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. When
financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair
value plus transaction costs that are attributable to the acquisition
of the financial assets, except in the case of financial assets
recorded at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any
allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking
into account any discount or premium on acquisition and includes
fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in other income
and gains in the statement of profit or loss. The loss arising from
impairment is recognised in the statement of profit or loss in
finance costs for loans and in other expenses for receivables.

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative financial
assets in listed and unlisted equity investments and debt securities.
Equity investments classified as available for sale are those which
are neither classified as held for trading nor designated as at fair
value through profit or loss. Debt securities in this category are
those which are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time
and which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or in
response to changes in market conditions.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (Continued)

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments are
subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised gains or losses
recognised as other comprehensive income in the available-for-sale
investment revaluation reserve until the investment is derecognised,
at which time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss in other income and gains, or until the
investment is determined to be impaired, when the cumulative gain
or loss is reclassified from the available-for-sale investment
revaluation reserve to the statement of profit or loss in other gains
or losses. Interest and dividends earned whilst holding the available-
for-sale financial investments are reported as interest income and
dividend income, respectively and are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss as other income in accordance with the policies set
out for “Revenue recognition” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot be
reliably measured because (a) the variability in the range of
reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that investment or (b)
the probabilities of the various estimates within the range cannot
be reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value, such
investments are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to sell its
available-for-sale financial assets in the near term are still
appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group is unable to
trade these financial assets due to inactive markets, the Group may
elect to reclassify these financial assets if management has the
ability and intention to hold the assets for the foreseeable future or
until maturity.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-sale category,
the fair value carrying amount at the date of reclassification
becomes its new amortised cost and any previous gain or loss on
that asset that has been recognised in equity is amortised to profit
or loss over the remaining life of the investment using the effective
interest rate. Any difference between the new amortised cost and
the maturity amount is also amortised over the remaining life of the
asset using the effective interest rate. If the asset is subsequently
determined to be impaired, then the amount recorded in equity is
reclassified to the statement of profit or loss.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial
assets held for trading and financial assets designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets
are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose
of sale in the near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded
derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments as defined by IAS 39.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with positive net
changes in fair value presented as other income and gains and
negative net changes in fair value presented as finance costs in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. These net fair value
changes do not include any dividends or interest earned on these
financial assets, which are recognised in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair value
through profit or loss are designated at their initial recognition date
and only if the criteria in IAS 39 are satisfied.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for as
separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host
contracts and the host contracts are not held for trading or
designated as at fair value though profit or loss. These embedded
derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the terms of
the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that would
otherwise be required or a reclassification of a financial asset out of
the fair value through profit or loss category.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Group'’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset, or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under
a "pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset;
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it
evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk and rewards
of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case,
the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset have
an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
Evidence of impairment may include indications that a debtor or a
group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty,
default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as
changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with
defaults.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists
individually for financial assets that are individually significant, or
collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If
the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment
exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant
or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with
similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for
impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment
and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised
are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses
that have not yet been incurred). The present value of the estimated
future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at
initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an
allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss. Interest income continues to be accrued
on the reduced carrying amount and is accrued using the rate of
interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of
measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with
any associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic
prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realised or
has been transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment
loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a
write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to other
expenses in the statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at fair
value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, or on a
derivative asset that is linked to and must be settled by delivery of
such an unquoted equity instrument, the amount of the loss is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at
the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset.
Impairment losses on these assets are not reversed.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective
hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the
case of loans and borrowings, net of directly attributable transaction
costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
other payables and interest-bearing bank loans.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include

financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated
upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are
acquired for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This
category includes derivative financial instruments entered into by
the Group that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge
relationships as defined by IAS 39. Separated embedded derivatives
are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as
effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for
trading are recognised in the statement of profit or loss. The net
fair value gain or loss recognised in the statement of profit or loss
does not include any interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial
recognition and only if the criteria in IAS 39 are satisfied.

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing bank loans are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation
is included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and
a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if, and
only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Derivative financial instruments

Initial recognition and measurement

The Group holds derivative financial instruments to manage its
foreign currency exposure. Derivative financial instruments are
recognised initially at fair value. At the end of each reporting
period, the fair value is remeasured. The gain or loss on
remeasurement to fair value is recognised immediately in profit or
loss, except where the derivatives qualify for cash flow hedge
accounting in which case recognition of any resultant gain or loss
depends on the nature of the item being hedged. Where a
derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge of the
variability in cash flows of a recognised asset or liability or a highly
probable forecast transaction or the foreign currency risk of a
committed future transaction, the effective portion of any gains or
losses on remeasurement of the derivative financial instrument to
fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the hedging reserve. The
ineffective portion of any gain or loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)

Derivative financial instruments (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)
During the years ended 31 December 2013 and 2012, the Group’s
derivative has not been qualified as effective cash flow hedging.
The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value is recognised
immediately to profit or loss. Related financial assets/liabilities were
recognised/derecognised on the date the Group commits to
purchase/sell the contract or they expire.

Current versus non-current classification

Derivative instruments that are not designated as effective hedging
instruments are classified as current or non-current or separated
into current and non-current portions based on an assessment of
the facts and circumstances (i.e., the underlying contracted cash
flows).

o Where the Group expects to hold a derivative as an economic
hedge (and does not apply hedge accounting) for a period
beyond 12 months after the end of the reporting period, the
derivative is classified as non-current (or separated into
current and non-current portions) consistently with the
classification of the underlying item.

o Embedded derivatives that are not closely related to the host
contract are classified consistently with the cash flows of the
host contract.

. Derivative instruments that are designated as, and are
effective hedging instruments, are classified consistently with
the classification of the underlying hedged item. The
derivative instruments are separated into current portions and
non-current portions only if a reliable allocation can be made.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on the weighted average cost basis and, in the
case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct
materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads.
Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits,
and short-term highly liquid investments which are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of
generally within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which
are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting
period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle
the obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside
profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods
are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid
to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and
practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for
financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

3 when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused
tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of an
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each
reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally
enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity
and the same taxation authority.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates
to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the costs, which it is intended to compensate,
are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a
deferred income account and is released to the statement of profit
or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the
asset and released to the statement of profit or loss by way of a
reduced depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of
ownership of the goods have been transferred to the buyer,
provided that the Group maintains neither managerial involvement
to the degree usually associated with ownership, nor effective
control over the goods sold.

Rental income
Revenue is recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms.

Interest income

Revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest
method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Dividends

Revenue is recognised when the shareholders’ right to receive the
payment has been established.

Employee benefits

Defined contribution plans

The Group's subsidiaries operating in the People’s Republic of China
(the "PRC") except for Hong Kong (“Mainland China”) participate
in a central defined contribution retirement benefit plan managed
by the local municipal government in the locations in which they
operate. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
companies’ payroll costs and are charged to the consolidated
income statement as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the central defined contribution retirement benefit plan.

Short term employee benefits

Short term employee benefit obligations are measured on an
undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is
provided.

A provision is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under
short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a
result of past services provided by the employee and the obligation
can be estimated reliably.

Share-based payments

The Group operates share option schemes for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group's operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form
of share-based payments, whereby employees render services as
consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured
by reference to the fair value at the date on which they are granted.
The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial
model, further details of which are given in note 31 to the financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with
a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the
performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled in employee
benefit expense. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-
settled transactions at the end of each reporting period until the
vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has
expired and the Group's best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the
statement of profit or loss for a period represents the movement in
the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of
that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest,
except for equity-settled transactions where vesting is conditional
upon a market or non-vesting condition, which are treated as
vesting irrespective of whether or not the market or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or
service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, the
minimum expense recognised is the expense as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. An
additional expense is recognised for any modification that increases
the total fair value of the equity-settled transactions or is otherwise
beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where a share-based option award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of
either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new
award is substituted for the cancelled award, and designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the
original award, as described in the previous paragraph. Any
payment made to the employee on the cancellation or settlement
of the grant shall be accounted for as the repurchase of an equity
interest, i.e. as a deduction from equity, except to the extent that
the payment exceeds the fair value of the equity instruments
granted, measured at the repurchase date. Any such excess shall be
recognised as an expense.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or
sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The
capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed
in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of
interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors of the Company (the
“Directors”) are classified as a separate allocation of retained profits
within the equity section of the statement of financial position, until
they have been approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
When these dividends have been approved by the shareholders and
declared, they are recognised as a liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
based on the assessment of its specific facts and circumstances. As
the Group mainly operates in Mainland China, RMB is used as the
presentation currency of the Group. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using
their respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency rates
of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences
arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss with the exception
of monetary items that are designated as part of the hedge of the
Group's net investment of a foreign operation. These are recognised
in other comprehensive income until the net investment is disposed
of, at which time the cumulative amount is reclassified to the
statement of profit or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to
exchange differences on those monetary items are also recorded in
other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or
loss arising on retranslation of a non-monetary item measured at
fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss
on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on
the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of certain entities comprising the Group
are currencies other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into
the presentation currency of the Company at the exchange rates
prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their statements
of profit or loss are translated into RMB at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year. The resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation,
the component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout
the year are translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange
rates for the year.
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3. Significant Accounting Judgements

and Estimates

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, which have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:

Classification between investment properties and
own-occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualified as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making that
judgement. Investment property is a property held to earn rentals or
for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group considers
whether a property generates cash flows largely independently of
the other assets held by the Group. Some properties comprise a
portion that is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and
another portion that is held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services or for administrative purposes. If these portions
could be sold separately or leased out separately under a finance
lease, the Group accounts for the portions separately. If the
portions could not be sold separately, the property is an investment
property only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes. Judgement is made on an individual property basis to
determine whether ancillary services are so significant that a
property does not qualify as an investment property.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. Significant Accounting Judgements

and Estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are described below.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences and all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences and the unused tax losses can be utilised.
Significant management judgement is required to determine the
amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon
the likely timing and level of future taxable profits, which affects
the probability of utilisation and the tax rate to be used in the
calculations. Details of deferred tax assets are contained in note 19
to the financial statements.

Impairment of trade and other receivables

The Group determines the provision for impairment of trade and
other receivables based on an assessment of the recoverability of
the receivables. This assessment is based on the credit history of its
customers and other debtors and the current market condition.
Management reassesses the provisions at the end of each reporting
period. Details of impairment of trade receivables are contained in
note 21 to the financial statements.

3.
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Significant Accounting Judgements
and Estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Share-based payments

The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with
employees by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments
at the date at which they are granted. Estimating fair value requires
determining the most appropriate valuation model for a grant of
equity instruments, which is dependent on the terms and conditions
of the grant. This also requires determining the most appropriate
inputs to the valuation model including the expected life of the
option, volatility and dividend yield and making assumptions about
them. The assumptions and models used are disclosed in note 31 to
the financial statements.

Useful lives, residual values and depreciation of
items of property, plant and equipment

The Group determines the estimated useful lives and related
depreciation charges for its property, plant and equipment. This
estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual useful
lives of property, plant and equipment of similar nature and
functions. The Group will revise the depreciation charges where
useful lives are different to those previously estimated, or it will
write off or write down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets
that have been abandoned or sold. Actual economic lives may differ
from estimated useful lives; actual residual values may differ from
estimated residual values. Periodic review could result in a change
in depreciable lives and residual values and therefore depreciation
expenses in the future periods.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Operating Segment Information

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on their products and services and has four reportable
operating segments as follows:

(@  Production and sale of Yashily pediatric milk formula products
— this segment includes the development, manufacture and
sale of Yashily pediatric milk formula products and milk
formula for pregnant women in the PRC and overseas.

(b)  Production and sale of Scient pediatric milk formula products
— this segment includes the development, manufacture and
sale of Scient pediatric milk formula products and milk
formula for pregnant women in the PRC and overseas.

(¢)  Production and sale of nutrition products — this segment
includes the development, manufacture and sale of milk
powder for adults and teenagers, soymilk powder, rice flour
and cereal products in the PRC and overseas.

(d)  Other operations include the production and sale of packing
materials, which mainly serve the Group’s internal use, and
sale of surplus raw materials. The results of these operations
are included in the “others” column.

For the purpose of assessing segment performance and allocating
resources among segments, the senior executive management team
assesses the performance of the operating segments based on a
measure of “reportable segment profit”, i.e., “revenue less cost of
sales and selling and distribution expenses”. The Group does not
allocate other income and gains, other net loss, net finance costs,
expenses other than certain selling and distribution expenses to its
segments, as the senior executive management does not use this
information to allocate resources to or evaluate the performance of
the operating segments. Segment assets and liabilities are not
regularly reported to the Group's senior executive management and
therefore information of reportable segment assets and liabilities
are not presented in these financial statements.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to
the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then
prevailing market prices.
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4. Operating Segment Information (continued)

Segment revenue:

Sales to external
customers

Intersegment sales

Reconciliation:
Elimination
of intersegment sales

Total revenue

Segment results
Reconciliation:
Finance income
Finance costs
Unallocated other
income and gains
and other net less

Unallocated
other expenses

Profit before tax
Income tax expense

Profit for the year

Other segment
information:
Depreciation
and amortisation
Unallocated amounts

Total depreciation
and amortisation
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Year ended 31 December 2013

KEnER =

HZE2013F128318ILFE
Yashily Scient
pediatric pediatric
milk formula milk formula Nutrition
products products products Others Total
i e &
BWRER BHREA
W3 = Go W3 = Go Z2E8m Hith 55t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETIT ARBTT ARETIT ARETIT ARBTIT
2,660,731 660,511 546,240 22,517 3,889,999
— — — 142,305 142,305
2,660,731 660,511 546,240 164,822 4,032,304
(142,305)
3,889,999
549,935 89,741 99,978 6,343 745,997
108,221
(13,215)
25,400
(289,686)
576,717
(137,393)
439,324
43,477 24,932 6,071 5,602 80,082
5,555
85,637




4. Operating Segment Information (continued)

Segment revenue:

Sales to external
customers

Intersegment sales

Reconciliation:
Elimination of
intersegment sales

Total revenue

Segment results
Reconciliation:
Finance income
Finance costs
Unallocated other
income and gains
and other net loss

Unallocated other
expenses

Profit before tax
Income tax expense

Profit for the year

Other segment
information:

Depreciation and
amortisation

Unallocated amounts

Total depreciation and
amortisation
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Yashily
pediatric milk
formula
products

M
LNRE S
951 EE &b
RMB’000
ARBFIT

2,478,269

2,478,269

589,072

34,582
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4. BENRBER »

Year ended 31 December 2012

EHE2012F1283181EFE
Scient
pediatric milk
formula Nutrition
products products Others Total
e R
LNRE S
951 EE Go ==l HAth &5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARBFT AREFT ARBFT
653,426 489,445 34,003 3,655,143
— — 141,823 141,823
653,426 489,445 175,826 3,796,966
(141,823)
3,655,143
97,859 107,800 (12,300) 782,431
89,749
(2,804)
37,239
(260,291)
646,324
(175,856)
470,468
22,158 4,550 3,273 64,563
17,248
81,811
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4. Operating Segment Information (continued)

Geographical information

The Group's revenue is solely from domestic sales during the year.
No export sales were recorded in the years ended 31 December
2013 and 2012. The Group’s senior executive management
periodically review the geographic analysis of the revenue derived
from Yashily and Scient pediatric milk formula products, which
summarises the revenue by different tiers of cities where the
Group's customers operate. The classification of the tiers is set out
below:

o First-tier cities generally include direct-controlled
municipalities, the highest level of cities under the direct
administration of the PRC central government, and provincial
capital cities, including but not limited to Beijing, Shanghai,
Nanchang, Chongging, Shijiazhuang and Guangzhou. As
there is no official classification, such classification is
determined based on our Directors’ knowledge and
experience;

o Second-tier cities generally refer to prefecture-level cities, the
administrative divisions of the PRC, ranking below a province
and above a county in China’s administrative structure,
including but not limited to Dongguan, Nanyang, Jiujiang and
Foshan. As there is no official classification, such classification
is determined based on our Directors’ knowledge and
experience;

o Third-tier cities generally refer to county-level cities, the
county-level administrative divisions of the PRC, including but
not limited to Jinjiang, Yunmeng, Bozhou, Kunshan and
Luohe. As there is no official classification, such classification
is determined based on our Directors’ knowledge and
experience.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B fFF B 5 ¥ 2R Bff 5

4. Operating Segment Information (continve) 4.

Geographical information (Continued)

Yashily pediatric milk formula products

Revenue derived from
— First-tier cities
— Second-tier cities
— Third-tier cities and others

Scient pediatric milk formula products

Revenue derived from
— First-tier cities
— Second-tier cities
— Third-tier cities and others
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2013
RMB’000
ARETT

273,561
1,032,870
1,354,300

2,660,731

69,962
415,222
175,327

660,511

31 December 2013
2013128318

2012
RMB’000
AREF T

313,625
1,108,857
1,055,787

2,478,269

65,996
437,142
150,288

653,426
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5. Revenue, Other Income and Gains

An analysis of the Group’s revenue, other income and gains is as

follows:
Revenue WA
Sales of goods & o tH &8
Other income and gains H fth Ut A K2 Uk 25
Government grants related to IEX i 4@ BN
— Compensation for —HEEESE
expenses incurred Bu1E &
— Compensation for acquisition —HESEEN
of assets 1@ fa
— Taxes refund — R
Compensation income 1BmIE WA
Rental income Ml & WA
Others Hfth
Notes:

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacture and sale of dairy and
nourishment products. Revenue, which is also the Group's turnover,
represents the sales value of goods supplied to customers. Revenue
excludes sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

The Group's customer base is diversified and no revenue from transactions
with a single customer amounted to 10% or more of the Group's total
revenue during the year.

Compensation income mainly represented forfeitures received from
distributor customers for cross territorial sales that breached the terms of
distribution agreements during the year.

5. WA ~Hithig A U &=

REHHWA - Bt A KRB @BI D

a0
2013 2012
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
ffy 5% ARETFIT ABREEFIT
(@) 3,889,999 3,655,143
1,370 3,350
6,542 12,042
5,228 10,418
(b) 2,415 5,100
8,622 4,937
2,029 1,784
26,206 37,631

B 5% -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. Other Expenses

Losses on disposal of inventory FEREEBR
Impairment for property, plant B E & &= Rl E
and equipment (note 14) (Pg5E14)
Others Hfib
Notes:

(a) Losses on disposal of inventory mainly represented losses arising from
stocktake loss, disposal of damped or deteriorated inventory and disposal
of packaging.

(b) Others in 2013 include charitable donations mainly to charitable
organisations amounting to RMB7,450,000 (2012: RMB3,897,000).

B fF 81 ¥5 ¥R 2 B 5

31 December 2013
20135128318

6. Hfthfdsz

2013 2012
Notes RMB’000 RMB‘000
ffy 5% AR FIT AR FIT
(a) 297 2,091
— 6,410
(b) 10,551 6,201
10,848 14,702

By 5t -

(a)

(b)

FERBIBREDHBANBIIBR  RE
AHARERABENEFERREA K
YD P EE R BOIR AR ©

20B3FRMNHEMER OB O ES KRB
8 7% = 18 8 H 5t A R #7,450,0007T
(20124 : AR#¥3,897,0007T) °
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75 ¥ 2R Bt 5F

31 December 2013
2013128318

7. Profit Before Tax

The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

*

Cost of goods sold

Depreciation of items of property,
plant and equipment*

Depreciation of investment
properties

Amortisation of prepaid land
lease payments

Amortisation of other non-current
assets

Amortisation of intangible assets

Total depreciation and amortisation

Minimum lease payments under
operating leases of buildings
Auditors’ remuneration

Employee benefit expense *
(excluding Directors’ and chief

executive’s remuneration (note 9)):

Wages, salaries and allowances

Pension scheme contributions
(defined contribution schemes)

Equity-settled share-based
payment expenses

Interest income
Foreign exchange gain, net
Gains on other investments

Total financial income

Loss on disposal of items of property,

plant and equipment, net

Impairment of trade receivables

Impairment of inventories

Impairment of property, plant
and equipment

Rental income on investment properties

& Go 88 B AUR
M - BB KR EBIRE
e

KREMERE

TS T & IR
18 88
HhIEmen & & # s

I & E#
Tﬁ%&&ﬁﬁ%@%ﬁ
BEERHNKEESHEE

RREE
1% 248 B &

EERNE* (NEIE
SEBNEETH
NC=E
(B 5£9))

I&E -FHe KR

BINE st 8 H R
(B8R H ?J”\oJrilJ)

Rig&ERM
AT

=T ON
B 5o U 25 5 48
2 1th 46 8 0 U 2%
PEATON T

WEME - BB R
5018 1B B 0518
$ 5
£ 5 € U 08 #RL 8

7 &5 6 (8

M RS
8

1A MR YA

Part of these costs and expenses were included in “Cost of goods sold” as

disclosed above.

7.

B 5 /s
7 & B 00 BR 2 51 & A T3 A8 H0 bR (18
) RIBIREST RS :
2013 2012
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
By 5 AREFT ARBETIT
1,809,888 1,693,452
14 69,250 72,681
15 4,253 1,673
16 4,597 2,935
5,533 2,604
17 2,004 1,918
85,637 81,811
14,465 10,593
4,740 2,380
340,091 288,401
46,582 18,342
31 6,409 6,933
393,082 313,676
(60,308) (42,587)
(24,344) (156)
(23,569) (47,006)
(108,221) (89,749)
806 392
21 415 66
= 142
14 = 6,410
(8,622) (4,937)

BANZERARNERCASHE Lt
RENIEREE/MR]IP -
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20135128318

8. Finance Costs 8. MBK&EM
2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREEFIT ARBFIT
Interest on bank loans wholly repayable BRAOFREBHERE
within five years BIRITERBNN R 13,344 2,804
Less: Interest capitalised to construction i RE RV R
in progress (note 14) 2TRENNSR
(PF5E14) (129) —
13,215 2,804
Borrowing costs capitalised for the year are calculated by applying BEBRVEENESE  ERNES R
the following capitalisation rate per annum to expenditure on NEZREEB N ES KX
qualifying assets: (=1
2013 2012
Capitalisation rate BRI = 1.02% —

2013 FEFE R
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2013128318

9. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s 9.
Remuneration

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s
remuneration
The Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the
years ended 31 December 2013 and 2012, disclosed pursuant
to the Hong Kong Listing Rules and Section 161 of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance are as follows:

EETE ko

(a)

EPNERogd

RESEBHEOXZMERL
SLELPRAKREER 71&%”
BTRIRENRFEESNRRBRH
- MEZE2013F 2012512
B31BLEFE SSKRBRIOU
SREMEWUT :

2013
Salaries,
allowances, Performance Share-based Pension
and benefits related payment scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses expenses contributions remuneration
HE - RBR e Bzt RiKEsE
ok BMiE BRANES 53 &N i B 4@ 28
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETT ARETT AREBFRT ARETRT AREFIT
Executive directors HNTES
— Mr. Zhang Lidian — o il 8 S & = 597 412 333 12 1,354
— Mr. Li Dongming (i) — ZSER B S A (i) = 296 194 = 9 499
— Mr. Zhang Yanpeng — oRMEME & - 486 180 51 12 729
— Mr. Zhang Likun (ii) — SR 7R 8 e A= (ii) = 337 282 = 12 631
— Mr. Zhang Liming (ii) — 3R 7l BB S A= (ii) = 325 281 = 12 618
— Mr. Zhang Libo (ii) — SRR e A (i) - 429 380 - 12 821
- 2,470 1,729 384 69 4,652
Non-executive directors FHNTES
— Ms. Sun Yiping (i) —HRPELZ L) - - - - — —
— Mr. Ding Sheng (i) — T ERGA() — — — — — —
— Mr. Wu Jingshui (i) — RRKFEE() = = = = = =
— Mr. Chang Herman
Hsiu Guo (ii) — SR B0 9t = (ii) s = = = = =
— Mr. Zhang Chi (ii) — o 3t 4 &= (i) — — — — — —
Independent non-executive
directors BIUFNTES
— Mr. Chen Yongquan (i) — PR AR e E (i) 54 — — — — 54
— Mr. Yu Shimao (iv) —REEEE) 65 = = = = 65
— Mr. Samuel King On Wong (iv) — & & % 5t 4 (iv) 337 — — — — 337
— Mr. Liu Jinting (iv) — B8 FE 5 K (iv) 61 — — — — 61
— Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben (v) —BF®EEWV 19 — — — — 19
— Mr. Cheng Shoutai (v) — R RIHE() 19 — — — — 19
— Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway (vi) — Z= 8 87 5 4= (vi) 14 — = - — 14
569 — — — — 569
569 2,470 1,729 384 69 5,221
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9. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s
Remuneration (continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s
remuneration (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

(vi)

On 24 July 2013, Mr. Li Dongming was appointed as
executive director; Ms. Sun Yiping, Mr. Ding Sheng and
Mr. Wu Jingshui were appointed as non-executive
directors.

On 13 August 2013, Mr. Zhang Likun, Mr. Zhang
Liming and Mr. Zhang Libo resigned as executive
directors; Mr. Chang Herman Hsiu Guo and Mr. Zhang
Chi resigned as non-executive directors.

Mr. Chen Yongquan, an independent non-executive
director, passed away on 15 October 2013.

On 15 November 2013, Mr. Yu Shimao, Mr. Samuel
King On Wong and Mr. Liu Jinting resigned as
independent non-executive directors.

On 15 November 2013, Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben and Mr.
Cheng Shoutai were appointed as independent non-
executive directors.

On 27 November 2013, Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway was
appointed as an independent non-executive director.

B fF 81 ¥5 ¥R 2 B 5

31 December 2013
2013128318

9. EENREBFEHM o

(a) EBLBHEFN =

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

R2013F 78248 » =&HR68
CEREEIRANTES  HF
PR - TREEMNRS
KEERETTIRIENTE
%o

of /) 18 5 A~ ok /I B3 St A=
TORMREEFRTIATSE
B RIMEI e E R SRt e &=
BrIEFAITES 82013
F8H13BEM -

BUERTEBRNR %K
H£R20135F108158 Bt »

REEIE - B A ER
QU EH EBH T BILIERN
T& B 82013F11815
BEM -

R2013F 118158 & &
TR ETRE ST R ERE
TRBIUFENTES >

R2013F 118278 » &)
BhRERTITRBILIEHR
===
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31 December 2013
2013128318

9. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s

Remuneration (continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s
remuneration (Continued)

Executive directors nTES
— Mr. Zhang Likun — RN S
— Mr. Zhang Liming — SR BA S &
— Mr. Zhang Lidian — SR8 St =
— Mr. Zhang Libo — SRR St
— Mr. Zhang Yanpeng — RIERE S E
Non-executive directors FRTES
— Mr. Zhang Chi — R3S

— Mr. Chang Herman Hsiu Guo — 3 il B 5k 4=

Independent non-executive

directors BIUFNTES
— Mr. Chen Yongquan —RXRTE
— Mr. Yu Shimao —RUERTE
— Mr. Samuel King On Wong ~ — &8RS 4=
— Mr. Liu Jinting — RIS E

Fees

%
RMB’000
AREFTT

64
65
341

470

470

Salaries,
allowances,
and benefits in
kind

e~ RBR
BN
RMB’000
ARMBTIT

480
420
588
420
420

2,328

2,328

9. EBRBEEM -

(a) EBLBHEFHN =

2012

Performance
related
bonuses
BISRGR
BRANRE
RMB’000
ARHEFTE

420
380
420
380
180

1,780

1,780

Share-based
payment
expenses

B

(53
RMB’000
ARMT 5T

237

36

273

273

Pension
scheme
contributions
BINEsH2
H™
RMB’000
ARHEFTT

47

Total
remuneration

HEMiRER
RMB'000
ARETTT

910
810
1,255
810
643

4,428

64
65
341

470

4,898
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9. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s 9.
Remuneration (continued)

(b) Five highest paid employees
One (2012: one) of the five highest paid individuals was a
director whose emoluments have been shown above. Details
of emoluments paid to the remaining four (2012: four) non-
director, highest paid individuals who are neither a director
nor chief executive of the Company for the year was as
follows:

e RBKRBMN
REEERNEE
BINE 5T & H R

(BB FNEHED

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind
Performance related bonuses
Pension scheme contributions

(defined contribution schemes)

The number of the non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the
following band is as follows:

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 Y8 851,000,001 7T &
Y8 #5 1,500,000 JT
Y8 51,500,001 T E
Y& 52,000,000 JT
Y2 000,001 T &
Y8 #% 2 500,000 7T

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B fFF B 5 ¥ 2R Bff 5

31 December 2013
2013128318

EERAFTHM

(b) hEeRSHMERS
Rfl R B#H AL EIE— 112012
F:—f)ESB BRARSNNE
EREREXRE - RFEESA
H R0 (20124  (OfD) F &
= BEFBROIBASHHE
0T :

2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT ARBTIT
3,019 2,940

2,365 2,428

76 107

5,460 5,475

e ACANERNIEESKIE
RINFESHFWNEEHRBSW

~:

Number of employees

EE&HB

2013 2012
1 1
2 2
1 1
4 4
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B fFF B #5 ¥k 2 Bff 5

31 December 2013
2013128318

10. Income Tax Expense 10. PR 1S T} B 3%
2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREEFIT AREEFIT
Current income tax R0 HA PT 15 e 145,073 163,833
Adjustments recognised in the year for 7 5 (A fifg sR DA 7 F 2 B9 RN A
current tax of prior years i 18 5 & 2,349 (410)
Deferred income tax I SE Py 15 7t (10,029) 12,433
Tax charge for the year RFEEMIBESZH 137,393 175,856
A reconciliation of the income tax expense applicable to profit TEFEN PR BN % & B A 2
before tax at the PRC statutory income tax rate and the income tax Prisitin =5t 80P SRSz 1%
expense at the Group's effective income tax rate for the year is as RAEBERMEMRESTENME
follows: < - HERW :
2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T T A RBEF T
Profit before tax 7 e 51 e ) 576,717 646,324
At the PRC statutory tax rate of 25% & DA E M = 25%
(2012: 25%) (i) (20124 : 25%) (i) 144,179 161,581
Adjustments recognised in the year for ~ RERFERLAEFEEZ
current tax of prior years RO HA e 18 53 B 2,349 (410)
Effect of non-deductible expenses NEIE il A 4,535 4,379
Effect of preferential tax rates on current & 287 2% % B Hf /& I iR 18
tax payable (ii) B9 7 28 (ii) (7,620) (3,874)
Effect of tax rate difference (i) R 2= 05 2 () = (688)
Unrecognised temporary differences INERE =2 NN IR 18
and tax losses 13,105 9,076
Utilisation of previously unrecognised MAAERERE T =R
temporary differences and losses K18 (9,190) (9,548)
Withholding income tax (iii) T8 1% P 15 e (iii) 13,000 20,400
Effect of non-taxable income NG ONE -2 (2,622) (5,060)
Tax deductible loss on intragroup transfer 7 S) S5 % i 82 5% 3 | #2 (4
of equity interests in subsidiary 8 KR (20,343) =
Tax charge for the year at TRF B 2 RN X518 09
the effective rate e I8 57 1B 137,393 175,856

Yashili International Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2013



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10. Income Tax Expense (continued)

(i)

(ii)

The effect of tax rate difference mainly represented the effect
of differences in tax rates among the Company and its
subsidiaries and the tax effect arising from differences
between the tax rate of 25% being applied in the
computation of the expected income tax and the rate for
recognising the deferred tax.

Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC passed
by the Tenth National People’s Congress on 16 March 2007 (the
“New Tax Law"), the statutory income tax rate of the Group'’s
PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008. There are
transitional preferential tax treatments available under the
New Tax Law and its relevant regulations.

All PRC subsidiaries of the Group are subject to a unified
income tax rate of 25% in 2013.

Yashili (Zhengzhou) Nourishment Co., Ltd. (“Yashili
(Zhengzhou)”), a manufacturing Foreign-Investment
Enterprise established in Zhengzhou Economic and
Technological Development Zone, was exempted from
income tax for 2009 and subject to income tax at 11%, 12%,
12.5% and 25% for 2010, 2011, 2012 and 2013 onwards,
respectively.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”), the Group is not
subject to any income tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI.

The provision for Hong Kong tax for 2013 is calculated at
16.5% (2012: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profit for
the year.

B fF 81 ¥5 ¥R 2 B 5

31 December 2013
2013128318

10. FR ST B 32 =)

(i)

AEMENFELTREERAT
ISE=L ) WNCIVAS PR NEE RS
N E UARGTERMMEHRE
Pt 158 A3 89 25 % iffe 2 52 B SRR & M
IR 65 AT 1L AR BV i XN [S) Pl 2 A= 89

=77
VA=

REE+TREBEHARNE
PR2007538168 88 9P E
ABRHETEEFRMRFEMZE) (H#
MaD  REBPENELS S
20081818 #£ 8V A & A 15 i
iR 2B 25% © M)A R 18 RE A
MTBBELENMBFERS
8 o

REEBRPEANMEF TR
2013F HIFF 1SR M K H25% °

LR (BN EEBBRL D
(M3 £ R (RN D) R 7 SR 7
RiiFEEEMRIINEEZERING
BREP ¥ WR2009F % # M5
iR - M A 20104 ~ 20114 ~ 2012
FR2013FNME MR XA 55
B11% ~12% ~ 12.5% 52 25% ©

REMNEHENRNBRELES
(RERZHES) NWREKE
M REBRERAETHESHERR
BRZESEMIOMSH -

REB013F B SHEER
CATRFE NG5t ESRBORN @ 1%
8816.5% (20124 : 16.5%) B89 iR
KR ©
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2013128318

10. Income Tax Expense (continued)

(iii)

Pursuant to the New Tax Law and its relevant regulations,
PRC-resident enterprises are levied withholding tax at 10% on
dividends to their non-PRC resident corporate investors for
profits earned since 1 January 2008. Under the Sino-Hong
Kong Double Tax Arrangement and its relevant regulations, a
qualified Hong Kong tax resident which is the “beneficiary
owner” and holds 25% equity interests or more of a PRC
enterprise is entitled to a reduced withholding tax rate of 5%.
On this basis, the Group has been approved to enjoy the
withholding tax rate of 5% from 2010 to 2012 on the
distributable profits generated by PRC subsidiaries. Based on
the communication with relevant tax authorities, the Directors
understand that the Hong Kong parent company of the PRC
subsidiaries will continue to be eligible for such a preferential
withholding tax rate of 5% in 2013 upon the profit
distribution by the PRC subsidiaries for the year ended 31
December 2013, hence the Company applied a 5%
withholding tax on the expected distributions of the PRC
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2013. The
Company will be subject to a 10% withholding tax rate if this
preferential withholding tax rate is not approved by local tax
authorities.

11. Profit Attributable to Owners of the
Company

The consolidated profit attributable to owners of the Company for

the year ended 31

December 2013 includes a profit of

RMB400,691,000 (2012: RMB202,834,000) which has been dealt
with in the financial statements of the Company (note 30(b)).

10. FRiSHi B 32 =)

(iii)

IR TOEREMBRER P&
BRE*72008F 18108 i &t
HNNENBDFEPEHBREFEIER
EEREBRI BEWI10%TBIR
B 1St o 1R 1R 7 Hh D &5 8 5t o &
ERMETHREBREZER &6
EENESEHEBROUBIER
BEAL URE—RPEABR
P ¥25%3x A EBYAR & - 8l O] 5@
IR ES%HNTRIRMm K - &HR
It 7K & B R 20105 E£20124F
PEHMEMPHF LS EENT
PDEABEZZ5%BIRM X - IR
BRREEMEEER SRR
MNEBFMAIZANES AN DPE
F RO HHEEZE2013F12831
BIRENTDBNBREE =S Ll
5% M B BIFIR M X ®MR R
S MEBE2013F128318 L F
ERPHFEMAILZNF LD
ST DI IR 5% st IR T IR e
90 5% B B R R 1R S ith i 75 3 it
o IR B A8 38 3 10% B9 78 12 i
)4%7(0

1. KA S EE B A Ei&iTE

] E2013F12B31BLEEFEE KA
SEBAEGEHABE A BN IK
NOWBERRPLHNMNEBE AR
#% 400,691,000 7T (2012F : A B
202,834,0007T) (B 5E30(b)) °
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12. Dividends

The dividends for the year are set out below:

Dividends: RR:
Declared and paid during the year RESRMEZ N
— Equity dividends on ordinary — SRR (FF5E@)
shares (note (a))
— Special dividend approved — 2 HES R AR 2 (Kt 5E (@)
(note (a))
Proposed: K
— Final dividend — RMB3.69 cents —REIIRR—BREBR
(2012: RMB11.31 cents) ARB3.6970
per ordinary share (note (b)) (20124 : 11.319) (BF5E(b))
Notes: B 5E -
(@) The final dividend of RMB11.31 cents per ordinary share in respect of the (a)
previous financial year, and a special dividend of RMB28.25 cents per
ordinary share were approved by the Company’s annual general meeting
on 6 June 2013.
(b)  The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval of the (b)

Company's shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting. This
dividend was not recognised as a liability in the consolidated financial
statements as at 31 December 2013 but will be reflected as an
appropriation of share premium upon the annual general meeting
approval during the year ending 31 December 2014.

B fF 81 ¥5 ¥R 2 B 5

31 December 2013
20135128318

12. 28

REEZHRIEFFIWT :

2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTIT ARBTIT
402,432 200,103
1,005,371 —
1,407,803 200,103
131,333 400,285

R2013F6H6B8 RN A IRRBFRES
EHESRKRE-VRFERBRIES
REBRARKEN31D RENRE
SREBRAREE2825D °

RIRFERPRIZABRRIBRRN
EERRBFERSHE - ZSRIWK
£2013F 128318 06 # 81 15 Ik X &
RREE  BIREBRREEXSHER
R EZE2014F128B31BELEEFEER

HRFBEDE -
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13. Earnings Per Share Attributable to

Ordinary Equity Holders of the
Company

The basic earnings per share for the year is calculated by dividing
the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the year.

The diluted earnings per share was calculated by dividing the profit
for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during
that year, as used in the basic earnings per share calculation, and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed to have
been issued at no consideration on the deemed exercise or
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary
shares.

A reconciliation of the weighted average number of shares used in
calculating the basic and diluted earnings per share amounts is as
follows:

Earnings: B :

Profit attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the Company, used in
the earnings per share calculation

RN 8B A m
fE 1S )

AR ESRERRNBY
1B A

. HRACSBBERSIBAR
bevEs iz Rl

‘-IKEWB’]H“ﬁ/TEﬁT‘JEJTEHEEWZF
ro)EREDR B ARGHIBRNASF
NERTSBRONEFHNEE -

SRESENDRBEFARL SIS B
BEBBARGABRUABESES
RERBAMKREANFARR TS A
RNEFHBRBRRNABE T E#E
ROBREBOTRABRRSBREER
REABHITNS BRNETHHE
=

STEERERLESRENERISAMA
NEFHRNHBEHKRW T :

2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T IT AR T T
437,614 468,482
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31 December 2013
20135128318

13. Earnings Per Share Attributable to 13.
Ordinary Equity Holders of the

Company (Continued)

Shares:

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purpose of
the basic earnings per share calculation

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares, assuming issued at no
consideration on the deemed exercise
of all share options during the year

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purpose of the diluted
earnings per share calculation

BR D
STRERERRMN
PRABEN S B AR N0 & 7 13

REBEFNAMBEBRIERRT R
BT IUREREBRT L
S AR N0 iEF

StE SRR EER R AT A 8Y
S8 IR N0 ¥ 15 81

RACSIEBIESITEARE
s RRMN 2

Number of shares

iRy &8
2013 2012
'000 '000
Fhix T
3,549,392 3,521,758
29,276 35,530
3,578,668 3,557,288
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2013128318

14. Property, Plant and Equipment

Group

2013

Cost:

At 1 January 2013
Additions

Transfer from/(to) construction

in progress

Disposals

Transfer to investment
properties (note 15)

Exchange differences on
translation of financial
statements of overseas
subsidiaries

At 31 December 2013

Accumulated depreciation:

At 1 January 2013

Depreciation provided
during the year (note 7)

Disposals

Transfer to construction
in progress

Transfer to investment
properties (note 15)

Impairment loss

At 31 December 2013

Net carrying amount:
At 31 December 2013

At 1 January 2013

20135
AR :
R2013F1818
RE
#BEe/(%)
TR
HE
TR E
PNk (B 5E15)
OINBS SRR I B =

R2013F 128318

RHTE -
M2013F 1818
FRHRN

#rE (FsE7)
BE
HREER LR

BRERE
e (B 5E15)
VENIEESES

R2013F 128318

IREIFME :
R2013F 128318

R2013F1818

14. 2% - KR b % e

&
Machinery Office
Plant and and Motor equipment Construction
buildings equipment vehicles and others in progress Total
&% B & ik 33 12 WMR=ER

(L B i ghes Hfth 3% ER2ILRE B85t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTIT ARBTT ARETT ARETT AREBTT AR®BTT

468,226 365,963 58,520 71,618 124,274 1,088,601

1,297 9,098 6,930 6,473 511,528 535,326
159,952 71,967 2,172 5,683 (241,450) (1,676)
(2,135) (6,188) (5,821) (1,866) — (16,010)
(8,466) — — — — (8,466)
_ — = — (1,624) (1,624)

618,874 440,840 61,801 81,908 392,728 1,596,151
(85,862) (169,007) (41,598) (48,271) — (344,738)
(23,030) (33,654) (4,528) (8,038) — (69,250)

214 3,463 5,042 1,428 — 10,147

— 1,676 — — — 1,676

401 — - = = 401

58 936 98 — — 1,092
(108,219) (196,586) (40,986) (54,881) — (400,672)
510,655 244,254 20,815 27,027 392,728 1,195,479
382,364 196,956 16,922 23,347 124,274 743,863
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

31 December 2013
20135128318

14. % - EKR®IE

159

Group (Continued) INEE (78)
Machinery Office
Plant and and Motor  equipment Construction
buildings  equipment vehicles  and others in progress Total
& 5B K% % 88 K2 WR=ER
&5 R Wehe - HEfhRE TR LR Bst
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFIT ARBTIT ARBTIT ARBTT AREBTIT ARBTIT
2012 20125
Cost: AR
At 1 January 2012 R2012F1818 407,364 360,115 52,560 66,242 112,635 998,916
Additions =T 807 9,136 6,421 5,537 112,072 133,973
Transfer from/(to) construction &8 /(&)
in progress FIfz 97,823 (43) — 677 (100,433) (1,976)
Disposals HE — (3,245) (461) (838) = (4,544)
Transfer to investment BREKE
properties (note 15) & (FF5E15) (37,768) — — — — (37,768)
At 31 December 2012 R2012F 128318 468,226 365,963 58,520 71,618 124,274 1,088,601
Accumulated depreciation:  REHIFE :
At 1 January 2012 R2012F1818 (66,712) (130,606) (34,558) (37,515) — (269,391)
Depreciation provided FREHRN
during the year (note 7) e (fsE7) (19,014) (35,440) (7,199) (11,028) — (72,681)
Disposals HE — 863 257 223 — 1,343
Transfer to construction ERETRIIR
in progress — 1,926 — 50 — 1,976
Transfer to investment BRERE
properties (note 15) s (fgsE15) 425 — — — — 425
Impairment loss RAEEEES (561) (5,750) (98) (1) — (6,410)
At 31 December 2012 R2012F128318 (85,862) (169,007) (41,598) (48,271) — (344,738)
Net carrying amount: REFE -
At 31 December 2012 R2012F128318 382,364 196,956 16,922 23,347 124,274 743,863
At 1 January 2012 R2012F1818 340,652 229,509 18,002 28,727 112,635 729,525
Interest expense of approximately RMB129,000 was capitalised to REEEBFRESH] - RNEE2013

FNANBLEFE RERBER
TR ISERNORARE129,0007T
(20124 : #&) (BF5E8) °

construction in progress for the year ended 31 December 2013 (2012:
Nil) prior to being transferred to buildings and machinery (note 8).

2013 FEFE R
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

As at the date of the approval of these financial statements, the
Group is in the process of applying for the title certificates of certain
of its buildings with an aggregate net carrying amount of
approximately RMB14,018,000 (2012: RMB70,857,000). The
Directors are of the view that the Group is entitled to lawfully and
validly occupy and use the above-mentioned buildings. The
Directors are also of the opinion that the aforesaid matter does not
have any significant adverse impact on the Group’s financial
position as at 31 December 2013.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment pledged to
secure the advances from local governments (note 26) are set out
below:

PIBmE  BEK
RBNERBE

Carrying amount of pledged property,
plant and equipment

14. % - EKR®IE

MAMEKREMED  REBIEDBH
MIBETRRFNMERE KO FE
M5t A R%14,018,0007T (20124 -
70,857,000) - EEBARRAEBBIRS
ENRERMEBRR R LT - &
ENMRE FHSBEASHKESN
2013 12 831 B 89§71 55 #A % %8 AL (E 1T
EpwNilE2 X

RENS I 75 BUN 8 7R (BfY 5126) 4t 39
BMmE BMENRZXEBEORBOEBEL T :

Group

K&
2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T IT ARBFIT

14,723 17,366
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15. Investment Properties 15. &%

Group
IRE&E
2013 2012
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARETIT ARBEFIT
Cost: AN :
At beginning of the year RE 1)) 120,370 82,602
Transfer from property, plant EERBYE - ME K
and equipment (note 14) 5% 18 (BY5E14) 8,466 37,768
At end of the year RER 128,836 120,370
Accumulated depreciation: REHINE -
At beginning of the year RE1) (8,366) (6,268)
Charge for the year (note 7) FRIFTE BYsET) (4,253) (1,673)
Transfer from property, plant EREE - BE KR
and equipment (note 14) 5% ffa (Bf¥ 51 14) (401) (425)
At end of the year RER (13,020) (8,366)
Carrying amount at end of the year REREBDEE 115,816 112,004

The fair value of the investment properties, as determined by
Directors of the Company, based on market approach with
reference to market transactions price of similar properties, taking
into account of other factors, i.e., characteristics of the properties,
locations, is estimated to be approximately RMB175,866,000 as at
31 December 2013 (2012: RMB219,841,000).

RRTINESSREBUMENDIHBK
ZER WERINEMORNE  WZ
MAENRH LB UAMIBETED
ZREMHEN2013F 12831805
BEQRK A K ¥175866,0007T (2012
F - AR¥219,841,0007T) °

2013 FEFE R

RriEMRERBRAS
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15. Investment Properties (continued)

Fair value hierarchy
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy
of the Group’s investment properties:

15. 128 %E =

nBEBIRGIE
TBEIBHBT REBREEMEN
RABESBOBIRESH :

Fair value measurements as at 31 December 2013 using

BR2013F 128318 A R BEMNBES

Quoted prices
in active
markets
(Level 1)

BlEmEZ
H]E
(FH—)
RMB’000
AR T

Fair value measurement for: ‘A R BE5t S :
Industrial properties TEMEME —
Commercial properties [SELEL/IES =

Total Bt _

During the year, there were no transfers into or out of Level 3.

Significant Significant
observable unobservable
inputs inputs
(Level 2) (Level 3) Total
SAUHT FAATHE
i A SR o A SR
(FHR ) (Fh=) B85t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T IT ARETIT ARETIT
— 49,211 49,211
— 126,655 126,655
— 175,866 175,866

REFELNBEFEBAR=HAEB
B=RBL -
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16. Prepaid Land Lease Payments

Carrying amount at beginning of the year F %8R\ B &
Additions A
Amortisation for the year (note 7) FRsriE#E (EE7)

FREEBERE

Carrying amount at end of the year

Interests on leasehold land represent prepayments of land use rights
premium to the PRC authorities by the Group. The Group’s
leasehold land is located in the PRC, on which its manufacturing
plants were located. The Group is granted land use rights for a
period of 40 or 50 years.

As at the date of the approval of these financial statements, the
Group is in the process of applying for the title certificate of its land
with an aggregate net carrying amount of approximately
RMB88,968,000 (2012: Nil). The Directors are of the view that the
Group is entitled to lawfully and validly occupy and use the above-
mentioned land. The Directors are also of the opinion that the
aforesaid matter does not have any significant adverse impact on
the Group’s financial position as at 31 December 2013.

B fF 81 ¥5 ¥R 2 B 5

31 December 2013
2013128318

16. At L b il SR\

Group

R&EE
2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT ARBFIT
130,432 133,367
90,630 —
(4,597) (2,935)
216,465 130,432

HETHRZRAEEHO PEHHF
WEARNHN LT EREDREER - K
BHHEE TR PE - 2ELEMK
B REBERTHNLHMERARE &
H402( B 504 o

RAMHBHRZJMEDS  REBIEBFHE
MIEBTHNRBEIRE  REFPEMS
AR ®588,968,0007T (20124 : fH) o
SRR REBERERSZENBER S
AREALM T - ESMRB - £
MBRASHKNEER2013F125
31 BRI N EMERE RN
%8

163
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17. Intangible Assets 17. B &=
Group
pigSE]
2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETIT ARBEFIT

Cost: AN :

At beginning of the year R FE 7 11,216 10,707

Additions FRIB N0 4,204 509

At end of the year MER 15,420 11,216

Accumulated amortisation: R -

At beginning of the year N (7,279) (5,361)

Amortisation for the year (note 7) FREHE EEE7) (2,004) (1,918)

At end of the year R E R (9,283) (7,279)

Net carrying amount: BREFE :

At end of the year R FE R 6,137 3,937
As at 31 December 2013, the intangible assets represented R2013F128318 ' B EERNTE
purchased and customised software held by the Group. FABEEERITRNBAREEFEEN
Amortisation of the intangible assets is included in “Administrative i M, S EBME /o5t AT I
expenses”. %o

18. Interests in Subsidiaries 18. RFAGIMNIES
Company
VI

2013 2012

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFIT ARBFIT

Unlisted investments, at cost FELHRMD  BAR 30,891 24,482

Amounts due from subsidiaries & F NS IA 2,149,735 3,179,041

2,180,626 3,203,523
The balances with subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and have HBFNE BRI HEIER R
no fixed terms of repayment. In the opinion of the Directors, the REGDEERM -EBRR BWF
amounts due from subsidiaries are considered as quasi-equity loans NN FMIE AR R 7 23 00 E R g

to the subsidiaries. MHENER -
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18. RFLBINER =

RREFRENFHBUN

18. Interests in Subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the subsidiaries of the Company are as follows:

Place of
incorporation/ Particulars of Percentage of equity
registration and registered/ interest attributable to
operations issued capital the Company Principal activities
ML HMER B RS EEH
B REXRME TR ARG 15 RRIES Nt FEEB
Company name Notes Direct Indirect
NSIE=Y Bff 5 BH# ) 1%
Yashili International Ltd. BVI US$1 100% — Investment holding
("Yashili (BVI)")
HTRERERAS RERELHS 1€ 7T 100% — REER
(MYashili (BVI) 1)
Yashili International Group Limited Hong Kong HK$1 — 100% Investment holding
("Yashili (HK)")
HITNEREEERAS N 178 7T — 100% FH“HEER
(ML (BB D
Yashili Hong Kong International Hong Kong HK$1 — 100% Import and export of dairy
Trading Co., Limited products and related
("Yashili Trading”) materials
HINEEHEEZERLE R 178 7T — 100% #FEHOARGDK
ELNE S 18 R i Y}
Yashili International (i) Hong Kong HK$1 — 100% Investment holding
Investment Limited
HELNERIREBRAT (i) EEpess 1787 — 100% HKREER
Heatel Limited BVI UsS$1 — 100% Investment holding
Heatel Limited RERUES 13T — 100% IREZER
Yashili New Zealand Dairy Co., New Zealand NZD28,806,934 — 100% Production and sale of
Limited (“Yashili New Zealand") dairy products
BRI OBWIAEERLS #OOES OB T — 100% HERBEARD
(i e S 28,806,934 7T
Yashili (China) Co., Ltd. (ii) & (i) PRC RMB200,000,000 — 100% Production and sale of
("Yashili (China)") dairy products
BRI (PER)BRRS (i) A2 (iii) PE AR — 100% HERBEEARD

(M3 £ (P ED) )

200,000,000t

2013 FEFE R

RriEMRERBRAS
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18. Interests in Subsidiaries (continued)

Company nhame

NSRS

Yashili International Group Ltd.

("Yashili (Guangdong)”)

it T B B &=

BERRD

(i Zmuil] (E%%)J)

Scient International Group Limited

e REREEERLS

Scient (China) Baby Nourishment
Co., Ltd. (“Scient (China)")
e R (P E7) &

BRAS (TR (PE) D)

NREERD

W 22 55 0 s

Heilongjiang Yashili Dairy Co., Ltd.

(“Yashili (Heilongjiang)”)

REIHEINAXRERAT

(MM (FReEedD) )

Yashili (Zhengzhou) Nourishment
Co., Ltd ("Yashili (Zhengzhou)”)
TR (EBMN) EERBRAT

(M3 (ZBMD D)

Shanxi Yashili Dairy Co., Ltd.

("Yashili (Shanxi)")

W TR RERAS

(M3 £ (s )

Chaoan Bisheng Decoration and
Printing Co., Ltd. (“Bisheng”)
KEOBERLS

(T D)

Notes

Bf 5
(i), (ii) & (i)

(i), (if) B2 (i)

(i), (ii) & (i)

(i), (if) 2 (iii)

(iif)

(iif)

(iii)

(iif)

(iii)

(iii)

(iii)

(iii)

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
operations

2311 AV

B REXRMES

PRC

P EY

Hong Kong

&8

PRC

P E

PRC

P ER

PRC

PE

n I\
18. RF 2 8801
Particulars of Percentage of equity
registered/  interest attributable to
issued capital the Company
FMER B R BEER
TR NGB ARiES Bt
Direct Indirect
B 8 4%
RMB826,105,300 = 100%
AR - 100%
826,105,300 7T
HK$1 = 100%
1787 — 100%
RMB 155,000,000 — 100%
AR — 100%
155,000,000 7T
RMB20,080,000 — 100%
AR — 100%
20,080,000 7T
RMB350,000,000 — 100%
AR - 100%
350,000,000 7T
RMB300,000,000 - 100%
AR - 100%
300,000,000 7T
RMB 10,800,000 — 100%
AR — 100%
10,800,000 7T

e

—
l\gg
ME

Principal activities

EFB2RE

Production and sale of
dairy products
TERBEEIHR®D

Investment holding
REZR

Production and sale of
dairy products
FERBEARD

Production and sale of
dairy products
FERBEIARD

Production and sale of
dairy products
TENRBEEIHRGD

Production and sale of
dairy products
TERBEARD

Production and sale of
packing materials

EENBS RN



Company hame

NSRS

Guangzhou Yugian Import and
Export Trading Co., Ltd.
("Yugian”)

BMNBEZEEOEZ2E8RAT
(R

Shanghai Yashili Food Co., Ltd.
("Yashili (Shanghai)”)

LEETNRRBRAST
((Wadic¥ii3ant 1l N))

Scient International (USA), Inc.
(“Scient (USA)")

EH e RERERAT)
(EEmR)

Chaoan Victory Trading Limited
(“Victory Trading”)

HMRZHETMEZERAE
(T X E 71

Yahui (Maanshan) E-commerce
Co., Limited

HEBRWL) EFEHIE
BRAT)

Yashili Dairy (Maanshan)
Trading Limited

HEMIAE(FRWL) HES
BRASE

Scient Nurture International
(Singapore) Pte. Ltd.
(“Scient (Singapore)”)

it R & & B BR (T 0 3R)
BRAE (HR Gk 1

Notes

Bf 5
(iif)

(iii)

(iii)

(iii)

(iii)

(iif)

(ifi) & (iv)

(iii)) % (iv)

(iii) & (iv)

(iii)) % (iv)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B fFF B 5 ¥ 2R Bff 5

18. Interests in Subsidiaries (continued)

Place of
incorporation/

registration and

operations

Rl avg

B REXRME

PRC

P

PRC

e

United States of
America
EMRERE

PRC

PRC

e

PRC

P&

Singapore

FN0IR

18. R F Al Mi

Particulars of
registered/
issued capital

dMER B8

TRINFE

RMB5,000,000
AR
5,000,0007T
RMB2,000,000

AERES
2,000,000 7T

US$620,000

620,000 3 7T

RMB5,000,000

AR

5,000,000t

RMB10,000,000

AR
10,000,000 7T

RMB20,000,000

AERES
20,000,000 7T

Us$1

1€ 7T

Percentage of equity
interest attributable to
the Company
KRR SEER
=P ld

Direct Indirect

Bi &

= 100%

— 100%

= 100%

— 100%

— 100%

- 100%

— 100%

- 100%

— 100%

— 100%

= 100%

- 100%

— 100%

— 100%

e

31 December 2013
20135128318

——
l\gg
ME

Principal activities

EX-3 371

Import and export of dairy
products and related
materials

EHOARD
118 B i ik

Sale of food products

HER®D

Investment holding

REZER

Import and export of dairy
products and related
materials

HEHOARGK
16 R i

Whole sales and retail of

dairy products
ARRHBEREE

Whole sales and retail of
dairy products
HHDHEREE

Investment holding

REZER

167
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18. Interests in Subsidiaries (continued)

@

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Big World International (Hong Kong) limited was renamed as Yashili
International Investment Ltd. on 23 October 2013; Guangdong Yashili
Group Company Limited was renamed as Yashili International Group Ltd.
on 5 July 2013; On 10 July 2013, Scient (Guangzhou) Baby Nourishment
Co., Ltd. was renamed as Scient (China) Baby Nourishment Co., Ltd. On
31 May 2013, Scient International Group Ltd. acquired a 100% equity
interest of Scient Nurture International (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. (“Scient
(Singapore)”) from a third party, the acquisition was to obtain the 5%
equity interest in Scient (China) held by of Scient (Singapore).

These companies are wholly foreign-investment enterprises established in
the PRC.

These companies are limited liability companies established in the PRC.
The official names of these companies are in Chinese and the English
translations of the names are for reference only.

Yashili Dairy (Maanshan) Trading Limited and Yahui (Maanshan) E-commerce
Co., Limited were all established on 4 December 2013.

19. Deferred Tax

The movements in deferred tax during the year are as follows:

Group

18. RFLBINER =

(@)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

R2013F 108238 Kt RE R (S #)
ERLRDIESRELINREEREER
NE): R2013F785BEFRE LR &
BERADIEIRELINEDBREDE
[RAS): R2013FE78108 M R (E M)
BNREERERLAVEIRER (P
@) BRNREERBRAT : R2013F
58318 EREBBREBERAINE
= FHEE100% K R Gl iR) BRig - DA
NEERENHER (PE) 5% BIRIE -

ZSNOR— RN PERIZAINEE

ZSERARRPERINBREER
8 - ZFRINERSBRP ME
RX=ZBRERSE -

ER(BRUWEFIFERLI KK
THAXRERERL EEERATIN
2013F 12348 E PR EXAMI

19. JE JETH 1B

FRFETEMIROEBNL N :

K&
Arising from
undistributed
earnings of
Inventory Deferred Tax Expense PRC
provision income losses accruals  subsidiaries Others Total
oh & Bt 8
FEHEB iR 3E Ux & i 5 &5 18 RiIRER SREBME Hfth B85t
Deferred tax ATINESREERN RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
arising from: IEFER I - ARBFTT ARBTIT ARBTIT AREBFTT ARBFTT ARBFTT ARBFIT
At 1 January 2013 R2013F1818 36 4,656 192 63,404 (18,000) 11,727 62,015
Credited/(charged) to FERREBERSA
the statement of G l) B0 3% 3E
profit or loss (note 10) i I8 (P 5% 10) (36) (1,636) 202 8,296 5,469 (2,266) 10,029
At 31 December 2013 R2013F128318 — 3,020 394 71,700 (12,531) 9,461 72,044
At 1 January 2012 R2012F1818 793 5,058 19,697 41,010 (2,600) 10,490 74,448
Credited/(charged) to FRRBEFRTAN
the statement of O Jl) 0O 3% 3&
profit or loss (note 10) iR I8 (Ff 5% 10) (757) (402) (19,505) 22,394 (15,400) 1,237 (12,433)
At 31 December 2012 R2012%F128318 36 4,656 192 63,404 (18,000) 11,727 62,015
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19. Deferred Tax (continued)

Represented by: Hpa:
— Deferred tax assets —RERIEE =
— Deferred tax liabilities —RiEmBaE

Management expects it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which the above tax losses and deductible
temporary differences can be utilised in the coming years.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the
following items:

Temporary difference ERF =20

Tax losses arising in iNENC PN =i
Mainland China (i) it T8 f5 8 (1)

Total Bt

(i) The above tax losses are available for offsetting against future taxable
profits of the companies in which the losses arose for a maximum of five
years.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the above
items as it is not considered probable that tax profits will be available
against which the above items can be utilised.

B fF 81 ¥5 ¥R 2 B 5

31 December 2013
20135128318

19. B ETHRIA =)

Group

R&EE
2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT ARBFIT
84,575 80,015
(12,531) (18,000)
72,044 62,015

BERBIRARIKFEB O At B IR ER
iR B - o] A DA #0 Lt e IR 5 48 K%
ORI BRI ER o

FEETRIAES E WA NHIRB R

(0]

2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR FIT AR TFIT
36,667 34,567
45,106 67,077
81,773 101,644

FaiR IR BB IHRIGE AT ELEE
BBEERMAUERZSAF -

FEMESIREE TR IRES &= W M T
AEESR - RRZARKEE AN B R
MERMBEABAIRBIRBNG
BHERRADARIAREIE -
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19. Deferred Tax (continued)

The following deferred tax liability has not been recognised in
respect of the following items:

At 31 December 2013, temporary differences relating to the
undistributed profits of the subsidiaries established in Mainland
China amounted to RMB472,240,000 (2012: RMB323,040,000).
Deferred tax liabilities of RMB21,362,000 (2012: RMB16,152,000)
have not been recognised in respect of the withholding tax that
would be payable on the distribution of these retained earnings, as
the Company controls the dividend policy of these subsidiaries in
Mainland China and the Directors have determined that these
profits are not likely to be distributed in the foreseeable future.

20. Inventories

Raw materials &R it e
Finished goods X 6o

Work in progress + Al G
Packing materials 2E3 g
Low value consumables BB

19. B ETHIA =)

REERNELERIBERE :

R2013F 128318 » 8 7E oo B0 K fEAY
THFRIANKRDERESE B
EZ=R B A RMA27,240,000 7T (2012
F: AR¥323,040,0007T) - BRAR
SIZEHISEEPBARENFLINE
[HFX THESEELBRENI RN
RN ASHE OO BHARBEAR
DI EBERMNIT B2 MO0 TRIR
iz 7R A R 8521,362,0007T (20124 © A
R #16,152,0007T0) RIELEMRIBESE -

20. 78

Group

K&
2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FT  ARBTT
537,761 350,315
191,233 204,590
122,684 65,522
26,456 25,349
8,095 7,146
886,229 652,922
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21. B2 RPGRRERRIE

21. Trade and Bills Receivables

Group

NREE
2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFIT ARBEFIT
Trade receivables 8 5 fE W 33,236 27,519
Bills receivable fE UK R 1% = 1,022
Impairment Ba (1,168) (883)
32,068 27,658

In respect of trade receivables, the Group has established a credit
policy in place: fixed credits are granted to supermarkets and the
periods range from 60 to 90 days; temporary credits are offered on
a transaction-by-transaction basis to distributor customers who
have been trading with the Group for many years and have a good
trading record and the credit periods range from 10 to 90 days.
Special credit is granted to creditworthy distributor customers when
the Group promotes certain lines of products. All the credits offered
are unsecured. Full advances are required for sales to other
customers. The Group regularly reviews ageing analysis of the trade
receivables to monitor the credit exposure.

An aged analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of
provision, is as follows:

MEREBRMS  REB2ST BB
SRR ORBEBRDHZBREHRIN F60
Z0BHNEEB & 5 LAZK IR ZBITZ
AORRKEERXZZFHEERER
ARBNEHEZISPEMRN FI10E
WHNEIHEE - HMEBHERERR
NER EHRRYNKHBSFPOE
SRAIGE -FECENBERTPSES
E-HEFYHMSPSERFEHR
TR REBEHEREZEUWRN

fRER - NERBSERKR -

BRI £S5 HA TR - 4% F0 R 181 B0 FE LR BR
RIEWRIRZER B BMORER D70
~:

2013 2012

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR FIT ABREFIT

Within 1 month —f@BAR 28,782 20,771

1 to 3 months —Z=2=@#4 = 4,417

3 to 6 months =ENXEEB 2,302 736
More than 6 months NBB AL 984 1,734 'E
32,068 27,658 il
2
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21. Trade and Bills Receivables (continued) 21.

The movements in provision for impairment of trade receivables are

as follows:
At 1 January nm1818
Impairment losses recognised (note 7) PSRRI BB K (MsE7)
Amount written off as uncollectible AN O] Ug © i 35 B R B8
At 31 December R128318

Included in the above provision for impairment of trade receivables
is a provision for individually impaired trade receivables of
RMB1,168,000 (31 December 2012: RMB883,000) with an
aggregate carrying amount before provision of RMB1,723,000 (31
December 2012: RMB1,046,000).

The individually impaired trade receivables relate to customers that
were in default in principal payments or were in financial difficulties
and only a portion of the receivables is expected to be recovered.

SAMBERREWREIE @

S5 EWFRBREHNENU T :

Group
R&EE

2013
RMB’000
ARBTIT

883
415
(130)

1,168

2012
RMB'000
ARMEF T
1,540

66

(723)

883

FHMBEZREERMRBEEBRERE
wRIRBREERARE1,723,0007T
(2012128318 © A R #1,046,000
7T) B9 1@ Bl et 18 B 7 & UL Bk = 51 12 69
B A R 11,168,0007T (2012F 128
318 : AR#883,0007T) °

BRREEDEWEREREZTE
NXBIRW BB cEFER - HR
HEE —SPMmEUIERMO FWDO -
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SRR REUEIE @

WARBHNNERRBRBERECES
FERRA K BRI 2R DT

21. Trade and Bills Receivables (continued) 21.

An aged analysis of the trade and bills receivables, that are neither
individually nor collectively considered to be impaired, is as follows:

Group

yig-SE
2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR FIT ARBFIT
Neither past due nor impaired il 7K %60 HA S (B 28,782 20,771
Less than 3 months past due AR =EH = 4,417
3 to 6 months past due A== E8 2,302 736
6 months to 1 year past due BMANBESZE —F 186 1,522
1 to 2 years past due BE— WM 243 49
31,513 27,495

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a
large number of diversified customers for whom there was no
recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number
of independent customers that have a good track record with the
Group. Based on past experience, the Directors are of the opinion
that no provision for impairment is necessary in respect of these
balances as there has not been a significant change in credit quality
and the balances are still considered fully recoverable.

The amount due from related parties of the Group included in the
trade receivables is as follows:

Bt 7R 8 A T OBl 8 2 FEWGRIR TH B K
ENGRANEFER  REETEH
7 3 R FRIA 2 50 8% °

B HA 7R A9 B 1 £ il {8 2 fE U SR IR T3 B
—LBUSPEM Z2SEPAERSE
BERABRYNXR LK - REBERL
R ESAREFINZSEHRTREM
BRE SHECEE8UESETANE
MR RAB BRI AZEUWDO -

BN & 5 & LR 80 & U R 55 B R B o
MRIRW K

2013 2012

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREEF T ARBEF T
Entity significantly influenced ZEESKREBASIM ’E
by key management BFEAFENLT 1,207 879 4
=

The above amount is unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayable
on credit terms similar to those offered to the major customers of
the Group.

FHRIBBE RS  RRERRKEY
REEBETZSPHNRBRUNSEMRE

;go

RriEMRERBRAS
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22. Prepayments, Deposits and Other 22. Jafd3Rhi1E -~ IR R H fib fEUY
Receivables £ Q]
Group Company
K&ES YW/
2013 2012 2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

AREBTFT ARBTIT ARETRT AREBTIT

Prepaid advertising AN B S

expenses 8,263 20,339 — —
Prepayments for 08 8 [R 7 1 89

purchase of raw AN

materials 1,369 10,012 — —
Advances to sales a5 AT

offices 2,694 2,102 — —
Value-added tax SII0IB EMR

recoverable 123,038 72,412 — —
Prepayments for BEEEEEEN

acquisition of AN

property,

plant and equipment 14,847 93,540 — —
Long-term deposit FEWRBERNE

interest receivable 27,887 — — —
Deposit for acquisition & & 1 #th & 3 i (4

of land use right EE 11,421 90,630 — —
Amounts due from [EU F R BRI

subsidiaries — — — 95,998
Others Hith 36,048 30,834 — 460

225,567 319,869 — 96,458

Portion classified as SITEFERBNE 2

non-current assets B (54,155) (184,170) — —
Current portion BIHEREB 171,412 135,699 — 96,458

Yashili International Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2013
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22. Prepayments, Deposits and Other 22. JE{15RIA ~ 1R |2 H fth fE Uy
Receivables (continued) I8 @)
The amounts due from related parties included in prepayments, FIATARIE - B R EMEWRRIE
deposits and other receivables are as follows: B9 & U A Bk D sRIA Q0 IS ¢
Group Company
& YW/
2013 2012 2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

AREBTITT AREBTIT ARETRT AREBTIT

Entities significantly ZTETEShEIE
influenced by key ABSMAER

management FENNTD 54 32 — —
The above amounts are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and have FRIBRERD S RUEEE
no fixed terms of repayment. =k A o

23. Other Investments 23. Hfthi &

As at 31 December 2013, the Group’s other investments were R2013F 128318 » REBNHE £
mainly financial products purchased from banks with good credit SETFIZRUERFNEGSEFENIRITE
rating and were stated at amortised cost, with expected annual SR HERRIERNENER ' B
interest rates of 5.1% to 5.8% (2012: 2.8% to 3.8%). Other AN ER X EB5.1%E5.8% (20124 -
investments were acquired with original maturity of one month to 28%%3.8%)c Hthi&ER — @ H 2
one year and were not allowed to be withdrawn prior to the —F 2 H 2 HI B2 B IR 1T B E =A
maturity date without the banks' consent. SHO -

Other investments pledged to secure the Group’s short-term bank M2013F128318 ' "&EEBRIER
loans as at 31 December 2013 amounted to RMB64,000,000 (31 HRTERMMBPNEMBRESNED
December 2012: RMB100,000,000). B8 /m A R®64,000,0007T (2012512

B318 : AR#100,000,0007T) °
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24. Cash and Cash Equivalents and Other 24.
Bank Deposits and Pledged Deposits

Cash and bank balances
Time deposits

Less: Pledged deposits
Less: Short-term bank deposits
Less: Long-term bank deposits

Cash and cash equivalents in
the consolidated statement of
financial position

Cash and bank balances and time
deposits denominated in:
— RMB
— Other currencies

Re KIRTTEBER
T TR

" IR ER
SRR TR

" ERTER
BHEBRREPHRER
RS EY

LA B S 5 E B IR & R
SRITI5BRIAR 2 IR
— AR

—Hfh &

RERBPESEMIIH it
RITERNEBPER
Group
K&EE
2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®FIT ARBEFIT
611,384 2,073,161
691,311 1,217,723
1,302,695 3,290,884
(192,311) (299,609)
(199,000) (611,972)
(300,000) (306,142)
611,384 2,073,161
1,274,380 3,243,218
28,315 47,666
1,302,695 3,290,884




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24. Cash and Cash Equivalents and Other

Bank Deposits and Pledged Deposits

(Continued)

Cash and bank balances BE NIRITERR
Cash and bank balances DA N3 & 8551 {8 89
denominated in: RERIRITLERR ¢
— RMB — AR
— Other currencies —HthE#

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies. However,
under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for
other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at the prevailing market interest rates.
As at 31 December 2013, the effective annual interest rates of short
term time deposits are approximately 2.28% to 4.125% (31
December 2012: 3.270% to 3.575%), which will be due within a
year. The effective interest rate of long-term time deposits is
approximately 4.675% (31 December 2012: 4.125% to 4.675%),
will be due over the next two or three years. The bank balances and
pledged deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no
recent history of default.

Other than certain bank loans were secured by time deposit
amounting to RMB150,000,000 (2012: RMB261,870,000), a
deposit of RMB42,311,000 (2012:RMB 37,739,000) was pledged
for issuing letter of credit.

B fF 81 ¥5 ¥R 2 B 5

31 December 2013
2013128318

24, IE@%IE@%E;WW,JE

IRTERNERIPER =
Company
IS
2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREF T ARBETIT
2,196 348
1,467 2
729 346
2,196 348

ARBUIFIEBRBRBHEMEE -
AT IR IR o B K BE 590 9N B & 32 1R Y
KEE -SERTESERE K&
B8 & BB R e 1T INE SR F5 BU IR
T BARBERRHEMSE -

ROTRSBRBOTMBIXFR R
2013F 128318 R EBHERNE
PRER R R2.28% F4.125% (122042
F128318 :3.270% =£3.575%) » i
BR—FRB - RPCHERNES
R K4 B4.675% (20125128
318 1 4.125% £4.675%) @+ i #§ IR 7<
RKME=FHNH - ROTBHRRE P
ERROHRENCLREGSERTN
RITReE-

Ry —ERTERS2BBEHRAETRA
& #%150,000,0007T (2012F : A R #&
261,870,0007T) ETHE R OB AR
#%42,311,000 T X (2012F : A R®
37,739,0007T) & E R 2 S A ENR

S PanN
EBE e
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25. Trade Payables

An aged analysis of the Group’s trade payables, based on the
invoice date, as at the reporting date is as follows:

Within 1 month —@AR

1 to 3 months — =88

3 to 6 months —@R=ENEA
More than 6 months N ENE1Y N

25. SRR

RESBH KEBREXZRBHE
AIENT RARORE DITA R

2013
RMB’000
ARETT

72,165
236,360
34,226
3,718

346,469

2012
RMB'000
ARMEF T

117,285
240,758
50,875
3,998

412,916

The amounts due to related parties included in trade payables are
as follows:

BN & 75 & 15 R 80 FE 1Y B8 Bk 75 B9 SRR IR
NN

Entity significantly influenced ZTEFEeskEABHM
by key management EAFENLD

Trade payables, including due to related parties, are non-interest-
bearing and are normally settled within one month to three
months.

Group

R&EE
2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARBTIT
409 2,159

B2 RNEMR B ELREE L NOK
R RASHTRE-—MBR—ZEZ=EAR

o
g I
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26. Other Payables and Accruals 26. Hfth FEE{TZRIAR & & A

Group Company
IN&E YW=
2013 2012 2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR TFIT AREE T IT AR T IT AREETIT
Advances from EPBNR
customers 451,640 398,143 — —
Accrued payroll [EStsr<E 91,531 56,534 — —
Other taxes payable — H ftb f& {5 fip 18 55,201 39,597 — —
Advances from local b 75 BUS & 7R ()
government (i) 33,500 33,500 — —
Pledged deposits from WENE P {R&E E
customers 40,227 36,495 — —
Amount due to [ES F R BRI
subsidiaries — — 11,088 9,245
Other payables and Hth FE N R
accruals (ii) [fE 51 &5 FB (ii) 121,122 53,576 — —
793,221 617,845 11,088 9,245

BN B fth F& S SRIR O FE ST & BBV &Y
RS RIRW R

The amounts due to related parties included in other payables and
accruals are as follows:

Group Company
REE YW=
2013 2012 2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
AREFIT ARBFIT AREFIT AR T IT
Entity significantly RXFZIHKSIEAS
influenced by key  Fb 0 & K §/ £
management ENFNET 16 29 — —

2013 FEFE R
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26. Other Payables and Accruals (continued)

@

(i)

At 31 December 2013, an advance of RMB30,000,000 was from the
People’s Government of Ying County (2012: RMB30,000,000), which bore
a fixed interest rate of 5.76% per annum and was secured by Yashili
(Shanxi)’s plant and machinery as disclosed in note 14. There were no

fixed repayment terms for the advances as at 31 December 2013.

Other payables and accruals mainly include construction cost payables.

The above amounts, including those due to related parties, are
unsecured, non-interest-bearing and have no fixed terms of
repayment.

27. Interest-Bearing Bank Loans

Group
Current RO HA
Short term bank loans: RARTER:
— Secured — B8
Non-current 53:]
Long term bank loans: RHRITER :
— Secured — B8

26. Hfth f& {4 FRIAT0FE 51 & A

(&

(0]

(ii)

R2013F 128318 REEH AR K
fF 89 A B #30,000,0007T & X (2012
F : AR¥530,000,0007T) © =B EFE
R576%st 2 0 U055 20 B 5F 14 0P 3 52 LA
W75 3 = 60 B = i 22 fE 3R IB - IR
2013F 128318 %S BRUEBEE
RER o

HithENRRESTEREREE LR
FRIF o

EAFRIR - B 55 55 LB R B S B0 Bk
MoORERS RRNEEEERY -

27. st RIRITER

K&
As at 31 December 2013 As at 31 December 2012
R2013F128318 20125128318
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
(%) Maturity RMB’000 (%) Maturity RMB’000
=1yl 8RR =
(%) ZIHGR AR® T (%) ZIHEE ARETT
LIBOR+0.70 2014 154,464 1.55-2.6 2013 330,912
LIBOR+0.85 2015 47,084 NASE NA f& =
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27. Interest-Bearing Bank Loans (continued)

Company

Current

Short term bank loans:

— Secured

Bank loans
denominated in
— UsD
— RMB
— HK dollars

BN A
RIJIRTER
—Bike

i

=h

IR1ITE M

\

— A ETTEHE
—AAR#SHE
— LB E

27.

FRIRITS
NS

As at 31 December 2013

112013 12H318

Effective

interest rate
(%) Maturity

B IR =R

RMB’000

(%) FHEBE ARETT

NA & NA f& -
Group
REE
2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBET T AR T IT
201,548 —
— 250,000
— 80,912
201,548 330,912

R (=

As at 31 December 2012
R2012F128318

Effective
interest rate
(%) Maturity RMB’000
8RR =
(%) FHAGRE ARBTIT
1.55 2013 80,912
Company
yIW/AN=]
2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBETFIT ARBETFIT
—_ 80,912
— 80,912
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27. Interest-Bearing Bank Loans (continued) 27.

28

A bank loan with an approximate amount of RMB60,574,000 (31
December 2012: RMB80,912,000) was secured by other investment
amounting to RMB64,000,000 as at 31 December 2013 (31
December 2012: RMB100,000,000).

Certain bank loans with an aggregate amount of approximately
RMB140,974,000 (31 December 2012: RMB250,000,000) were
secured by time deposit amounting to RMB150,000,000 (31
December 2012: RMB261,870,000).

Deferred Income 28.

Group

As at beginning of the year F )5S &R
Amortisation for the year F A EE
As at end of the year F R4S BR

Deferred income mainly represented the government grants
received for acquisition of a new plant and for certain technical
innovation and production line expansion projects. These grants are
deferred over the useful lives of the relevant assets and the amount
recognised as “Other revenue” in 2013 was RMB6,542,000 (2012:
RMB12,042,000).

A2RITER

R20135F 128318 HENR ARE
60,574,0007T (2012128318 : A B
#80,912,0007T) B IR 1T E R IK A R #E
64,000,0007T (2012128318 : AR
100,000,0007T) BYE fth IR & 21T HLIP ©

—LRES R RNR AR 140,974,0007T
(20125128318 : A R 250,000,000
70) BYER 1T & R A A B #5150,000,000 7T
(2012F 128318 © A R #261,870,000
O NEMTERETRP

JIE R Uy 25
REE

2013 2012
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBFT  ARET
18,627 30,669
(6,542) (12,042)
12,085 18,627

FERmERBNBENBERE T
RMRMREERBTIRBESNOK
Rl -zSHmINEREENT ®
AFRRELEANTR R2013FERB
[Hh WA INRES EZ BIBRANE R
B A RB6,542,0000T (2012F : AR
#512,042,0007T) °



29. Share Capital

Company

Authorised:
Ordinary shares of
HK$0.1 each

Ordinary shares,

issued and

fully paid:

Shares issued upon a
reorganisation

Capitalisation issue

Shares issued by share
offer

Shares repurchased
in 2011

Accumulated share
options exercised

At 31 December

2t :

SRBE0.1ET

NS RR

BT 2k :

iN

=
8

%

iN

ES

EefEliss
BITHRRMD
Al 8817
BRH
BELITRHD
20114F
& O 8

5t A% i@

st 81T

R128318

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes

B 53

(i)
(iii)

(iv)

(v)

30(v)

B fF 81 ¥5 ¥R 2 B 5

31 December 2013
20135128318

29. iR 7Kk
VI
2013 2012

Number of Nominal Number of Nominal
shares value shares value
e 8 HE e Ak d= |BE
‘000 RMB’000 ‘000 RMB’000
TR ARETIT TR ARETIT

10,000,000 861,600 | 10,000,000 861,600

100 9 100 9
2,925,900 251,364 | 2,925,900 251,364

574,000 49,312 574,000 49,312
(10,000) (818) (10,000) (818)
69,170 5,665 32,946 2,734

3,559,170 305,532 | 3,522,946 302,601
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29. Share Capital (continued)

@

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

The Company was incorporated on 3 June 2010 with authorised capital of
3,800,000 shares at HK$0.10 per share. As part of a reorganisation of the
Group in preparation for the listing of the Company’s shares on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) in 2010 (the “Reorganisation”) , the authorised share capital
of the Company was increased to HK$1,000,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB861,600,000) divided into 10,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.10 each.

On 2 July 2010, as part of the Reorganisation, the Company issued a total
of 99,999 shares at HK $0.10 per share to Yashili (Guangdong)'s
stockholders, equivalent to RMB9,000, as the consideration to acquire
Yashili (Guangdong).

Pursuant to the resolution of the Company’s shareholder passed on 8
October 2010, the authorised share capital of the Company was increased
from HK$380,000 to HK$1,000,000,000; in addition, 2,925,900,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each were issued at par value to the
shareholders of the Company as at 8 October 2010 by way of
capitalisation of HK$292,590,000 (equivalent to RMB251,364,000) from
the Company’s share premium account.

The shares of the Company were listed on the Stock Exchange on 1
November 2010 (“IPO"), with a total number of 3,500,000,000 shares,
among which 644,000,000 shares (18.4% of the total number of shares
of the Company) were issued to the public, comprising 574,000,000 new
shares and 70,000,000 sale shares. The gross proceeds received by the
Company from the IPO were approximately HK$2,411 million.

On 10 June 2011 and 13 June 2011, the Company totally repurchased its
own ordinary shares of 10,000,000 shares at an aggregate price (including
transaction fee and commission) of HK$18,728,000 (equivalent to
RMB15,538,000), which was deducted from reserves.

The repurchased shares were cancelled and accordingly the issued share
capital of the Company was reduced by the nominal value of these shares.
Pursuant to section 49H of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, an
amount equivalent to the par value of the shares cancelled of
HK$1,000,000 (equivalent to RMB818,000) was transferred to the capital
redemption reserve. The premium and transaction cost paid on the
repurchase and cancellation of the shares of HK$17,728,000 (equivalent
to RMB14,720,000) was charged to reserves.

29. 27K =

(@)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

RRBR2010F6 538 sE AL - &
7 AR 7K 1% 3,800,0000% + & AR B f& /0.1
BITHRM - (FRAREENR2010FE /5
BARARARNDNEBHEORZMER
LB ((SBERM) ERLEHMETH
SHTEADN—Bn  HAERRE
£ 8 #1,000,000,0007T (18 & R A R
861,600,0007T) * %3 /% 10,000,000 F A%
SRBEE0.10BTHRMD -

R2010F7828 @ fER/RE|AN—2BD -
RRAOBEREINERSSRRE
17 ©$£99,9991% & ik @ {H0.18 JT 80 AR
fp - 1BE N AR B9,0007T » fERAR
SR B ERIE TN BV E -

iR I A 8 iR R R2010F108808
BBRNREFR KRN EERM
£3380,00038 7T # 50 Z 1,000,000,000
WO N BB AR R M EE
AR 8 7£292,590,00058 ;T (B & M A R
#251,364,0007T) fEE IR » IR A & R
2010F 10888 R BEOHRR ST
2,925,900,0008% & AR @ {&0.138 Jt B9 &
B -

RRSRMNR2010F11B1BES?
B Em(ERAREET))  RER
3,500,000,000 % © & P 644,000,000 %
(SRR BRBREH18.4%) @R TR A
1317 HhE$E574,000,000 F AR #7 A%
$%70,000,000 0% 85 & A% {7 ° 7R A ) YT BX
NERAHBITNMEBRERENR
2,411B8BBIT °

R2011F68108 k68138 | A
S OB HEB 5K SEAR10,000000
iR RER(SFEERMAS) RBK
18,728,000 7t (18 & X A R %5 15,538,000
J0)  WE R HE P IR -

OBERDERKEN  MALIHSBT
RATEBEREZSODEROND
B KBS B LK FISEZEN49H » 5F
85 A% 1 B9 [ {& 5 %5 1,000,000 7T (58 A
R#5818,0007T) AR MO EfEE P -
it @ 88 K2 st 85 AR 19 P 2 Y 0@ B % X
55 X TR B #5 17,728,000 7T (5 B A R ¥
14,720,000 7T) E7E P H IR o



30. Reserves

(@) Group

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B fFF B 5 ¥ 2R Bff 5

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements
therein for the years ended 31 December 2013 and 2012 are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity

on page 96 of the financial statements.

(b) Company

30. & &

(a) &S
TN £ @ 5 B & £ 201348 %2012
F1I2A3BLEFERNFEHBE R
MESFHZ2IINTFEHREKEIE
SHBEDEENE -

(b) K5

31 December 2013
20135128318

Capital Share
Share Share redemption Contributed Translation option  Retained Total
capital  premium reserve surplus reserve reserve  earnings equity
&R
BRAR BRPEE BORE SHRHR Ere RiERE RBBRH 2 ESQ%
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBTFIT ARBTIT ARBTIT ARBTIT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTIT
note (i) note (ii) note (iv) note (31)
Y 5 (i) B 5 (ii) B 5 (iv) B 5E(31)
At 1 January 2012 R2012F
18180E& 301,463 1,680,437 818 1,449,863 (203,359) 10,189 (4,955) 3,234,456
Total comprehensive ~ F @A /R %
income for the year (BfF5E11)
(note 11) — — — — (35,491) — 202,834 167,343
Dividends approved in Al HA iR /il 9 i
respect of the
previous year — — — — — — (200,103)  (200,103)
Shares issued for R 7 =2 1 1T &
exercise of
share options 1,138 1,904 — — — (1,499) — 1,543
Equity-settled SHRH
share-based TR
payments — — — — — 6,933 — 6,933
At 31 December 2012 }R20124F
1283188
SR 302,601 1,682,341 818 1,449,863 (238,850) 15,623 (2,224) 3,210,172
Total comprehensive ~ 2 E U ZE 125
income for the year (Bt 5E11)
(note 11) — — — — (69,036) — 400,691 331,655
Dividends approved in @i 43 AR /il 9 fic
respect of the
previous year — — — — — —  (402432)  (402,432)
Shares issued for AR 2 (T 171
exercise of share
options 2,931 35,188 — — — (6,818) — 31,301
Special dividend HENRRIRS
approved (B 5% 30(vi))
(note 30(vi)) —  (1,005,371) — — — — —  (1,005,371)
Equity-settled RIEFBERHN
share-based <X %
payments — — — — — 6,409 — 6,409
Transfer of share BUER R T
option reserve & 0 RE A 1
upon the cancellation
of share options — — — — — (15,214) 15,214 —
At 31 December 2013 [R20134
1283188
SR 305,532 712,158 818 1,449,863 (307,886) — 11,249 2,171,734
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30. Reserves (Continued)

(b) Company (Continued)
Notes:
(i) Share premium

The excess of the issued price net of any issuance expenses over
the par value of the shares issued has been credited to the share
premium account of the Company. Under the Companies Law
(Revised) of the Cayman Islands, the funds in the share premium
account of the Company are distributable to the shareholders of
the Company provided that immediately following the date on
which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will
be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

(ii) Contributed surplus

As part of the Reorganisation, the shareholders of Yashili (Guangdong)
transferred their equity interests in Yashili (Guangdong) to Yashili (HK)
on 2 July 2010. A contributed surplus of RMB1,367,204,000 was
resulted from these transfers for the purpose of the Group's
consolidated financial statements.

In addition, for the purpose of the Company’s financial statements,
a contributed surplus of RMB1,449,863,000 arose from the
issuance of shares by the Company in exchange for the equity
interests in the subsidiaries held by the shareholders of these
subsidiaries pursuant to the Reorganisation.

(iii) PRC statutory reserves

PRC statutory reserves were established in accordance with the
relevant PRC rules and regulations and the articles of association of
the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC. Transfers to the reserves
were approved by the board of Directors.

(iv) Translation reserve
Translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences

arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations.

30. &1 =)

(b) K238

B 5%

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

RN &

R1TE FUPRERI TR B
EROTRIABENHRBARS A
ARaANRDEER- RIEHS
BESROAGEES)  RRIRK
TaBRONEEST NIRRT AT
KRR ERBERZDIRRRBH
& RO ABHENEERRD
BRBBREPEE M ER -

RN

R2010F7828 - fER/REAH—
BM BERELNEFNRRAE
E1E B R M TN 60Re m $3 5= A0 It
THEE - REBESHUE R
RPAZBRELESURHBEAR
#51,367,204,0007T °

I RARRSWHEREP B
EERARBBTRENBRRFR
IRREFLRIRENRDE
LB RER A RY1,449,863,000
IT o

P BA E %
PRIEE G IIRIRIBREI PR
RIRZERARRAS PR F LT

HEBERBARI - OGEHEN
BRDESBNESTHE-

B o B ffm
hEFEBEEERBREBINEEN
MBEHREMELENMBEINEZ

.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. Reserves (Continued)

(b) Com pany (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(v)

(vi)

Share options exercised

During the year ended 31 December 2013, pursuant to the
Company’s share option schemes (note 31), share options were
exercised to subscribe for 36,224,090 (2012: 14,026,051) ordinary
shares in the Company at a consideration of HK$38,688,000
(equivalent to RMB31,301,000) (2012: HK$1,900,000 (equivalent
to RMB1,543,000)), of which RMB28,370,000 (2012: RMB404,000)
was credited to the share premium account. RMB6,818,000 (2012:
RMB1,499,000) has been transferred from the share option reserve
to share premium account. After the cancellation of
52,088,266,000 share of those unexercised options acquired by
the Offeror Parent (note 31), there were no unexercised share
options pursuant to the Company’s above share option schemes as
at 31 December 2013 (31 December 2012: 91,010,740 shares).

Special dividend approved

A special dividend of RMB28.25 cents per ordinary share, which
amounted to RMB1,005,371,000, was approved on the Company'’s
annual general meeting on 6 June 2013 (2012: Nil).

30. &1 =)
(b) K8l

B fF 81 ¥5 ¥R 2 B 5

31 December 2013
20135128318

B SE (@)

(v)

RIDZII1T &

& = R2013F128318 A€
TR NS AR e 5T &I (BT 5E31) 1T
15 B8 R i © S| B3R 85 36,224,090
A% (20124 : 14,026,051 A% ) /K
ST WAR 0 13 538,688,000
T 188 R A R 31,301,000
It ° 2012 £F 1,900,000 7T (18
E R AR1,543,0007T)) « Hp
A R #28,370,0007T (20124 : A
ER #5404,0007T) 5T A PR D& 1B ©
A R #6,818,0007T (20124 © A
B2 #51,499,0007T) 2 B8 82 1 % ¢
HEBBRERODRB - EENA
Uz 88 & 7K 1T 185 5952,088,266,000
AR HAME B (B 5E31) - & E 20134
128318 ' ERMRIEL LSRR
TESTBISBITHREREE (2012
F128318 : 91,010,740%) -

BENRRRR

R2013F6H68 i R X 8 #t
E O ORNEIRSER AR
28.25%9 THRAONR AR
1,005,371,000 (2012 5F : f#) °
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31. Equity-Settled Share-Based Payment

Yashili (Guangdong) adopted a share option scheme on 1 January
2009 (the “2009 Employee Share Option Scheme”) to invite certain
eligible participants to take up options (the “2009 Employee Share
Options”) to subscribe for the shares of the to-be-listed company at
an exercise price of RMB0.85 per share. Totally 9,360,000 share
options were granted and 2 directors of the Company and 148
employees of the Group accepted the 2009 Employee Share
Options.

On 1 August 2010, Yashili (Guangdong) further granted 3,597,600
share options (the “2010 Employee Share Options”) to 31 eligible
employees of the Group for subscribing shares of the Company at
an exercise price of RMB11 per share (the “2010 Employee Share
Option Scheme”). Both the 2009 and 2010 Employee Share
Options will be forfeited when the grantee ceases to be an
employee of the Group for reasons other than death, ill-health or
retirement.

The 2009 and 2010 Employee Share Options originally granted by
Yashili (Guangdong) to the grantees were exchanged into the pre-
IPO share options of the Company on 8 October 2010. Accordingly,
12,957,600 share options under the 2009 and 2010 Employee
Share Option Schemes were converted into 94,975,662 share
options of the Company with substantially the same terms and
conditions, except that the respective exercise prices were adjusted
on a proportionate basis, being RMBO0.11 in respect of the 2009
Employee Share Options and RMB1.84 in respect of the 2010
Employee Share Options. The conversion of the share options was
considered as a modification which did not result in any incremental
value in respect of the fair value of the share options at the date of
modification. Each of the pre-IPO share options has a vesting period
of two months to fifty months, commencing from the listing date.
Each option gives the holder the right to subscribe for one ordinary
share of the Company and is settled gross in shares.

On 29 August 2011, the Company further granted 48,148,214
share options (the “2011 Employee Share Options”) to 39 eligible
employees of the Group for subscribing shares of the Company at
an exercise price of HK$1.5 per share (the “2011 Employee Share
Option Scheme”). The 2011 Employee Share Options will be
forfeited when the grantee ceases to be an employee of the Group
for reasons other than death, ill-health or retirement.

1. RIEEERM<[ARS

[& °R 7 1+ M 5200951 81 8 #k i f=2
8 % Bk iE 5t 8l ([20094F & 8 % AR &
s8I - ABGEE TROERSHE
B 40 8 AR E (12009 & B B AR 1 1) -
RIZTTEEERAR0E5ITARE K
T LEBRENRM - BREBBRIEH
9,360,00017 * (BN A SIHIM (7 & B K
REBN148E R EEM2009F 8 B
RBRRIE -

EBRELTRNN2010F8B818E -+ 0
REBHNE0EIEESRW3,597,600
nIBRIE (2010F R W ARIED - BA
RUOGESRARBNTRERLD
B (T2010F R E B RIESTE D) -
2009 5F N 2010 £F fi& & &8 AR & 1315 K 7K
FARSH - BRIEIMAINNIE S
ABRASENRSEEK -

&SR I Ml R @ AR A IR 1 892009 5
$2010F & S BRE M 2010F 1088
BERBRRKRASINS R MHEBER
B8 AR - W It - 200945 K 20104 f& 8
B AR & 5T & 18 T~ 8912,957,600 11 88 A%
BRIBERHBREKRRIKEERRR
94,975,662 7 R 22 S B9 BB AR i€ - 1 1B RF
THET R B DA E - 2009 F {2
SERERARBE011IT M201045
EEBERERAR184TT iR
A% 1 762 18 /E $9 2009 FF 2 2010 F {8 E 88
BRESTEINES] BT UAEHRE
FAEREAABEREI BHENER
BN BE RN ESEERIENS
BHES LHBHE2EEE50B8 A
F-ZSBEREOTIFE ARER R K
N —RSARIWIARMNERLES -

R BIR20115F8H298 & — & @K
FE3HEOCEBEE IR B48,148,214
mEBRIET20MFREREBRIED - A
RIOTEBERBEBEISTRBE R D
R (20 EREBRIESTED -
20NFREREBREHATRARARS
B~ RRSGRIMCA NG IR BB /IR
SENESERK-



(Continued)

31. Equity-Settled Share-Based Payment

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The terms and conditions of the share options are as follows:

Grant date
RHBEH

Exercise periods

T8

Pre-IPO share option plan

L h & & % 5t &l

1 January 2009

2009F 1418

1 August 2010

20108418

1 January 2009

20091818

1 August 2010

201084818

1 January 2009

200914818

1 August 2010

20108418

1 January 2009

2009F 1418

1 August 2010

20108418

1 January 2009

20091818

1 August 2010

201084818

Two months after
1 November 2010
2010F11818%&26@8

Two months after
1 November 2010
201011 818%&2@8

Fourteen months after
1 November 2010
2010F 11 B1B8#& 1488

Fourteen months after
1 November 2010
201011 B1B8#& 1488

Twenty-six months after
1 November 2010
2010F 11 21 8#& 2688

Twenty-six months after
1 November 2010
2010F 11 B18#E&26@H

Thirty-eight months after
1 November 2010
201011 8181%&38@AH

Thirty-eight months after
1 November 2010
20101181 81#%&381@ 48

Fifty months after
1 November 2010
2010F11818#%&501@ 3

Fifty months after
1 November 2010
2010118 1B8#&5088

Expiry date
f& 3% B HA

Fifteen days after vesting date
oJ{Tig 8 #E158
Fifteen days after vesting date
oJ{TiE 8 #E158
Fifteen days after vesting date
oJ{TiE B #E158
Fifteen days after vesting date
oJ{Tig B #E158
Fifteen days after vesting date
oj{Tig 8 #E158
Fifteen days after vesting date
oJ{TEBHE158
Fifteen days after vesting date
oJ{Tig B8 #E158
Fifteen days after vesting date
oJ{TiE 8 #E158
Fifteen days after vesting date
oJ{TiE B #E158
Fifteen days after vesting date

oJfTig B 158

B fF 81 ¥5 ¥R 2 B 5

31 December 2013
2013128318

1. RESERMZTAXRZ @

FR¥R S B id 7R 17 1& 89 &8 AR & 17 1% 1B 0

TIEEASImA R ¢
Number of share options granted
ERENBRIEHE
Total
Directors Employees options
S == fast
3,396,367 11,308,644 14,705,011
— 4,290,121 4,290,121
3,396,367 11,308,644 14,705,011
— 4,290,121 4,290,121
3,396,367 11,308,644 14,705,011
— 4,290,121 4,290,121
3,396,367 11,308,644 14,705,011
— 4,290,121 4,290,121
3,396,367 11,308,645 14,705,012
— 4,290,122 4,290,122
16,981,835 77,993,827

94,975,662
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31. Equity-Settled Share-Based Payment 1. REGERMNZNXS @

(Continued)
Number of share options granted
ERENBERIENRS
Total
Grant date Exercise periods Expiry date Directors  Employees options
REBH TiEBM [&im B g5 B8 st
Year 2011 share options
2011 EBR 13 HA 1
29 August 2011 29 August 2011 7 October 2020 — 12,037,054 12,037,054
2011882908 20119842908 202010878
29 August 2011 29 August 2012 7 October 2020 — 12,037,054 12,037,054
20115882908 20129842908 202010878
29 August 2011 29 August 2013 7 October 2020 — 12,037,054 12,037,054
2011882908 201348H2908 202010878
29 August 2011 29 August 2014 7 October 2020 — 12,037,052 12,037,052
20119882908 20145842908 202010878
— 48,148,214 48,148,214
16,981,835 126,142,041 143,123,876

The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options

WRRENBBRNEFHTREU

are as follows: N
2013 2012

Weighted Weighted

average average
exercise pricc  Number of  exercise price Number of
per share options per share options
SA% 0 iE i SN0 iy
THTEE €8 FITEE =]
RMB ‘000 RMB ‘000
AR ‘000 AR ‘000
At 1 January m1818 0.80 91,010,740 0.78 118,959,988
Forfeited during the year 7K &F W S 1T i 1.01  (2,698,384) 1.33  (13,923,197)
Exercised during the year IR & 17 & 0.93 (36,224,090) 0.11 (14,026,051)
Cancelled during the year 7R &8 BY 3 89 17 i 1.01 (52,088,266) — —
At 31 December R128318 = — 0.80 91,010,740
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31. Equity-Settled Share-Based Payment

(Continued)

The Group recognised an expense of RMB6,409,000 in 2013 (2012:
RMB6,933,000) (note 7), including an expense of RMB3,305,000
(2012: Nil) in respect of 52,088,266,000 share options cancelled by
the Offeror Parent as an acceleration of vesting, and the balance of
the share option reserve of RMB15,214,000 was transferred to
retained earnings.

The fair value of the above equity-settled share options estimated
as at the date of grant, using a binomial model, taking into account
the terms and conditions upon which the instruments were
granted, is set out as follows:

B fFF B 5 ¥ 2R Bff 5

31 December 2013
2013128318

1. RESERMZTAXRZ @

R2013F REB ERARE
6,409,000 7T (2012F : A R
6,933,0007T) (Fy5E7) BB - Hp &
BTREOABRIBUBE RTEHN
52,088,266,000 fn HA & M N0 #R # 85 A3
& &M A R #3,3050007T (2012 :
%) - AR®815,214,000 7T A% 3R HA &
BEBAZRBRER -

FRARNDSTONBERENL RETD
RIEEOHERA B BERAGBS
TEeERE/E LERRBIENRMMNR
R, 20 MR PR -

2011 employee
share options

20114
e S ERIE
Fair value per share at the measurement date HK$1.42
RStE0HNERAREE YB 8% 1.42
Exercise price per option HK$1.50
BMNBRETEE B #%1.50
Expected volatility (expressed as weighted average volatility 48.02%
used in the modelling under the binomial lattice model)
T8 HA R B (DA I — I8 =X 26 b & =X Py 1% AP 48.02%
N0 & - 13 3% 18 %1 73)
Option life (expressed as weighted average life used 9 years
in the modelling under the binomial lattice model)
GE AR e OF 2 (CARS I8 T\ Bh P8 i@ = Py % B 9F
N0 & ¥ 39 382 18 %1 77)
Expected dividends 3.50%
TAHARR R 3.50%
Risk-free interest rate 1.66%
F [ B ) == 1.66%

The expected volatility is based on the average of the weekly
historical volatility of comparable companies with period
commensurate to the option life. Expected dividends are based on
management’s best estimation. The risk-free rate is referenced to
the yields of the Exchange Fund Notes with similar duration as at
the grant date.

Except for the conditions mentioned above, there were no other
market conditions and service conditions associated with the 2009,
and 2010 and 2011 employee share options.

2010 employee 2009 employee
share options share options
2010 2009 F

B &% ARiE e & % AR iE
RMB10.25 RMB2.06
AR®510.25 AR®2.06
RMB11.00 RMBO0.85
AR®11.00 AR#0.85
39.1%-59.90% 61.10%
39.1%-59.90% 61.10%
2.62 years 4.2 years
2.62F 42

4.90% 4.90%

4.90% 4.90%

1.78% t0 2.51%
1.78% %£2.51%

1.78% t0 2.51%
1.78% %£2.51%

T8 R &0 T3 IR #R B8 AR 1 I HA B [E) 6Y
JEHBRLTNERELKRIBESD °
RRRADREERBHNREGSS
B ERRMNKXTDISERE B R
HARMBNBINER BB ZFHIMI= -

PR = S P 2t 69 o 14 O - ik R IR W
20094 ~ 201045 X 20114 f&2 8 ¥ iR g
18 B8 B9 EL il 7 157 1A 350 B2 AR 355 Rk o
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31 December 2013
2013128318

32. Pledge of Assets 32. EE RN
Details of the pledged assets are included in note 14, note 23, and ERESEFIRBNEIS SN
note 24 to the financial statements. REMGE14 - MysE23 R Bt5E24 ©

33. Operating Lease Arrangements 33. (S HETH
As lessee fE R A A
At the reporting date, the total future minimum lease payments RSB Ao BOEKEHRER N
under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of buildings were MEERLEYENNRRREEER
payable as follows: ERIE
Group REE
2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFIT ARBFIT
Within one year —FN 10,334 13,902
In the second to fifth years, B _EFOF
inclusive (BEEREME) 9,336 11,889
Beyond five years hFE — 670
19,670 26,461
34. Commitments 34. i
In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note 33, PREUTEE335E M AV & fE & AGEON - R
the Group had the following capital commitments as at the end of REHAR  REBNERAELNN :

the reporting period:

2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREEFIT ARBFIT

Contracted, but not provided for: 25l N EBRE B
Land and buildings BEERZEY) 550,291 67,242
Plant and machinery T Y 3% 21,510 57,013
571,801 124,255

Authorised, but not contracted for: EHOEBRETK
Land and buildings FEEKRZEY) 422,226 700,000
994,027 824,255

Yashili International Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2013



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35. Related Party Transactions

(@) The Group had the following material transactions with
related parties during the years ended 31 December 2013

and 2012:
Sale of packing materials i & B 2% i i
Purchase of preserved fruit products BESRRED
Rental of property and plant THEMEN RS

Purchase of plastic spoons and covers 8BS 2B RZRENEF

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the
above related party transactions were conducted on normal
commercial terms during the ordinary course of business. The
Directors have confirmed that the above transactions will
continue in the future.

(i)  These represent related party transactions with entities
significantly influenced by key managements.

(i)  This represents related party transaction with an affiliate
of a close family member of a director of the Company.

(b) Outstanding balances with related parties
Details of the outstanding balances with related parties are
set out in notes 21, 22, 25 and 26 to the financial statements.

(c) Compensation of key management
personnel of the Group
Key management compensation is detailed in note 9 to the
financial statements.

The above transactions also constitute connected transactions as
defined in the Listing Rules.

B fFF B 5 ¥ 2R Bff 5

31 December 2013
2013128318

35. i h X%

(a)

(i)
(i)
(i)

(i)

(b)

(o)

REERN&ZE2013F R20125F
BN BLEFESHBEDE

TUANEXRRS

2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTIT AREBTIT
1,813 1,608

2,133 2,669

3,031 3,031

7,560 11,735

AADEERE NELHESS
AR —REEERET W
BaEBBROET BEOE
RN ERRE SRR E R
R

() RERKL IETESHKERE
ABMMEAFENLD
HEAE DR 7 °

i) RERAAT—SEENH
B 2 5 60 ) 00 B B 5 %
ZE -

EHEAMHNREELER

6 RIERRIN 5 00K B B B R 5E 15
BRI REMSE21 220 25K
26 °

RERETZERAEHN

B =

TEERASNRYF RN
REMFEY o

it %2 53 W0 i A £ AR R P SR 72 B9 BF

PR

%o

193

2013 FEFE R

RriEMRERBRAS



194
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B 1 B ¥5 ¥ R Bif 5

31 December 2013
2013128318

36. Financial Instruments by Category 36. MR NNER T A

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial NBESHKR SheR T ENEKAEE
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: N

31 December 2013 _B—=F+"H=+—8

Yashili International Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2013

Group Company
yig-3 YW/
Loans and Loans and
receivables receivables
S0 S0
& U 7R 18 [E U FR 18
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFIT ARETFIT
Financial assets EREE
Trade and bills receivables B2 REWR K EWRE IR 32,068 =
Financial assets included in prepayments, st AF8{S I8 ~ BE K
deposits and other receivables HihEWRIEN TR E = 144,515 =
Other investments Hfhit 8 444,508 =
Pledged deposits WP ER 192,311 —
Short-term bank deposits RHRITE M 199,000 =
Long-term bank deposits RHEARITER 300,000 —
Cash and cash equivalents REKRIBEEEN 611,384 2,196
1,923,786 2,196
Financial Financial
liabilities at liabilities at
amortised cost amortised cost
CAEER Y ANt DA ER AU NGH
SEhETmeE SHNZHaE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFIT ARETFIT
Financial liabilities ERaE
Trade payables 8 7 E TR 346,469 =
Financial liabilities included in st A E fth & RRIB R0
other payables and accruals EstERNEMER 194,850 11,088
Interest-bearing bank loans S RIRITER 201,548 —
742,867 11,088




36. Financial Instruments by Category

(Continued)

31 December 2012

Financial assets
Trade and bills receivables

Financial assets included in prepayments,

deposits and other receivables
Other investments
Pledged deposits
Short-term bank deposits
Long-term bank deposits
Cash and cash equivalents

Financial liabilities

Trade payables

Financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals

Interest-bearing bank loans

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B fFF B 5 ¥ 2R Bff 5

EMEE

B2 R REWR IR
STARNRIR - BE K
HithEWRIRN G R E &
HthiR &

P ER

RERTTER
RERTER
ReRIRESEN

TR &E

B2 BT RM

5t H th FE 1S FRIR D
fEStERNEMEE
SFRI|ITBR

Group
REBE
Loans and
receivables
S R0

& W R 18
RMB’000
AREF T

27,658

89,662
200,000
299,609
611,972
306,142

2,073,161

3,608,204

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
DA #2 &R AX 7 5T
ENEMER
RMB’000
ARETF T

412,916

219,702
330,912

963,530

31 December 2013
20135128318

36. ERISINMER T A »)

—F-HF+H=+—H

Company
RART
Loans and
receivables
& R0
& U =R 18
RMB’000
ARETF T

348
96,346

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
DA 38 85 A 7R 51
SNEMNER
RMB’000
ARETF T

80,912
80,912
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31 December 2013
2013128318

37. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of 37.

Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that

reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:

Financial assets

Financial assets
included in long-term
prepayments and
other receivables

Long-term pledged
deposits

Long-term bank
deposits

Financial liabilities
Interest-bearing
bank loan

ERMEE
stARMIRRN
RN E U
MBNERMEE

RERBER

RHBRTER

ERBEIE
stRIRTTEM

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, the current portion of pledged deposits, trade and bills
receivables, other investments, trade payables, financial assets
included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables, financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals, short-term bank
loans approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the
short-term maturities of these instruments.

NRERARIERS

EEENSRIENEBERARE
1, REE IR A 5 B EEEE -
SEIT

Carrying amount Fair value

RBER ritfERE
B -=F _8—_F —B-=F _8—_F
+ZB=+-B +ZB=+-8 +ZA=+-8 +ZA=+-8
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARBFIT AREFTT AR Tt
27,887 — 26,155 —
150,000 — 148,572 —
300,000 306,142 296,468 303,405
477,887 306,142 471,195 303,405
47,084 — 47,084 —

BEIPIRTBIREMIRSSEM
SEARBDEELNNRPER 5
ERREERRE  HftikE - 85
EYRIBSTARNRIA B2 RE
hERRIBNEMEE ST AHME
TRIBNESTERNERERE - QH
SIRETEBRNL A EEREREE
BEE BRELERIENARED
AGER B AR -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of

Financial Instruments (continued)

The Group’s corporate finance team headed by the finance
manager is responsible for determining the policies and procedures
for the fair value measurement of financial instruments. The
corporate finance team reports directly to the management. At
each reporting date, the corporate finance team analyses the
movements in the values of financial instruments and determines
the major inputs applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed
and approved by the management. The valuation process and
results are discussed with the management twice a year for interim
and annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at
the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced
or liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were
used to estimate the fair values.

The fair values of the non-current portion of pledged deposits,
long-term bank deposits, financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits, and other receivables, Interest-bearing bank loans have
been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows
using rates currently available for instruments with similar terms,
credit risk and remaining maturities.

37.

B fF 81 ¥5 ¥R 2 B 5

31 December 2013
2013128318

RRrERARBRE »

NEBBYREEESNUEEKSE
SktEeR LB LN EBEFENK
Rilfers - B BHREZEQERERB R
S Et8EBKEE RAVBEMKD
e T BEENESEHLEERBR
BENETZHABE ZHEDEER
TRt E- R PHNFEW R
S tEERNEREEEESFY
off i IR ©

EREENREBENAREBELAZLE
BRRX77H (RBIEELERIN B
BIRZD N2IXRPEERAK N7
BERBRTIBLAGSt R BiE -

SEAERDEENRIPER - RPR
TER STARNVER - B REM

EWRIBANEMEE  stRIRTBEM
HAnBEDFBRAMKR S8 &
RMERNEIHRB N LEIREG O ESH
MERITFIVIRAARIRIREME OIS G
Eo
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37. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of

Financial Instruments (continued)

Fair value hierarchy
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy
of the Group's financial instruments:

Assets for which fair values are disclosed:

Group

Financial assets included in
long-term prepayments and
other receivables

Long-term pledged deposits

Long-term bank deposits

Long-term bank deposits

st AR HAFRIY MR R
2 b fE UL IR HY

SMEE
S
RMRTER

RERTER

37. r AR A RER S =)

nEB#&
MEE R TBRASBE MR
BAR B E -

RANRESENEE

INEE
Fair value measurement using
RREFFENER
As at 31 December 2013
1R2013F 128318
Significant Significant
observable unobservable
inputs inputs Total
SAUHE SAATUHE
A SR A BUR AT
(Level 2) (Level 3)
(BZEFHR) (B=FH)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFIT ARBFIT AR®FT
26,155 — 26,155
— 148,572 148,572
— 296,468 296,468
26,155 445,040 471,195
Fair value measurement using
N EsTENER
As at 31 December 2012
M2012%F 128318
Significant Significant
observable unobservable
inputs inputs Total
SAROEHE SAKITER
& A BUR A BUR MRt
(Level 2) (Level 3)
(B %) (=5
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFIT ARBFIT ARBFIT
— 303,405 303,405
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37. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of 37. AREARAARBRBHE =
Financial Instruments (ontinued)

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed: R ESSNEE:
Group REE

Fair value measurement using
rRfEstENER
As at 31 December
"12H318
2013 2012
Significant observable inputs
(Level 2)
S AU EH R AR
(BZER)
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFTT AREEFIT

Interest-bearing bank loan STRIIBITER 47,084 =

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements RFED TREEMEARSE L

between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of level 3 E—FRINE_SENL LA EEEE

for both financial assets and financial liabilities (2012: Nil). BEABE =540 A& (2012
) o
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38. Financial Risk Management Objectives
and Policies

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest-
bearing bank loans, cash and cash equivalents, other bank deposits
and pledged deposits. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The
Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade
and bills receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
interest rate risks, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
The board of Directors and senior management meet periodically to
analyse and formulate measures to manage the Group’s exposure
to these risks. Generally, the Group adopts prudent strategies on its
risk management.

(a) Interest rate risks

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s borrowings with
floating interest rates. The Group closely monitors its interest
rate risk by performing periodic reviews and evaluations of its
debt portfolio and adjusted debt-to-equity ratio. The interest
rates and terms of repayment of the bank loans of the Group
are disclosed in note 27 to the financial statements. In the
opinion of the Directors, the Group has no significant interest
rate risk and has not used any interest rate swaps to hedge its
exposure to interest rate risk.

If there would be a general increase/decrease in the interest
rates of bank loans with floating interest rates by one
percentage point, with all other variables held constant, the
consolidated pre-tax profit would have decreased/increased
by approximately RMB2,015,000 (2012: Nil) for the year
ended 31 December 2013, and there would be no impact on
other components of the consolidated equity, except for
retained earnings, of the Group. The sensitivity analysis above
has been determined assuming that the change in interest
rates had occurred at the end of the reporting period and the
Group has applied the exposure to interest rate risk to those
financial instruments in existence at those dates. The
estimated one percentage point increase or decrease
represents management'’s assessment of a reasonably possible
change in interest rates over the period until the end of the
next reporting period.

38. Ml 75 Bl IR € 12 B iR R IR

REBNETZERTEARRR
TR - ReRBeSEM HEMR
TEREBRHRBPER - 2FEHLE
NEZENERAREEBNEESTE
B NEEBESZ2EBERMRAKRE
PEMERSZREAMENEERE
& HBESBEEEEL -

REREBERIENETZEARE
= @ R~ INES BLBR 15 & AR AR
NUER EBSRSREBAEE
MBET8% PIMAEEMAINE
2+ U 22 A DA & 12 &l BR 00 48 Jie o 7
FBH-—RFMBENRIESIERER -

(a) il 2R [ bR
REBARNDIHZN XS E [
REZERAEENZERBEE -
REBE BRSO EHBRE
ONRBEENFEHExml #
HX@RETHUNER - RE
BHVIR1T &N = R BRI
BRAME27IRE - EFRD
REBIHE XN ERGR - MR
B {0 R 1 o) Tl 2R 58 A 49 )P ) X [

[ o
AN

g2 F M Xt BHIRTER
MR =EENR, BE—BS 5
o MAABEMEBSE ANE - A&
F2013F12831BLLFE - B
ik 81 A A5 w4 1B N0 K9 A RS
2,015,0007T (20124 : #£) « H¥
TREE S e m B9 H fth 30 9 U7 &
& MR DB NEIRIN o £l
BREDM2HRXMEESH 2N
SHREPRBEMEBERE  IMEB
EHBBRANXEMRERNZS
BHEENERTE - &5t —@
BRMNEHE2EREHHNE
EN—BREHARARIERNXES
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. Financial Risk Management Objectives
and Policies (continued)

(b) Foreign currency risk
The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily on
bank deposits, other receivables, trade payables and bank
loan of the operations to which the transactions relate. The
currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily, the Hong Kong
dollar and the United States dollar.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in the RMB exchange rate as
compared to the United States dollar and the Hong Kong
dollar with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s
profit before tax (due to changes in the fair value of monetary
assets and liabilities):

B fF 81 ¥5 ¥R 2 B 5

31 December 2013
2013128318

38. Ml ¥ Bl IR E 12 BiR R 5

(&

(b) HhES [ BR

Increase/(decrease)
in RMB
exchange rate %
A R (=
ERHCRNE) %

If RMB weakens against figg A BRBE o2
the United States dollar EnRE (5)

If RMB strengthens against i A R 5p
the United States dollar EE 5

If RMB weakens against figg A BB o2
the Hong Kong dollar NI A=) (5)

If RMB strengthens against i A R 5o
the Hong Kong dollar BT A S

REBNMNERREZ RS LA
INEESHEB 2IRITHEM - BfbfEW
R EBRERMARIRUAKRTE
Mo BIRSEBERZINES
BELAINNEDS - SIHER 2 E
FTE/BERETT

MRWREMBEMBEHES A
BHBRNTN ARBHEREITINE
TR RIBKOEBIRNCIEEH
(REBEEREBBEHNAREE
B WAREEMB N BEOF
o -

= -

2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT ARBFT
(14,022) (521)
14,022 521
— (4,001)

— 4,001
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38. Financial Risk Management Objectives
and Policies (continued)

(9]

(d)

Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and
other receivables. Exposure to the credit risk is monitored by
management on an ongoing basis.

Details of the Company’s credit policy is contained in the note
21 to the financial statements.

Majority of the Group’s customers have been trading with the
Group for years and the Group did not record significant bad
debt losses during 2013 and 2012. At the end of each
reporting period, the Group has certain concentration of
credit risk of the trade receivables. The top five trade debtors
represented 46.2% of the total trade receivables as at 31
December 2013 (2012: 48.4%). All the trade receivables are
due from customers with good trading record and no
impairment allowance is made against these customers.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the
carrying amount of each financial asset in the consolidated
balance sheets. The Group does not provide any other
guarantees which would expose the Group to credit risk.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure
to credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in
note 21 to the financial statements.

Liquidity risk

The Group's approach to manage liquidity is to ensure, as far
as possible, that the Group, as a whole has always maintained
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they fall due,
under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring
unacceptable losses or damage to the Group’s reputation.

38. Ml 75 Bl IR € 12 B iR R IR

(&

(o)

(d)

BERAR
REBNEEARTERESER
REMERR - SE@MBBBE

ERFBER-

RN SB1E A EER S B 55 3R &
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38. Financial Risk Management Objectives 38. Bl ¥X[E IR =12 BiE K B 5k

and Policies (continued) (&
(d) Liquidity risk (continued) (d) 7t Eh = BR )
The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities as at 31 REBRARIEMERN2013
December 2013 and 2012, based on the contractual FNK2012F 128318 N 2 H 15
undiscounted payments, is as follows: w(ZEPRFTIBNMRTE) W
~:
Group hEE
Within
1 year or 1to2 2to5 Over 5
on demand years years years Total
—FAHR
RES —EWME ”“ELRhF hHEFENE st

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTFT ARBTFT ARBTFT ARBFT ARBFT

31 December 2013 2013128318
Interest-bearing bank loans 5t R R 1T & 156,153 47,436 — — 203,589
Trade payables B2 BN R 346,469 — — — 346,469
Financial liabilities st A B E N I8
included in other TOfESTE RN
payables and accruals TREE 194,850 — — — 194,850
697,472 47,436 — — 744,908
31 December 2012 2012128318 .
Interest-bearing STRIBITBR
bank loans 330,981 — — — 330,981
Trade payables 87 E B 412,916 — — — 412,916
Financial liabilities st A EAh &I RIA
included in other TOfEST & A
payables and accruals THER 219,702 — — — 219,702
963,599 — — — 963,599
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38. Financial Risk Management Objectives
and Policies (continued)

(d) Liquidity risk (continued)

38. Ml 75 Bl IR € 12 B iR R IR

(&

(d)

i 2N M [ PSR

Company YW/
Within
1 year or 1to2 2to5 Over 5
on demand years years years Total
—F R
e —EMFE _"“FEhF hHFENE st
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTIT ARBTIT ARETT AREBTIT ARBETIT
31 December 2013 2013128318
Financial liabilities st A EAh &I I
included in other TOfESTERH
payables and accruals TRERE 11,088 — — — 11,088
31 December 2012 20129128318
Interest-bearing STRIBTBR
bank loan 80,981 — — — 80,981

(e) Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for
other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group uses different measures including adjusted net
debt-to-equity ratios to monitor its capital. Net debt is
calculated as total loans and borrowings, as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position less cash and
bank deposits (excluding frozen bank deposits). Total capital
is calculated as equity holders’ funds (i.e., total equity
attributable to equity holders of the Company), as shown in
the consolidated statement of financial position.

(e)

EREE
AEEHERERNBIRRBRER
SEFENEND ARRREHE
MmBEMATRHEORENE &
HEFEE RSB AR E R
7K o

REBRAANGERR - 875K
EFEpRaLEx UERHESE
R FEHBUNOHEERRBERM
THERRERBIRENRRTE
R NBBWRGSHIRITER) 5t
EEE-MERNCHEEER
KATTHNKREREAEE (RIKR
LOARERTEAEGERED) 5T
8B4 -
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38. Financial Risk Management Objectives 38. Bl ¥X[E IR =12 BiE K B 5k

and Policies (continued) (&
(e) Capital management (Continued) (e) EMNEIR =
2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T T AREFIT
Interest-bearing bank loans st RIRIT B
(Note 27) (P 5E27) 201,548 330,912
Less: Rl
Cash and cash equivalents BERIBEEFEN
(Note 24) (Pfy 5£24) 611,384 2,073,161
Short-term bank deposits (Note 24) R HERIR 1T 7 =K (B 5 24) 199,000 611,972
Long-term bank deposits (Note 24) RER TR (FI5E24) 300,000 306,142
Pledged bank deposits (Note 24) Z PRI IR 1T FE K
(B 5E24) 192,311 299,609
Net debt SEF (1,101,147) (2,959,972)
Total equity attributable to RRBIRIERE A
shareholders of the Company [EIEIE MR ER 3,109,964 4,079,059
Adjusted net debt-to-equity ratio KPR FEHBRAL X (0.35) (0.73)
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to ERERNIHETOFLROIMES
externally imposed capital requirements. BE B AN BB ite 0 B9 & IR 3K ©
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39. Events After the Reporting Period

(M

On January 5, 2014, Yashili (Guangdong) and Yashili (HK) (together,
the “Seller”) entered into an equity transfer agreement to sell
100% of the equity interests in Yashili (Zhengzhou) to China
Mengniu Investment Co., Ltd. (“Mengniu Investment”), a
fellow subsidiary of the Company’s holding company, and
WhiteWave Hong Kong Ltd. (“WhiteWave”), a third party,
(together, the “Purchasers”) for a consideration of
RMB376,660,000, payable in cash by the Purchasers to the
Sellers on the date of completion of the Transaction. On 18
February 2014, the Company’s shareholders have approved
the related proposal in an extraordinary general meeting.

The Purchasers will acquire Yashili (Zhengzhou) through a
joint venture company to be incorporated under the laws of
the PRC by the Purchasers which is expected to be held as to
51% by Mengniu Investment and 49% by WhiteWave. This
transaction is expected to be completed in the first half year
of 2014 and is expected to result in a gain on disposal of
approximately RMB43,000,000.

On 24 March 2014, the Directors proposed a final dividend of
RMB3.69 cents per share. Further details are disclosed in note
12.

40. Approval of the Financial Statements

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by
the board of directors on 24 March 2014.

39. {h EHAIE SR

M

R20145F1 858 @ LR (ER)
BN (5% (BEIE51) 5]
UREBEZEHE ODPERE
BREBRRI(REHE]D  —
RN NTER NS HE F KM E
X 8 I White Wave HongKong
Ltd ([ WhiteWavel) - & = -
(oMl 8 rl) B s
) B9100% AR ifE - KB R AR
376,660,0007T - BE AR K 2E
BreREIBHANIREOE A
ff o R2014F2H188 » /R 1 T
BRIIRER A SE @@ BRRE -

ENfaB—BRERPEERLE
NEMAIZNE E L DR K
T (BN - R ERT &N
Bl B R 4 % & R WhiteWave 5 B
51% M 49% i@ ° 52X 7 FRHA IR
20145 EHFwpl RANGEE
Wz K95 A R #843,000,0007T °

R20145F38248 - EB 2%
BERAREIONIARRE -
HIEMEBERMEEI2 -

40. ft Bl FS R &

EEBLMN2014F35248 #t fE R
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
AEN B

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited
financial statements and the Prospectus, is set out below.

The table below sets forth our summary income statement information
for the periods indicated:

RMB million ARBEBEIT 2009
Turnover =S F 58 2,586.0
Cost of sales H &5 AX 7R (1,095.6)
Gross profit E M 1,490.4
Other revenue Hh U A 34.7
Other net (loss)/income Hith Wz (F#8)
pEC 0.1
Selling and distribution THE N HMAX
expenses (891.9)
Administrative expenses T2 (129.1)
Other expenses Hithfz (14.2)
Profit/(loss) from operations REHRT (E518) 490.0
Finance income 87 5 A 3.4
Finance costs 871 5 X 7R (22.1)
Net finance income/(expense) Y& &1 FE W A~ (A 7iK) (18.7)
Profit/(loss) before income tax  BREF 15 2 & Y il
(5 18) 471.3
Income tax expense B S FA 2 (68.9)
Profit/(loss) from continuing BHERESER SN,
operations (B518) 402.4
Discontinued operation RIS EFS
Loss from discontinued RIEKEEBEEIE
operation (net of income tax)  (F0BRFF S 1) =
Profit/(loss) for the year FERN, (B8) 402.4
Profit/(loss) attributable to A RNATDIEER],
(k5 18) 404.7
Non-controlling interests FE =A% T (2.3)
Profit/(loss) for the year FERM, (FE) 402.4

BEKsE
EhFELRMh2FKE

TREVNAREERMA R ABOR D RIEBR

2010

2,954.4
(1,272.6)

1,681.8
61.2

(0.6)

(957.5)
(182.8)
(11.5)

590.6

11.9
(13.0)

(1.1)

5895
(86.3)

503.2

503.2

502.4
0.8

503.2

2011

2,957.8
(1,419.5)

1,538.3
28.7

(0.2)

(1,061.9)
(185.5)
(6.4)

313.0

65.1
(2.7)

62.4

375.4
(67.0)

308.4

308.4

306.3
2.1

308.4

2012

3,655.1
(1,693.4)

1,961.7
37.6

(1,222.7)
(202.1)
(14.7)

559.4

89.7
(2.8)

86.9

646.3
(175.8)

470.5

470.5

468.5
2.0

470.5

B HEERIBREZNEB B
EENRBRERWUDN-

2013

3,890.0
(1,809.9)

2,080.1
26.2

(0.8)

(1,393.8)
(219.2)
(10.8)

481.7

108.2
(13.2)

95.0

576.7
(137.4)

439.3

439.3

437.6
1.7

439.3

207

2013 FEFE R

RriEMRERBRAS



208
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h & 8 ¥ itk 2

™R # 5 A & B AR 20094 ~ 20104 ~ 2011
F 2012 KR2013F12831BHNEEE R

The table sets forth our summary balance sheet information as of 31
December 2009, 2010, 2011, 2012 and 2013:

ZIMBER -

RMB million ARBBRIT 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
Non-current assets FRENE = 1,007.1 992.5 1,039.5 1,568.8 2,129.7
Current assets RENE E 1,216.4 3,488.2 3,604.1 4,001.0 2,386.9
Current liabilities NN 896.2 696.2 806.3 1,450.9 1,335.0
Net current assets/(liabilities) RENE E (B &) P 2R 320.2 2,792.0 2,797.8 2,550.1 1,051.9
Total assets less current MEERMNSE

liabilities 1,327.3 3,784.5 3,837.3 4,118.9 3,181.6

#HZE2009F 128318 LU HFERNE K E
HEXRER MUEERBRRK M LB
REHBRERSBFNEFE - 82
2009F 128318 LI - DA R 20095
12B318BHNEEREBETRERLEBAR

Shg e

The financial information for the year ended 31 December 2009 has been
prepared upon the Reorganisation as if the group structure, at the time
when the Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange, had been in
existence throughout the years concerned. The results for the year ended
31 December 2009, and the assets and liabilities as at 2009 have been
extracted from the Prospectus.

Yashili International Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2013
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